
Central
Bedfordshire
Health and 

Wellbeing Board

Agenda

Meeting Title: Central Bedfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: Wednesday, 29 November 2017
Time: 1.00 p.m.
Location: Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford

1.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members.

2.  Election of Vice-Chairman

3.  Chairman's Announcements and Communications

To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of 
communication.

4.  Minutes

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the last meeting held on 12 July 
2017 and note actions taken since that meeting.

5.  Members' Interests

To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

6.  Public Participation

To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the 
public in accordance with the procedures as set out in Part 4G of the Council’s 
Constitution.

This meeting 
may be filmed.*



HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY

Item Subject Page 
Nos. Lead

7. Ensuring Good Mental Health and Wellbeing at 
Every Age - Children and Young People are 
Emotionally Resilient

To consider the Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services Local Transformation Plan.

13 - 158

OTHER BUSINESS

Item Subject Page 
Nos. Lead

8. Integration and Better Care Fund
To receive the Integration and Better Care Fund 
2017/18 – 2018/19 and an update on the mobilisation 
of the plan in alignment with the Out of Hospital 
Strategy and the procurement of Community Health 
Services.

159 - 
238

9. Moving Forward as an Accelerated Accountable 
Care System

To provide an update on the STP.

239 - 
268

10. Work Programme 2017/2018

To consider and approve the work programme.

A forward plan ensures that the Health and Wellbeing 
Board remains focused on key priorities, areas and 
activities to deliver improved outcomes for the people 
of Central Bedfordshire.

269 - 
272



To:    Members of the Central Bedfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board

Ms D Blackmun Chief Executive, Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire
Mr R Carr Chief Executive, Central Bedfordshire Council
Cllr S Dixon Executive Member for Education and Skills, Central 

Bedfordshire Council
Mr C Ford Director of Finance, NHS Commissioning Board Area for 

Hertfordshire & South Midlands
Mr M Coiffait Director of Community Services, Central Bedfordshire 

Council
Mrs S Harrison Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council
Cllr C Hegley Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and Lead 

Member for Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council
Dr A Low Chair, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Mrs J Ogley Director of Social Care, Health and Housing, Central 

Bedfordshire Council
Mrs M Scott Director of Public Health, Central Bedfordshire Council
Cllr B Spurr Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

Executive Member for Health, Central Bedfordshire Council
Ms S Thompson Accountable Officer, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning 

Group

please ask for Sharon Griffin

direct line 0300 300 5066

date published

*Please note that phones and other equipment 
may be used to film, record, tweet or blog from 
this meeting.  No part of the meeting room is 
exempt from public filming.

The use of the arising images or recordings is not 
under the Council’s control.



This page is intentionally left blank



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

At a meeting of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD held in Council Chamber, 
Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford on Wednesday, 12 July 2017

PRESENT

Cllr B J Spurr (Chairman)

Mrs D Blackmun Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Central 
Bedfordshire

Mr R Carr Chief Executive
Mr M Coiffait Director of Community Services
Cllr Mrs C Hegley Executive Member for Social Care and Housing
Dr A Low Chair, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Mrs J Ogley Director of Social Care, Health and Housing
Mrs M Scott Director of Public Health

Apologies for Absence: Cllr S Dixon
Mrs S Harrison

Absent from the Meeting: Mr C Ford

Members in Attendance: Cllr P Downing 

Officers in Attendance: Mrs K Allen – Head of Children and Maternity 
Services Redesign, BCCG

Ms S Chakrabarti – Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Mrs P Coker – Head of Service, Partnerships - 
Social Care, Health & Housing

Mrs S Hobbs – Senior Committee Services Officer
Mr S James – JSNA Programme Manager
Mrs A Murray – Director of Nursing and Quality, 

Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Mr B Pearson – Head of Children's Services 
Commissioning

Others in Attendance: Mrs M Bradley – Director, Bedfordshire Wellbeing 
Services

Ms S Harrild – Associate Clinical Director, ELFT 
Psychological Therapies

HWB/17/1.   Election of Vice-Chairman 2017/18 

RESOLVED that the position of Vice-Chairman for 2017/18 remain vacant 
until the new Accountable Officer, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group was in post.

Page 5
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 2

HWB/17/2.   Chairman's Announcements and Communications 

The Chairman reported that he was settling into his new role of Executive 
Member for Health and Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  He had 
spent time with managers getting to know the services and would be visiting 
the teams to gain further understanding.

HWB/17/3.   Minutes 

RESOLVED

that the minutes of the meeting of the Central Bedfordshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on 29 March 2017 be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

HWB/17/4.   Members' Interests 

None were declared.

HWB/17/5.   Public Participation 

There were no members of the public registered to speak.

HWB/17/6.   Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Executive Summary 

The Board considered a report that provided a summary of the Health and 
Wellbeing needs in Central Bedfordshire and the areas which required further 
focus.  

The proposed areas of focus that required action across the system were:

 improving the emotional health and wellbeing of children and young 
people;

 the preventing and minimising the impact of air pollution;
 the prevention and management of falls;
 reducing social isolation; and
 the prevention and management of diabetes.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) issued Air 
Pollution guidelines.  Dunstable, Ampthill and Sandy town centres were 
classed as Air Quality Management Areas in Central Bedfordshire as these 
towns were likely to exceed national air quality objectives.  Air quality was 
being monitored in Central Bedfordshire and it was hoped that with the opening 
the A5/M1 link road the air quality in Dunstable would be improved.

Page 6
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 3

RESOLVED

1. that the 2017 Executive Summary of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment for Central Bedfordshire be endorsed; and

2. that the areas of focus requiring action across the system, as set out 
above, be incorporated into a refreshed strategy.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/7.   Enabling People to Stay Healthy for Longer 

a) Reducing Excess Weight

The Board considered a report and received a presentation that provided 
an update on the actions being taken to reduce excess weight particularly 
in the context of reducing the prevalence of diabetes.  A copy of the 
presentation is attached at Appendix A.

The Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group confirmed that they were 
working on a diabetes programme and recognised the increasing burden 
that excess weight was placing on the system.  Patients were being 
referred to BeeZee Bodies and practice nurses were being trained in 
dealing with patients with excess weight.  

There was concern that actions for preventing diabetes were not being 
progressed as quickly as Central Bedfordshire’s statistical neighbours and 
was there any learning that could be gained from those areas that were 
leading in this area.

RESOLVED

that a report be submitted to a future Health and Wellbeing Board 
providing clear defined recommendations.

The decision was unanimous.

b) Reduce the Prevalence of Diabetes

The Board considered a report that provided an update on the rising rates 
of diabetes and the low proportion of people with diabetes meeting their 
treatment targets.  Reducing diabetes was a key priority for the 
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) as it was evident 
that there was an increase in the numbers of people being diagnosed with 
diabetes across Bedfordshire.  From October 2017 data would be 
collected from GP practices to help understand the number of residents 
with the condition.  A programme was being developed to help reduce the 
prevalence of diabetes.

Page 7
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 4

World Diabetes Day takes place on 14 November every year and it was 
suggested that this opportunity be used to generate awareness of 
diabetes.  

RESOLVED

1. that the developments in improving care of patients who were 
diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes across Central Bedfordshire be 
noted, in particular in relation to improving achievement of The 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommended 
treatment targets;

2. that the Board lead and influence health and social care 
partners to improve the early diagnosis of diabetes through 
improved uptake of NHS Health Checks and promotion of 
Diabetes UK’s ‘Know your risk’ tool.  This was particularly 
required more in known populations who had high risk such as 
BME and deprived communities; and

3. that all partners actively implement the Excess Weight 
Partnership Strategy to tackle excess weight to both prevent 
diabetes and ensure that treatment targets were improved for 
those with diabetes.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/8.   Ensuring Good Mental Health and Wellbeing at Every Age - Children and 
Young People are Emotionally Resilient 

a) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services Local Transformation 
Plan

The Board considered a report that provided an update on the Future in 
Minds Local Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health.  This was year 2 of a 5 year plan with key priorities identified:

 implementation of an eating disorders community specialist 
service;

 improving access and waiting times to Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services through developing crisis and community 
services;

 skilling up the workforce and embedding the principles of goal 
focussed outcomes developed collaboratively with children and 
young people;

 development of early intervention and schools support;
 development of perinatal mental health services;
 development of pathways for vulnerable groups; and
 development of collaborative commissioning plans with specialist 

commissioning for Tier 4 beds and Forensic pathways.

Page 8
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 5

The Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group was working closely with 
the Children’s Leadership Board to improve the mental health of children 
and young people in Central Bedfordshire.

RESOLVED 

that the progress being made towards developing a local 
transformation plan be noted and to report back to the next Health 
and Wellbeing Board meeting with the updated action plan and 
priorities coming forward.

The decision was unanimous.

b) Emotional Health, Wellbeing and Resilience in Children and Young 
People and their Families

The Board considered a report that provided an update on the partnership 
approach in addressing emotional health, wellbeing and resilience in 
children and young people and their families.  Improving the emotional 
wellbeing of children and young people through promotion, prevention 
and early intervention had the potential to contribute to far-reaching 
improvements in physical health and wellbeing, a better quality of life, 
higher educational attainment, economic wellbeing and reduction in crime 
and anti-social behaviour.  

Partners were working collaboratively to address the issues, including 
participation from the voluntary sector.  A suggestion was made that 
families be assisted financially to enable the child/young person to be 
able to attend activities outside of school e.g. Scouts.  The Community 
Services Team was running a programme of activities aimed at 
vulnerable children.

RESOLVED

1. that the draft partnership action plan to improve emotional 
health and wellbeing of children and young people across 
Central Bedfordshire be noted; and

2. to support commissioners across health and social care to 
identify the opportunities to embed and mainstream emotional 
wellbeing into commissioning for health and social care for 
children and young people.

The decision was unanimous.

Page 9
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 6

HWB/17/9.   Ensuring Good Mental Health and Wellbeing at Every Age - Bedfordshire 
Wellbeing Service 

The Board welcomed Sandra Harrild, Associate Clinical Director for ELFT 
Psychological Therapies to the meeting.  The Board received a presentation on 
the Bedfordshire Wellbeing Service.  The presentation gave a breakdown of 
who had been accessing the service over the last twelve months, the 
challenges and opportunities for accessing the service and the Step Care 
Model of Talking Therapies.  

RESOLVED

that a further report be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
provide additional data on the number of people and waiting times for 
Central Bedfordshire.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/10.   Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance 

The Board considered a report that presented the latest performance data in 
the priority areas of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

It was noted that some of the data collected was 2-3 years old and was no 
longer relevant.  It was agreed that the performance data be updated where 
possible and presented to the Board on 24 January 2018.

RESOLVED

1. that the actions identified for the Health and Wellbeing Board 
outlined on each scorecard be noted; and

2. the scorecard be updated with relevant data and presented to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on 24 January 2018.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/11.   Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 - 2018/19 

The Board considered a report that provided:

 an update on the development of the Better Care Fund Plan for 2017-
2019;

 advised on the planned use of the additional social care grant and the 
improved better care fund; and 

 the delivery of the 2016/17 Plan and quarter 4 monitoring.

Page 10
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 7

RESOLVED

1. that the latest policy framework in respect of Better Care Fund Plan 
for 2017-2019 and the progress made on developing the plan be 
noted;

2. the end of year progress against the 2016/17 Better Care Fund Plan 
be noted; and

3. that the Quarter 4 Better Care Fund monitoring template was 
submitted to NHS England on 31 May 2017.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/12.   Strategic Partnership Leadership Arrangements for Children 

The Board received a presentation on the Strategic Partnership Leadership 
Arrangements for Children, including the development of a new Children and 
Young People’s Plan (CYPP).  The new governance arrangements were 
explained and the Children’s Leadership Board (CLB) had already started to 
make a difference.  

The CLB were leading on the development of the new CYPP and the draft Plan 
was being consulted upon.  The final CYPP would be submitted to the next 
Health and Wellbeing Board meeting.

A Member Reference Group was being developed to assist the CLB.

A copy of the presentation is attached at Appendix B.

NOTED the presentation.

The decision was unanimous.

HWB/17/13.   Work Programme 2017/2018 

The Board considered their work plan for 2017.  

It was noted that the meeting on 18 October 2017 might be rescheduled.

RESOLVED

1. that the following items be scheduled for the next meeting:
 Better Care Fund Plan
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services Local 

Transformation Action Plan 
 Accountable Care System and STP Update

2. improving Outcomes for Frail Older People to be removed from the 
next meeting;

Page 11
Agenda Item 4



HWB - 12.07.17
Page 8

3. the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Update would be circulated 
electronically and would be removed from the next meeting;

4. Excess Weight/Diabetes Update to be scheduled for 24 January 
2018;

5. Dual Diagnoses Substance to be timetabled as this would be 
considered by the Drug and Alcohol Partnership first; and

6. Bedfordshire Wellbeing Service to be timetabled.

The decision was unanimous.

(Note: The meeting commenced at 2.00 p.m. and concluded at 3.40 p.m.)

Chairman …………….………………….

Dated ………………………………..

Page 12
Agenda Item 4



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Date of Meeting         29 November 2017 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Local Transformation 
Plan

Responsible Officer: Anne Murray 
Email: Anne.murray@bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk

Advising Officer: Karlene Allen 
Email: Karlene.allen@bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk

Public

Purpose of this report 

1. Update on the Future in Minds Local Transformation Plan (LTP) for Children 
and Young People’s mental health. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Health and Wellbeing Board  is asked to:
.

1. Note the Local Transformation Plan (LTP) which is an 
annually refreshed joint plan identifying how Bedfordshire 
and Luton are aiming to achieve the recommendations 
identified in Future in Minds and the Five Year Forward View 
for Mental Health. 

2. The refresh of the joint LTP was circulated to this board for 
comment in September 2017. The revised version attached 
was sent to East of England region for comment on the 25th 
October 2017 in preparation for submission to NHSE on the 
31st October.

3.  This is year two of a five-year work programme 2015-2020 
and the board are being provided with assurance against 
progress of the work plan for information and update

Progress report on work plan for the Local Transformation plan 

2. The key priorities identified in the Local transformation plan are:

 Implementation of an Eating Disorders community specialist service. (CEDS-
CYP)

 Improvement in access and waiting times to CAMHS through developing crisis 
and community services.

Page 13
Agenda Item 7



 Skilling up the workforce and embedding the principles of goal focussed 
outcomes developed collaboratively with Children and Young People. 
Identified as CYP - IAPT (Improved access to psychological therapies). 

 Development of Early Intervention and schools support.
 Development of Perinatal Mental Health services 
 Development of pathways for Vulnerable groups i.e. Autistic spectrum disorder 

/challenging behaviour / complex care/ LAC 
 Development of collaborative commissioning plans with Specialist 

Commissioning (NHS England) for Tier 4 beds (acute inpatient admissions for 
CYP with MH) and FCAMHS (Forensic pathways).

Where we came from in 
Bedfordshire

Where we are now in 
Bedfordshire

Multiple referral routes and 
rigid criteria for services

The Bedfordshire CAMHS 
single point of entry has 
been established by ELFT 
which processes cases on 
a weekly basis with tier 2 
partners (CHUMS). All 
referrals are either 
signposted to other 
external partners 
dependant on need or 
allocated into the most 
appropriate team and 
assigned a clinician on the 
same day

A lack of professional 
awareness of local services 

A directory of services 
has been produced by the 
Bedford and Early Help 
Teams which has been 
distributed widely. ELFT 
are also collating a full list 
of community providers to 
support the work of SPOE.
CAMH stakeholder events 
are now running to share 
information about CAMH 
services across Bedford 
and Central Bedfordshire

A lack of early intervention 
and prevention outcome 

A quarterly quality report 
now outlines the 

Page 14
Agenda Item 7



information outcomes and changes 
that CAMH have 
implemented. This report 
is seen by the quality team 
at BCCG

Limited early intervention 
group and family support 

A targeted Early Help 
Team is in operation 
across both local 
authorities focusing on 
the rapid access to 
targeted interventions for 
children facilitated at an 
early stage of need; 
including joint health and 
social care assessments 
and consultation for the 
Team Around the Child, 
focusing on the principle 
of strong, collaborative 
partnership working 
between agencies. The 
targeted CAMHS workers 
are embedded in each of 
the Early Help teams 
within both local 
authorities and are 
providing integrated 
support to children, young 
people and their families.  

Limited early intervention and 
prevention individual support

The CAMH School 
Programme has been 
introduced into Upper 
schools and Colleges and 
CHUMs programme into 
Middle lower and primary 
schools.; 
A Bedford and Central 
Bedfordshire whole 
school approach to mental 
health and wellbeing 
project is being developed
The School Nursing 
service provide tier 1 and 
2 support in all schools.
Embedded CAMH workers 
in Early Help teams are 
improving access to 
services and support at an 
early stage

A lack of integration and 
clarity on ASD and 
transitioning pathways

A local autism multi-
agency Strategy Group 
has established to ensure 

Page 15
Agenda Item 7



that the pathway meets 
local need and national 
statutory requirements 
and transition pathways 
are integrated and 
smooth.

The need for better 
communication between 
providers

ELFT is working more 
collaboratively with 
voluntary providers and 
partner service, CHUMs as 
well as schools and early 
intervention teams

Difficulty accessing inpatient 
beds

ELFT are proposing a 
business plan for a more 
local children and young 
persons’ inpatient unit

Inability to manage increased 
demand for MHW services 
including 
neurodevelopmental 
assessments

A local autism multi-
agency Strategy Group 
has established to identify 
any risks regarding 
service delivery, 
workforce capacity, 
standards of care and 
financial implications for 
the implementation of the 
pathway.

Young people with an Eating 
disorder admitted to an out of 
area placement 

Majority of young people 
managed in county within 
the specialist eating 
disorder community 
service now established.

High acute hospital admission 
rates for young people in 
crisis or self –harming. 

Reduction in inpatient 
admissions as a result of 
a CAMHS crisis service 
with extended hours 
including weekends.

3. The refresh of the Local Transformation plan has been developed based on Key 
Lines of Enquiry submitted by NHS England. (Appendix 1) 

4. The refreshed version of the Local Transformation plan has been circulated and 
consulted on through September and October 2017.  

5. The revised version includes changes proposed by CBC Health and Wellbeing 
Board and BBC Health and Wellbeing Board and is currently with the East of 
England regional team for comment prior to submission to NHS England. 
(Appendix 2)

Page 16
Agenda Item 7



6. The embedded implementation plans identifying how the plan will be achieved 
are work in progress for delivery by October 2018. These will be managed 
through the task and finish groups for each work stream and monitored by the 
Future in Minds Steering group.

7. As part of the Shared Planning Round, every CCG has agreed trajectories for 
2017-18 and 2018-19 that set out the number of additional CYP they will treat in 
each of those years. These trajectories should be in line with the national 
trajectory aim of 30% in year one and 32% in year two. The assumption is that 
similar trajectories will be agreed in future planning rounds, building to the 35% 
target by 2020.

8. ELFT have submitted a business proposal to achieve these trajectories which 
will require joint decisions across health and social care to achieve the 
requirements identified as part of Five Year Forward view for mental health. 

Financial and Risk Implications

9. Allocated funding 

2015/16 CAMHS LTP funding allocation £795k + Schools pilot £50 K 
2016/17 CAMHS LTP funding allocation £925k +Eating Disorders £227k 
recurrent until 2020.

2017/18 CAMHS LTP funding allocation £925k +Eating Disorders £227k 
recurrent until 2020.

This money has not been ring fenced by NHS England and has been base lined 
into Clinical Commissioning Group budgets. BCCG have committed to 
protecting this funding for CYP mental health transformation. 

The trajectories identified by NHS England for access to CAMHS services will 
require additional investment across health and social care to ensure waiting 
lists do not increase and caseload sizes are safe.

Governance and Delivery Implications

10. A Quarterly Future in Minds steering group has been established with 
representation from Bedford Borough Council, Central Bedfordshire Council, 
Luton Borough Council, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning group, Parent / 
Carer forum (SNAP), East London Foundation Trust and CHUMS. 

11. The steering group reports to the executive board in BCCG / LCCG and the 
three Health and wellbeing Boards across Bedfordshire and Luton. 

12. The Future in Minds steering group develops and monitors progress against the 
multi-agency action plan attached to the Local Transformation Plan. See 
Appendix 1 

13. Initial proposals identify that the refresh of the LTP for this year needs to 
encompass the wider CYP mental health and wellbeing strategy. Guidance is 
awaited for the refresh of the Local transformation plan due in October 2017. 

Page 17
Agenda Item 7



Equalities Implications

14. The PSED requires public bodies to consider all individuals when carrying out 
their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation 
to their own employees.  It requires public bodies to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance 
equality of opportunity, and foster good relations between in respect of nine 
protected characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation.

15. The following organisations have been consulted in preparing the local 
transformation plans:

Bedford Borough Council (BBC) 
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG)
East of England Strategic Clinical Network
Specialist Commissioning – NHS England  
Public Health (BBC/ CBC/ LBC) 
Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) 
Luton Borough Council (LBC) 
Luton Clinical Commissioning group (LCCG) 
Education sector 
Criminal Justice Sector 
South Essex Partnership trust (SEPT)
East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) 
Bedford Hospital 
L&D Hospital 
Parent Carer forums
Children and Young People
Voluntary Sector

Implications for Work Programme

16. Future reports updating on progress against the LTP implementation plans to 
be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

17. Implementation Plans embedded in Appendix 2.

Next Steps

18. Bedfordshire and Luton are working jointly with Milton Keynes to align mental 
health strategies across the STP footprint to ensure the requirements align with 
Future in Mind, 2015 and the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health. 

19. The local transformation plan and evolving action plan is scrutinised by NHSE 
on a quarterly basis to ensure the five-year funding is being used to build 
capacity and resilience across the system to improve measurable outcomes for 
Children and Young people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing.

Page 18
Agenda Item 7



20. The work plan supporting the LTP is a dynamic plan which is updated quarterly 
has been developed in partnership with parent/carers, children and young 
people and contributed to by all organisation stakeholders working with the local 
community to promote, improve and support children and young people at risk 
of/ with emotional wellbeing and mental health needs. 

Appendices

Appendix 1 
Guidance for the 2017/18 Refresh of the Children & Young People's Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plans

Appendix 2 
Local Transformation Plan including implementation plans 

Background Papers
Key Documents: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41402

4/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-
FYFV-final.pdf

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/cyp-eating-disorders-
access-waiting-time-standard-comm-guid.pdf

https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/02/tech-
cyped-eip.pdf

https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/cyp/iapt/

http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-
Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf

http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-
Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-
guidance-201617-201819.pdf

Page 19
Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/cyp-eating-disorders-access-waiting-time-standard-comm-guid.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/cyp-eating-disorders-access-waiting-time-standard-comm-guid.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/02/tech-cyped-eip.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/02/tech-cyped-eip.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/cyp/iapt/
http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf
http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf
http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf
http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Joint-Commissiong-Panel-perinatal-mental-health-services.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-201819.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-201819.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Guidance for the 2017/18 Refresh of the Children & Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plans 

This guidance supports the refresh of Children & Young People’s Mental Health & Wellbeing (CYP MH&WB) Local Transformation Plans (LTPs) for 31 October
 
2017. It builds 

on the initial Key Lines of Enquiry (KLoEs) developed in 2015 to support the original LTPs and the refresh in 2016.

LTPs were first submitted in September 2015.  LTPs set out local areas’ joint responses to Future in Mind, including the use of new resources from the Autumn Statement 

2014 and Spring Budget 2015.  CCGs have received a total of £149M in 2016-17 and will receive £170m in 2017-18.   The requirement to refresh and republish CYP MH 

LTPs, including details of how further resources would be used, was set out in the Planning Guidance and in Implementing the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health.  It 

is expected that the refreshed plans will document and represent significant progress from the initial submission in 2015.

The aim is to confirm that there is transparent commitment and local engagement in 2017/18 to deliver existing planning commitments for CYP MH&WB and to make the 

necessary preparations for future years.

The guidance continues to uses the format of the 2016/17 Mental Health Interim Assurance Audit for CCGs.  The assurance will confirm that intentions identified in the 

audit are  progressing and are backed by a substantive and transparent commitment with system-wide partners which is reflected in demonstrable progress towards the 

building of improved access, capacity and capability since the first CYP MH&WB LTP in 2015. It will also identify and confirm the basis of the assessment of assurance as 

captured in the CCG IAF and Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) processes.  

The guidance will provide a clear view of progress and commitments to the 17/18 CYP MH&WB deliverables and beyond, as well as the challenges and indications of 

preparedness identified in the audit.

Please note that the guidance is to be used as a supportive tool for regions, clinical networks and CCGs and that no returns are required as part of it.  Similarly, the RAG-

rating system developed below is to be used only for guidance and highlight areas where plans are sufficiently robust and developed or may need further development.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

A good joint plan will identify: the aim; the pathways concerned; the partners involved with a joint commitment to deliver; a project plan including planning structures; 

resources (including resource transfer); time scale; benefits and outcomes and; risk assessment and potential barriers.

Ratings Key: 

Fully confident:  Objective clearly identified and delivered.  All requirements in place.

Partially confident:  Objective not clearly identified, some requirements in place or plans/actions require strengthening.  

Not confident: Objective not identified or no confidence that actions will result in requirements being achieved.  

Rationale

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101
Text Box
Appendix 1



P
age 22

A
genda Item

 7



    

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Luton Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local 

Transformation Plan 2017-2020
 

 
 
 
 
Authors:  Sarah James, Future in Mind Lead Bedfordshire CCG 

Sally Cartwright, Public Health Registrar Luton Borough Council/Luton CCG 
Karlene Allen, Head of Children and Maternity Services (BCCG)  
Kelly O’Neill, Service Director Public Health and Children’s Joint Commissioning 
Luton Council 

  P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_1
Text Box
Appendix 2



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

1 | P a g e  
 

 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Luton Clinical Commissioning Group would like to thank partners and colleagues for their 

collaboration in producing this plan. 

 

Bedford Borough Council 

Bedford Hospital Trust 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Central Bedfordshire Council 

CHUMS 

East London Foundation Trust 

Essex Partnership University Trust 

Luton and Dunstable Foundation Trust 

Luton Borough Council 

Luton Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

 

  

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

2 | P a g e  
 

 

1. Introduction 
 

2. Our vision 
 

3. A snap shot of where we have come from and where we are now 
 

4. Our population of children and young people 
 

5. What we know about our children and young people’s emotional and mental health and wellbeing 
 

6. Engagement 
 

7. Where we are now in more detail 
 

8. Our future priorities and plans 
 

9. Our governance structures 
 

10. Our finances 
 

11. Summary 
 

12. References and appendices 
 

Contents 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 
 

The national review, Future in Mindi, established a clear direction and key principles about how to make it easier for children and young people to access 
high quality mental health care when they need it. Bedford and Luton Clinical Commissioning Groups (BCCG and LCCG) in partnership with local 
stakeholder organisations, are reviewing their current Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) strategies to reflect the requirements of 
Future in Mind, 2015. This requires us to promote, protect and improve our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing whilst driving the 
transformation of local services and support that is available.  

 
This plan outlines the strategic priorities for promoting and improving the emotional wellbeing and mental health for children and young people (CYP) in 
Bedfordshire which include Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough Council areas. It provides a vision for Bedfordshire that recognises 
the importance of supporting and equipping children, young people their parents and families, to recognise their mental health and wellbeing needs, 
access appropriate and timely support, at the earliest opportunity to improve mental and emotional wellbeing and reduce the risk of escalating need. 
 
This plan has been developed in partnership with children and young people and contributed to by all stakeholders with an interest in promoting, improving 
and supporting the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children and young people. It has also been agreed through the Bedfordshire Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Strategic Transformation Steering Group. 
 
Bedfordshire and Luton’s Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) are provided by the East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) and are 
supported by the local emotional wellbeing service, CHUMS. 
 
 
  

 
Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Local Transformation Plan 2017-2020 
 

1. Introduction 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

4 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 

Our objectives to achieve this vision are to 

 Promote, protect and improve our children and young people’s (CYP) mental health and wellbeing whilst driving the transformation of local 
services and support that is available.  

 Deliver clear and co-ordinated whole system pathways. 

 Deliver extra capacity and capability across children’s and adolescent mental health services which will improve outcomes for CYP in 
Bedfordshire 

 Embed the overarching principles of integration that will allow organisations the opportunity to exploit areas of commonality to extend 
boundaries and develop seamless ways of working that can be aligned with the wider STP footprint which incorporates Milton Keynes. 

 
 
 

2. Our Vision  

Our vision is that our children, young people, their families and professionals can access timely and 
responsive emotional and/or mental health information, advice and support and they have 
opportunities to develop knowledge, understanding and the skills necessary to have good self-
esteem, develop personal resilience and build positive relationships. 

 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

5 | P a g e  
 

 
 
  

Year 1  2015 
Aligning ELFT 

Mobilisation and 
understanding gaps 
for Future in Mind 

Publish Transformation plans 

Further needs assessment

Establish ELFT transformation 
project board  

start of recruitment 

Development of single point 
of access 

implementation of specialist 
eating disorders services 

IT systems -move to RIO 

Year 2 2016 
Transition to 

integrated working 

Embedding I thrive principles 

Enhance Crisis  services 

Continued roll out of CYP-IAPT 

implementation  of perinatal 
pathways 

Develop protocols for Joint 
working with substance 
misuse services, early years 
professionals,MASH, Youth 
Offending Teams,Domestic 
abuse services, LAC teams

Year 3-5 2017 - 2020

Transformation and 
embedding 

sustainability

Continue building capacity 
with schools , health and care 
services Further development 

of digital technology. 
Development of transitions 

services . Ongoing 
development of workforce 

Relocating resources from 
specialist to early 
identification and 

intervention to reduce 
numbers of children and 

young people being  admitted 
and reduce waiting times

 
3. A snap shot of where we have come from and where we are now 
 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

6 | P a g e  
 

 

3.1 Bedford and Central Bedfordshire’s snap shot 
 

 

Where we came from in Bedfordshire  Where we are now in Bedfordshire 

Multiple referral routes and rigid criteria for services  The Bedfordshire CAMHS single point of entry has 
been established by ELFT which processes cases on 
a weekly basis with tier 2 partners (CHUMS). All 
referrals are either signposted to other external 
partners dependant on need or allocated into the 
most appropriate team and assigned a clinician on 
the same day 

A lack of professional awareness of local services   A directory of services has been produced by the 
Bedford and Early Help Teams which has been 
distributed widely. ELFT are also collating a full list of 
community providers to support the work of SPOE. 
CAMH stakeholder events are now running to share 
information about CAMH services across Bedford and 
Central Bedfordshire 

A lack of early intervention and prevention outcome 
information  

 A quarterly quality report now outlines the outcomes 
and changes that CAMH have implemented. This 
report is seen by the quality team at BCCG 

Limited early intervention group and family support   A targeted Early Help Team is in operation across both 
local authorities focusing on the rapid access to 
targeted interventions for children facilitated at an early 
stage of need; including joint health and social care 
assessments and consultation for the Team Around 
the Child, focusing on the principle of strong, 
collaborative partnership working between agencies. 
The targeted CAMHS workers are embedded in each 
of the Early Help teams within both local authorities P

age 29
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

7 | P a g e  
 

and are providing integrated support to children, young 
people and their families.   

Limited early intervention and prevention individual 
support 

 The CAMH School Programme has been introduced 
into Upper schools and Colleges and CHUMs 
programme into Middle lower and primary schools.;  

A Bedford and Central Bedfordshire whole school 
approach to mental health and wellbeing project is 
being developed 

The School Nursing service provide tier 1 and 2 
support in all schools. 

Embedded CAMH workers in Early Help teams are 
improving access to services and support at an early 
stage 

A lack of integration and clarity on ASD and 
transitioning pathways 

 A local autism multi-agency Strategy Group has 
established to ensure that the pathway meets local 
need and national statutory requirements and 
transition pathways are integrated and smooth. 
 

The need for better communication between 
providers 

 ELF is working more collaboratively with voluntary 
providers and partner service, CHUMs as well as 
schools and early intervention teams 

Difficulty accessing inpatient beds  ELFT are proposing a business plan for a more local 
children and young persons’ inpatient unit 

Inability to manage increased demand for MHW 
services including neurodevelopmental 
assessments 

 A local autism multi-agency Strategy Group has 
established to identify any risks regarding service 
delivery, workforce capacity, standards of care and 
financial implications for the implementation of the 
pathway. 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

8 | P a g e  
 

Gaps in service provision due to tiered service 
structure 

 The Bedfordshire CAMHS single point of entry has 
been established and regular team meetings are held 
for every specialist CAMH team to ensure lines of 
communication are open and gaps in service provision 
are avoided. 

Core CAMHS waiting times between 11 and 18 weeks  
 

 The majority of cases are now seen within 5weeks and 
figures show that this time is on a downward trend 

Limited support for those in mental health crisis 
 

 A dedicated CAMHS Crisis Service and 16 plus Street 
Triage Service is now operational 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

9 | P a g e  
 

 

3.2 Luton’s snap shot 
 

 

Where we came from in Luton  Where we are now in Luton 
Multiple referral routes and inconsistency of usage of 
criteria 

 All referrals are screened daily due to the introduction 
of the Clinician of the Day.  A weekly referral meeting 
is held attended by the same senior clinicians which 
has made significant improvements to accessibility to 
the service and appropriate signposting to alternative 
providers when required 

Lack  of awareness of the role of CAMHS from other 
organisations 

 Quarterly stakeholder events are held to provide 
information to the community of the role of CAMHS and 
attendance from partner agencies has increased. 
Training has been provided to GP Forums, Junior 
Doctors training programme, A&E and Paediatric 
teams 

Waiting Times were between 11 and 18 weeks for both 
assessment and treatment 

 Luton CAMHS have reduced their waiting times for 
assessment from @ 12 weeks to an average of 5 
weeks from the date of referral and an average of 8 
weeks for treatment to commence 

Rate of DNA’s for first appointment and follow up   The DNA rate for both first assessment appointments 
and follow up has significantly reduced following a 
Quality Improvement project to address this and the 
results for 2017/18 Q1 are below 
 April May June 
DNA 16% 9% 11% 1st Appointment 
DNA 13% 8.8% 9%   Follow up Appointment 
 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

10 | P a g e  
 

Limited support for children and young people in crisis.   The introduction of the dedicated Crisis Workers has 
been well received by L&D colleagues both in A&E and 
Paediatrics.  The Crisis Workers operate until 9.00 
p.m. Monday to Friday and 10.00 – 14.00 at weekends.  
This has reduced the amount of young people admitted 
to paediatric wards and reduced the length of stay for 
those who have required a short-term stay.   

Difficulties accessing in-patient beds  Although there are relatively small amounts of young 
people requiring in-patient beds from Luton, staff have 
been more proactive in securing in-patient beds in 
advance of a crisis. The Coburn Unit (ELFT) has been 
used on occasions which has enabled more joint 
working across in-patient and community care.  The 
service is in discussions with colleagues from Luton & 
Bedfordshire CCG’s regarding the possibility of a Tier 
4 provision being developed within the local area. 

Communications and Links with Partner Agencies  Considerable work has been undertaken to establish 
more effective communication with partner agencies.  
The Children’s Trust Board and Emotional and Well-
Being committee have been re-established and 
CAMHS are well represented at meetings.  The ACD 
provides support and advice as a ‘Critical Friend’ to 
senior colleagues within the LA/CCG. Re-established 
working relationships with YOS and MASH.  The Local 
Authority has funded 2 new posts from Stronger 
Families to enable CAMHS staff to support this agenda 
for both the children/young people and the 
parents/carers.  CAMHS staff have re-established links 
with Children’s Centre and Health Visitors as part of 
the wider Flying Start Strategy.   

Lack of clarity of service provision between CAMHS 
and Edwin Lobo Centre 

 CAMHS staff have been working alongside ELC, Local 
Authority, CCG and other colleagues to develop 
pathways for ASD and ADHD to enable a more 
seamless pathway of care for this vulnerable group. P

age 33
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

11 | P a g e  
 

Mental Health Needs Analysis  CAMHS has contributed to the Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health Analysis and are represented 
on all 4 work streams to address the findings 

Limited Early Intervention and Prevention  Due to reductions in funding CAMHS are only 
commissioned to deliver a Tier 3 service at this time.  
However, an increasing number of schools and 
education provisions have purchased CAMHS 
consultation and support via the Traded Model.  This 
is well received and also includes the local Sixth Form 
College. CAMHS has an Early Years provision to 
support early intervention and prevention for 0 – 5’s 
and families/carers as part of the Flying Start Strategy 

Specialist Eating Disorder service  The introduction of a dedicated countywide Eating 
Disorder service has been able to provide rapid 
support to young people with eating disorders and 
avoid admissions wherever possible.  The service has 
also benefitted from being part of the National Eating 
Disorder training and supported by an National & 
International Consultant Psychiatrist during it’s 
development. 

Transition of young people to other services  Considerable progress has been made to make the 
transition of young people into adult mental health 
and/or learning disability services more effective.  
Regular meetings are held with colleagues once a 
service user reaches 17/17.5 years of age. 

Service User Participation  
 
 
 
 

Considerable work has been done to increase service 
user participation within the service.  All interviews for 
clinical staff have service user representation as part 
of the selection panel and this has proved very 
effective.  A Gardening Project Initiative has been 
established. The purpose is to support young people 
with low mood/social anxiety to engage with others 
through working on something collectively.  Regular 
service user groups continue to be held where P

age 34
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

12 | P a g e  
 

feedback from young people is collated by the service 
user participation lead and passed immediately back 
to the local senior leadership team. They are consulted 
on service development and involved in staff 
recruitment. The programme is also involved in 
promoting the following initiatives across the service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

13 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Bedfordshire (consisting of Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough Councils) have growing child populations. In 2015 there are 

approximately 60,238 children and young people under the age of 19 living in Luton; this number is expected to rise by 1% in 2016, and a further 7%, 

by 2021. Both Central Bedfordshire (CB) and Bedford Borough (BB) have a growing population and is expected to increase to 71,800 and 44,800 by 

2025 CB and BB respectively.ii   

We know that some children and young people are more at risk of mental ill health than others. Promoting and developing protective factors can help to 
prevent problems, aid recovery and contribute to achieving more positive outcomes.  These risk and protective factors are shown below. 

 

 
4. Our population of children and young people  
 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

14 | P a g e  
 

 
Source: Public Health England: The mental health of children and young people in England, December 2016)  
 
 

CYP who…. Are LAC Live in 

poverty 

Have experienced neglect Are CIN Are babies who 

have parents  

affected by DV, 

MH, drugs or 

alcohol 

Are teenage parents Have 

SEND 

Are 

NEET 

Luton  357 (Dec 

2016) 

25% 42% (subject to CP plan 

for neglect 31st March 

2017) 

1906 

(Aug 

2017) 

Est 21,000 Conception rate 

22.3 per 1000 

(2017) 

4707 3.3% 

Central 

Bedfordshire 

287 (March 

2016) 

12.7% 10% 1461 26% 85 (2014) 5996 3.1% 

Bedford 

Borough 

256(March 

2016) 

16.8% 13.6% 753 26% 75(2014) 3,773 5.4% 

Table 1 

 

The table above (Table 1) shows the numbers and percentages of vulnerable CYP Overall, Bedfordshire children and young people have generally better 
to mixed levels of wellbeing than the England average; although there are parts of the County where children and young people experience worse 
outcomes. Bedford Borough is ranked 96th, Central Bedfordshire is ranked 138th and Luton 47th with deprivation score of 27.58 out of 152 local authorities 
(IMD 2015)VI.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

5.1 Emotional wellbeing 
 

The Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough JSNAs on children’s mental health and wellbeing provide up to date data and information 
about the needs of children and young people, our services and key recommendations for the futureiii.  
 
The emotional health and wellbeing of children is just as important as their physical health and wellbeing. Over the past few years there has been a 
growing recognition of the need to make dramatic improvements to mental health services for children and young people (CYP). Many mental health 
problems can be prevented. Understanding the early signs of and causes of emotional distress and intervening early can prevent problems escalating 
into diagnosable MH disorders needing specialist services. 
 
Nationally, levels of happiness and confidence have dropped. The Princes Trust Youth Index score 2015 was 71; a decrease on last year’s index of 72iv. 
In Central Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough positive life satisfaction scores (2014/15) amongst 15 year olds were higher than the East of 
England and national percentages, however, Luton’s scores are lower at 57% compared to East of England 62.8%.  
 
ChildLine reported 315,111 counselling sessions nationally in 2015, with the primary concerns being family relationships, bullying, physical abuse and 
self-harm. The Bedford and Central Bedfordshire School Nursing Service also reported that nearly 50% of the young people attending school drop-ins 
are presenting with issues around emotional wellbeing and anxiety (2015/16).  In Luton, local school survey work undertaken in 2016 showed an increase 
in anxiety in students in recent years.  One school reported that in year 11 nearly 20% of the year group had levels of anxiety where advice from a GP 
was sought.  
 
Locally, the 2015/16 Schools Health Education Unit Emotional Wellbeing Survey, of 4416 year 5-12 pupils from 48 Central Bedfordshire schools, 
revealed that more than 1 in 10 children and young people sometimes felt so worried that they found it hard to concentrate on anything.  Over a third 
(36%) of Year 8, 10 and 12 pupils were also found to have low resilience scores. 11% of younger pupils and 17% of older pupils did not get sufficient 
sleep to feel awake during the day and 42% (younger) 22% (older) pupils sometimes felt afraid of going to school due to bullying. However, fewer 
Central Bedfordshire 15 year olds were recently bullied in 2014/15 compared with the East of England percentage (52.1% and 56.4% respectively). 
The results of the 2014 Bedford Borough schools’ Emotional Wellbeing survey tells us that most children and young people are happy most of the time; 

 

 5. What we know about our children and young people’s emotional and 
mental health and wellbeing  

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

16 | P a g e  
 

however, the percentage of pupils who reported feeling sad was higher in those over 14 years of age.  

Our new CAMH specialist schools team reported 45 referrals in the last 2 quarters of 2016/17.This is increasing each quarter. 
 
The 2015 SHEU survey in Luton was completed by 513 boys and 579 girls in primary school, and 727 boys and 1114 girls in secondary schools.  
59% of primary school children and 48% of secondary school children stated that they worry about at least one of the issues listed.  41% of primary 
school children said that they very often, often or sometimes felt afraid to go to school because of bullying.  This figure was lower in secondary schools, 
with 19% stating the sometimes, often or very often felt afraid to go to school because of bullying. 
 
In 2016 Luton commissioned Liverpool John Moore University to carry out a study on Adverse Child Experience as an indicator of health and wellbeing. 
The results are as follows: 
 

 
 P

age 39
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

17 | P a g e  
 

5.2 Mental ill health 
 

 
 
The national picture of children and young people’s mental health issues are shown below. 
 

 
Source: Public Health England: The mental health of children and young people in England, December 2016) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

18 | P a g e  
 

Locally, hospital admission rate for 0-17 year olds for mental illness (2015-2016) in Bedford and Luton are high compared to the East of England. Luton 
are also above the England average, as shown in the bar graph below. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Graph 1. Source: Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing (PHE) 

 
Measuring self-harm rates is extremely difficult as most individuals do not contact a health professional regarding their self-harm. Therefore nationally, 
in order to develop a consistent picture, each CCG measures the number of hospital inpatient episodes where self-harm is indicated. For Bedfordshire 
patients, this number increased by 45% between 2011/12 to 2014/15. Then for the last three financial years has remained at a constant level of around 
150 inpatient episodes, for Bedfordshire children and young people, per annum. P

age 41
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

19 | P a g e  
 

  
   
Within Bedford and Central Bedfordshire the School Nursing teams offer drop-in sessions in secondary schools, which young people can attend. In 
2016/17 the School Nursing teams had 1,683 contacts with young people, of which 229 were self-harm related (13%). Of these, 202 were with 
girls, and 27 contacts with boys. 
 
The number of children and young people in Bedfordshire and Luton who have a diagnosed mental health disorder are shown in table 2 below: 
 

Disorder type 

Luton  
Bedford and 
Central 
Bedfordshire Total 

Age 5-
16yrs 

Age 5-16yrs 

Emotional disorder 1,301 2,123 3,424 

Conduct disorder 2,145 3,285 5,430 

Hyperkinetic disorder 589 890 1,479 

Mental Health disorder 3,453 5,506 8,959 

Less Common disorders 298 867 1,165 

Autistic spectrum disorders 340 812 1,152 

  

Estimated No: of children as at 2015 Age 16-19yrs 

Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder 887 1,678 2,565 

Generalised anxiety disorder 150 283 433 

Depressive episode 182 344 525 

All phobias 139 263 402 

Obsessive compulsive disorder 96 182 278 

Panic disorder 53 101 155 

Any neurotic disorder 1,422 2,689 4,111 

Table 2. Source: PHI Luton Borough/Bedford Borough/Central Bedfordshire Councils P
age 42

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

20 | P a g e  
 

The Bedfordshire CAMH Service Single Point of Entry (SPOE) recorded the following referral figures for 2016/17: 

Team  Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4  YTD  

Central Bedfordshire Emotional & Behavioural  147  121  173  149  590  

Bedford Emotional & Behavioural  62  66  83  72  283  

Adolescent Mental Health  
 

45  

 

30  
77  34  186  

Table 3 

 

 

Luton CAMHS received a total of 1113 referrals for 2016/17 of which 829 were accepted into the service and 284 signposted to other services  

 

Luton  Apr May  Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan  Feb Mar YTD 

Received  87 113 109 103 67 74 81 85 81 90 97 126 1113 

Accepted  62 79 81 73 45 56 62 67 62 71 76 95 829 

Not 
Accepted  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sign 
Posted  25 34 28 30 22 18 19 18 19 19 21 31 284 

Table 4 

 
 

 

  

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

21 | P a g e  
 

 

5.3 The mental health of our vulnerable groups 

 

 

Children and young people known to the Criminal Justice system  
 

Children and young people known to the Criminal Justice system are a particularly vulnerable group in respect of emotional and mental health concerns 

and prevalence. Research has long demonstrated the significantly higher levels of such issues in this group as compared with the general adolescent 

population. Children and young people known to the Criminal Justice system have complex needs and challenging circumstances with far higher 

prevalence of SEN (2015/16 national research project showed this as at least 50-60% of open YOS caseloads) as well as significantly higher proportion 

with communication difficulties than those in general adolescent population. There is an accepted link between some disorders and a risk of offending. 

This vulnerable group are at risk of criminalization by their needs and complexities(i) 

 

In 2016/17 24% of the young people known to the Bedford and Central Bedfordshire Youth Offending Service (YOS) had a referral for Mental 

Health intervention; three quarters of them had not previously received any support prior to being open to the YOS. The national assessment tool used 

by YOS ASSET Plus contains a module in relation to emotional and mental health. In terms of overall prevalence of need– 50% of the children and young 

people known to the YOS in 2016/17 had a risk level of medium; high or very high in relation to their wellbeing. Thus, half the total open caseload were 

determined to have issues of emotional and mental health. As previously stated just under one quarter of the total open caseload met the threshold for 

a CAMHS referral to the seconded worker. 

 

In Luton in 2016/17 20% of the young people known to the Youth Offending Service (YOS) had a referral for Mental Health intervention; this is 

skewed by a period where YOS had a vacancy with the Seconded CAMHS post which can depress referrals. Analysis of the mental health information 

derived from Asset plus revealed that 60% of our young people had a prevalence of need in relation to their emotional wellbeing aggregating the risk 

level of medium; high or very high for the judgements of this area. Thus 3/5ths of the Luton caseload were determined to have issues of emotional and 

mental health, although 20% met the immediate threshold for a CAMHS referral to the seconded worker, we would expect that figure to rise this year 

with full provision of staff now in place. 
 
 

 
 P

age 44
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

22 | P a g e  
 

Looked after children 
 
The adverse health and wellbeing outcomes for looked after children (LAC) and care leavers is noted as significant, with an increased risk of mental, 
behavioural and emotional problems and often diagnosed with at least one physical health need.  Nationally the emotional wellbeing score for LAC 5 to 
15 years is 14. Both Bedford and Central Bedfordshire looked after children have higher wellbeing scores than  Luton’s LAC score of 13.8 which is 
lower than the national average. In Central Bedfordshire, there were 287 (March 2016) children in care and 248 in care in Bedford Borough (July 

2017).This number is increasing slowly: it grew by 4.4% between March 2015 and March 2016v.  In Luton, data from Luton Borough Council has shown 
that in August 2017 the caseload of looked after children was 357 with the numbers increasing and with 36 unaccompanied asylum seeker children 
(UASC).   
 
Our Bedford and Central Bedfordshire specialist CAMH LAC team recorded 79 LAC referrals into the single point of entry in 2016/17. 
 
The percentage of looked after children in 2015/16 where there is cause for concern following their SDQ, is not statistically different in Central 
Bedfordshire and Luton compared with the East of England average, however it is statistically higher for Bedford which is close to the regional worstvi. 
 

 

 
 
  

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

23 | P a g e  
 

Accompanied and unaccompanied asylum seekers  
 
Children rely of the positive attachments with their care givers to develop an internal working model of the world and their safety within it vii. 

For refugee families there are many mixed and complicated emotions and events which culminate in their granted refugee status, itself only a temporary 
respite. For these children, who may lack a cognitive understanding of the events that are occurring to them, there is the pain of the events that caused 
their family to seek safety, the distress of leaving a home, the possible preoccupation of carers who may lack resources to help the child, as well as the 
long, tiring and often dangerous journey to an unfamiliar country with a different language and culture. This immense change has to be endured during 
a time of vulnerability and uncertainty about their future safety. The impact of these life events on the caregivers also has a significant effect for the 
children. Where caregivers are unable to mediate the impact of events because of their own difficulties children are more likely to experience symptoms 
of physiological and emotional anxietyviii which may be noticed only by adults outside of the immediate family. 

While many of these children may seem cognitively bright and alert to the point of being able to learn a new language and seemingly adjust to a new 
school; they may not be able to show creativity, good memory recall or avoid risk taking. In these children making appropriate behavioural choices and 
making sense of current situations and being able to recount a history of events was poorix.The Health of Londoners project (1999) suggested that most 
refugee health problems are related to psychological issues linked to trauma, isolation from friends and community, racism or discrimination and most 
problems are related to the difficulty adjusting to the change in life circumstances. The basic task for professionals working with this group is to recognise 
the complex interplay of psychosocial problems to promote communication and empowerment rather than victimisationx. 

The specialist CAMH looked after children team, has seen 10 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Young People between December 2016 until 
July 2017. The young people seen originate from various countries, including Iraq, Vietnam and Africa (i.e. Nigeria, Democratic Republic of the Congo 
and Ethiopia). On average, the team have received one referral a month since December 2016, in relation to Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers. The 
ages of the 10 young people at the time of the referral were between 16-17 years old. Three of the ten young people continue to be open to the 
CAMHS LAC Team, with one receiving ongoing therapeutic intervention. Psychotherapy is being provided to the one young person receiving ongoing 
support. Of the 3 remaining open, a common presentation is feelings of isolation and low mood. 
 
Children at risk of sexual exploitation 
 
Child sexual exploitation has been shown to affect physical (including sexual) and mental health and well-beingxi. The exact number of children at risk 
of sexual exploitation across Bedfordshire is not known.  However, we can gain an idea of the scale of this problem from the CSE investigations carried 
out in recent years. The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham published in 2014 estimated that 1,400 children were sexually 
exploited in Rotherham between 1997 and 2013. We also know that around 20 – 25% of victimised children and young people are ‘looked after’. 
Children and young people living at home can be just as vulnerable, if not more vulnerable as they may not be known to social services and therefore 
are less likely to be identified as vulnerable to child sexual exploitation. Early recognition and intervention is crucial to support children and young 
people children who have been a victim of CSE.  P

age 46
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

24 | P a g e  
 

Black and ethnic minority children 
 
Black and minority ethnic (BME) young people are under-represented in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), across the teams in 
Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS (both of our Emotional Behavioural Teams, Adolescent Mental Health Team, Looked After Children and 
School Programme Team) they make up a proportion of approx. 8% of the total active caseload (this figure does not include those families where ethnicity 
has not been stated). 
 
 

5.4 The mental health of our Future in Mind priority groups 

 
Women with perinatal mental health needs 
 
Applying the estimated prevalence of national perinatal mental health to projected births gives the projected prevalence across Bedfordshire, as shown 
in table 5 below. 
 
 

Indicator / estimated prevalence rate NHS Bedford and Central Bedfordshire 
(2021) 
(based on projected number of births: 5552) 

Luton (2021) (based on projected number of 
births 3,400) 

Postpartum Psychosis 2/1000 11 6.8 

Chronic SMI in perinatal period 2/1000 11 6.8 

Severe depressive illness 30/1000 166 102 

Mild moderate depressive illness and anxiety 
in perinatal period (lower estimate) 100/1000 

555 340 

Mild moderate depressive illness and anxiety 
in perinatal period (upper estimate) 150/1000 

833 510 

PTSD in perinatal period 30/1000 167 102 

Adjustment disorders and distress in 
perinatal period (lower estimate) 150/1000 

833 510 

Adjustment disorders and distress in 
perinatal period (upper estimate) 300/1000 

1666 1020 

Table 5 

 P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

25 | P a g e  
 

 
An estimated 500-800 women in Bedford and Central Bedfordshire are affected by mild to moderate depression during the perinatal period 
each year. In Luton this is estimated to be between approximately 300 and 500 women.  Maternal depression is also the strongest predictor of 
paternal depression which is estimated at 4% during the first year after birth.  

Maternal depression is also the strongest predictor of paternal depression which is estimated at 4% during the first year after birth.  

 

Children and young people with eating disorders  
  
The Bedfordshire Community Eating Disorder Service recorded 65 referrals in the year 2016/17 and 45 referrals in 2017/18 up to August 2017. 

The number of open cases to Luton & Bedfordshire Community Eating Disorder Service since inception is shown in table 6 below 
 

April 
16 

May 
16 

June 
16 

July 
16 

Aug 
16 

Sept 
16 

Oct 
16 

Nov 
16 

Dec 
16 

Jan 
17 

Feb 
17 

Mar 
17 

April 
17 

May 
17 

June 
17 

July 
17 

Aug 
17 

0 0 0 29 28 34 33 44 47 47 48 51 54 54 58 58 62 

 Table 6  

 

Caraline, our Eating disorder service for young people transitioning between child and adult services saw a total of 58 clients in the year 2016 – 2017. 

Children and young people with LD or neurodevelopmental disorders 
 

Young people with learning difficulties are 6 times more likely to have conduct disorder, 8 times more likely to have ADHD, 4 times more likely to have 

an emotional disorder, and 33 times more likely to have Autistic Spectrum Disorder, than their peers who do not have LDsxii  The incidence of children 

with severe learning disability alone is expected to rise by 1% year on year for the next 15 years.xvii 

 
 
People aged 18-24 predicted to have autistic spectrum disorders in CBC is likely to increase as table 7 below shows 
 

2014 2015 2020 2025 2030 

198 200 184 186 208 
Table 7 produced on 04/11/16 from www.pansi.org.uk version 8.0 

 P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

26 | P a g e  
 

 

It is difficult to get accurate data about the children and young people who are being assessed for ASD but referred for other reasons. However, our 
specialist CAMH Neurodevelopmental Team operating across Bedfordshire have reported 164 referrals into their service for the year 2016/17. The 
Community Paediatric Service (Essex Partnership University Trust) also received 421 referrals in 2016 for ASD assessments of which Preschool 0-4 
yrs : 37%, 5-9 yr olds : 36%, Over 10 yrs: 27%.   

 

The percentage of school aged children identified as having a social and emotional mental health need is similar to the England average in Central 
Bedfordshire and Luton but is statistically significantly lower in Bedford. However compared to the regional average, Bedford shows a lower percentage 
and Luton a higher percentage whilst Central Bedfordshire remain at a similar level of need.xiii  
 

Children and young people with SEND  
 

A partnership approach between Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, Bedford Borough and Central Bedfordshire to plan and 
deliver a collaborative and proactive Education, Health and Social Care system is under development to best support the needs of young 
people as they transition into adulthood and for the duration of their adult life.  The focus is upon encouraging and enabling optimum levels 
of independence whilst also taking account of the growing needs of people with multiple long term conditions, together with those who are 
vulnerable and at high risk of neglect and/or hospital admission.   

Care and support will be commissioned using whole system data and intelligence that enables services to get upstream to inform and plan 
commissioning priorities and associated budget priorities, shifting care and support to be developed locally.  This requires an Information 
Sharing Agreement (IFA) between; Bedford Borough Council (BBC), Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC), Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (BCCG) and East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) that has been developed and is awaiting governance 
authorisation. 

This work is being aligned strategically with the Transforming Care Agenda across our Sustainable Transformation Plan xiv( STP)  footprint 
to support the health and care system commitment  to transforming care for people with learning disabilities and/or autism who have a mental 
illness or whose behaviour challenges services.  

 

 

  

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

27 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 

6.1 CAMHS Engagement 
 

Regular CAMH service user groups are held where feedback from young people is collated by the service user participation lead and passed 

immediately back to the local senior leadership team. They are consulted on service development and involved in staff recruitment. The programme is 

also involved in promoting the following initiatives across the service:  

 Developing a local CAMHS Duke of Edinburgh Bronze Award scheme for our current and ex- service users  

 Working with ELFT colleagues in adult recovery to establish service specific Recovery College workshops for 16-19 year across Bedfordshire  

 Attending Voice of the Child subgroup meetings in Central Bedfordshire to oversee gathering of feedback from young people across the 

Borough. The group are also planning on broadening this to include young people with learning disabilities and non-verbal children  

 Organizing events, displays and fundraising across the area to promote Awareness days including World BiPolar Day, Autism Awareness Week 

& Eating Disorder Awareness Week. This included arranging guest speakers and service user presentations  

 Organizing upcoming event for Foster Care Fortnight Attended “Gift’s Our Future Minds” event where young people fed back to HEE about 

their experiences of services including Health & Education  

 Working with our School Programme team developing filming sessions with service users to make short films which will be used on 

CAMHS/CHUMS website and then shared in local schools to raise awareness of mental health  

 Working with service users and school programme staff to plan assemblies, which will be delivered in schools during Mental Health Awareness 

Week  

  

6. Engagement 
 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

28 | P a g e  
 

 Working with schools programme staff and service users to develop written guidelines for schools supporting young people with mental health 

issues.  

Quarterly ELFT Stakeholder Meetings are held across the locality where external partners, parents & carers are invited to attend to receive updates on 

CAMHS services and speak directly with the leadership team. An average of over 30 guests from a variety of services (including Health, Local 

Authorities, Education and Commissioning) are offered an update on local service developments and information from a range of guest speakers. 

Previous engagement with children and young people accessing CAMH services highlighted areas for improvement. Here’s how the service 

responded. 

Our service users said they wanted 
 

Actions in response 

An increased number of and longer treatment sessions 
with regular appointment times, no clock watching and 
appointments made with parents present  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS have a dedicated clinician 
(COD) undertaking daily triaging of all referrals. In addition to screening 
referrals for risk, one of the aims of the Clinician of the Day role is to 
provide a single point of contact for all new or urgent business coming into 
CAMHs. All new appointment letters are circulated to the young person 
and their parents at the beginning of the treatment plan. Further review 
dates are made jointly at each session with those present. CAMHS have 
seen a reduction in current waiting times and all cases treatment plans are 
reviewed during staff supervision or at the weekly clinical team meeting for 
consideration by the MDT to ensure the treatment plan is effective and 
efficient. 

 

Later sessions or weekend appointments. Open 
appointment systems so that service users are seen when 
needed. Appointment times preferred by respondents 
were Monday – Friday, and Saturdays 1pm – 8pm, 
followed by Monday – Friday 9am – 5pm and then 
Monday to Friday 9am – 10pm.  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS offer an extended out of hours 
service via our A&E Liaison team who work Monday – Friday 08.00 – 
20.00 and 10.00 – 16.00 at weekends. Team bases are also offering 
extended clinic opening times from 08.00 – 18.00 hours with dedicated 
support from admin staff although this is yet to be formalised. Plans are 
also in place to extend these hours further to a late night clinic or weekend 
end working. The Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS School 
Programme team offer a drop in service to young people over the age of 
16 at the local colleagues, the team are looking at extending this service P

age 51
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

29 | P a g e  
 

further in schools for young people below the age of 16 ensuring consent 
and risks are appropriately managed. 

 

More awareness of CAMH and CAMH services in schools  As of 1st January 2017, the Bedford and Central Bedfordshire Schools 
Programme has successfully been recruited into, ELFT currently have 
5.00wte Band 6 staff within the service and 1.00wte Band 7 to lead on the 
delivery, providing consultations across the various schools sites, training 
sessions based on the IAPT train the trainer modules and in house direct 
assessments with young people where needed. Staff also act as a conduit 
for referrals into the CAMHS services should the needs warrant additional 
interventions. The team is currently exploring the options of developing a 
training package to deliver peer mentoring service to support young people 
in schools. The vision is to create a 3 tiered training approach to increasing 
schools response to early stage mental health, this is in partial response to 
service participation feedback hereby young people reported that they felt 
they were unable to talk to professionals about their problems when they 
first arose. 
 

More choice of location for appointments, such as at their 
local CAMHS clinic, school, at home and locally to reduce 
travelling times  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS offer a wide range of 
appointment venues for our young people dependent upon their 
preference and need, these can include community visits to the home 
address / school / external community settings or clinic. Bedford and 
Central Bedfordshire CAMHS staff are now co-located in each of our local 
authority Early Helps teams, secondary schools and colleges and at our 
local Acute hospital.” 
 

Neutral environments to meet counsellors and CAMHS 
workers with consultation rooms more welcoming and 
homely  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS are currently redeveloping the 
clinical bases to accommodate additional staffing, therapeutic space and 
ensure areas are DDS compliant – this estates programme is expected to 
take 6 months to complete and will include and complete revamp of all 
areas – staff and service users have been invited to comment upon 
preferred colour schemes and plans. 
 

Travelling to appointments – most services were located 
locally so reduced the journey time 

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS offer a wide range of 
appointment venues for our young people dependent upon their P

age 52
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

30 | P a g e  
 

preference and need, these can include community visits to the home 
address / school / external community settings or clinic. Bedford and 
Central Bedfordshire CAMHS staff are now co-located in each of our local 
authority Early Helps teams, secondary schools and colleges and at our 
local Acute hospital. 

 

Increase availability of therapists who are empathetic, 
non-condescending and respect the service user  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS has recruited into many of the 
vacancies which have arisen via the transformation plans with a variety of 
professional staff to suit the needs of the service. During the recruitment 
process all staff are invited to answer questions related to value including 
respect, dignity and diversity. Each quarter Bedford and Central 
Bedfordshire CAMHS provide a Service wide away day to focus on 
quality, these events have also be extended to include third sector parties 
and external colleagues – recent topics include Quality Improvement SCE 
and management of harmful sexual behaviours. 

 

To stay with the same CAMHS worker so no need to keep 
repeating their diagnosis or story  

Working in partnership with Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS 
Service User Participation Lead, our young people have developed a 
profile which can be shared across all services outlining their story and 
treatment plans to date. Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS 
allocate cases based on need and refer cases to the most appropriate 
discipline upon receipt of referral although as risks change cases may 
need to be transferred to other teams or professionals. 
  

 
 
Luton CAMHS have a dedicated clinician of the day (COD) who undertake daily triaging of all referrals. In addition to screening referrals for risk, the 
COD also provides a single point of contact for all new or urgent business coming into CAMHs and provides consultation to potential referrers. 
 
Once a referral has been accepted appointment letters are circulated to the young person and their parents at the beginning of the treatment plan. The 
voice of the child is listened to in respect of what outcome they would hope from attending the service alongside the view of the parent/carers.  Goal 
based outcomes are an aspect of all clinical work.  Further review dates are made jointly at each session with those present.   
 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

31 | P a g e  
 

Appointments are offered between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday and the Crisis Workers operate until 21.00 weekdays and 10.00 to 14.00 at 
weekends for young people in crisis.  Luton CAMHS offer a wide range of appointment venues for our young people dependent upon their preference 
and need, which can include community visits to the home address / school / GP or other external community settings or within the CAMHS clinic. 
 
Alongside the Service User Participation Lead, young people have developed a generic profile which can be shared across all services outlining their 
story and treatment plans to date to avoid repetition and duplication. 
 
One of our service users presented to the Multi-Agency Children’s Trust Board meeting on his experience of CAMHS and also the wider issues young 
people face in relation to emotional well being 
 
A Gardening Project Initiative has been established. The purpose is to support young people with low mood/social anxiety to engage with others through 
working on something collectively. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

32 | P a g e  
 

 

6.2 Local Authority Engagement 
 

 
 

Youth Services 
 
CBC Youth Parliament constructed a Mental Health Survey alongside MIND BLMK to gather information from young people in Central Bedfordshire 
with the following aims:  
 

 To understand the level of Mental Health need amongst 11-18 year olds in Central Beds 

 To evaluate what the current Mental Health services provide and if/what the barriers are to young people accessing this support 

 To consider how/what support mechanisms could help support young people with Mental Health (particularly focussing on low-level Mental 

Health support) 

The CBC Youth Parliament had a good engagement from young people for this questionnaire and received a total of 1,221 responses. From these 
questionnaire results the CBC Youth Parliament have constructed a thorough report which includes a number of recommendations for Central Beds 
Council to consider. This is currently waiting an initial meeting and approval with The Director of Children’s Services before the recommendations will 
be taken forward and implemented. 
 
The Local Children’s Safeguarding Board for Central Bedfordshire has developed a subgroup which has piloted a tool to capture the voice of service 
users from all agencies including education, health and other provider services. The tool is being rolled out in the forthcoming year. 
  
Bedford Borough and Central Bedfordshire are also engaging with schools in focus group events in the development of a toolkit to promote a whole 
school approach to mental health and wellbeing. 
 
As Luton develops its Borough-wide children and young people’s emotional wellbeing strategy, young people will be engaged with the obtain their views 

and input. Further engagement work includes a recently commissioned piece of work via MIND engaging and consulting with young people and an 

Adverse Childhood Experiences questionnaire with those involved to better understand needs through Relate. 
 
 

  

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

33 | P a g e  
 

Health and wellbeing surveys 
 
Bedford Borough and Central Bedfordshire and Luton all conduct regular health and wellbeing surveys of school aged children. Surveys across 
Bedfordshire in 2015 focused on emotional wellbeing and gave children an opportunity to answer questions about their worries, friendships, sources of 
information and support. The information is used by schools to shape their own policies and interventions and the summary report is shared with all 
partners. Information contained in the latest survey has informed an action plan to improve MH and wellbeing of children in Bedfordshire. 
 

Central Bedfordshire Mental Health and wellbeing stakeholder group 
 
A stakeholder group has been set up in Central Bedfordshire with representation from health and mental health provider services, the voluntary sector, 
youth engagement, parent reps, education, the CCG and other Local Authority colleagues. The group has met a number of times and their views have 
been pivotal in the development of a Central Bedfordshire action plan for the promotion and early intervention for mental health and wellbeing in children 
and young people.  
 
Bedford Borough and Central Bedfordshire are also engaging with schools in focus group events in the development of a toolkit to promote a whole 
school approach to mental health and wellbeing. 
 
Luton is establishing a Children and Young People Emotional Wellbeing Board, and Luton schools have also recently established a Behaviour, Inclusion, 
and Wellbeing advisory board.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

34 | P a g e  
 

6.3 CCG Engagement 
 

 
Sustainability Transformation Plans  
 
The CCG has developed an approach to localising the strategic direction emerging from the Sustainability Transformation Plan (STP), whilst ensuring 
that we are addressing the particular needs of our population. 
 
This CCG forms part of the Bedford Central Bedfordshire, Milton Keynes and Luton STP (BLMK STP) area.  In June 2017, the CEO of NHS 
England, announced at the NHS Confederation that BLMK STP is one of eight areas that has been successful in its application to become one of the 
lead Accountable Care Systems (ACS) in the first wave of development. 
 
ACS proposed model  

 
 
 P

age 57
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

35 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Strategic commissioning  

 Identifying health and well-being needs of the population 

 “whole population-based” approach to commissioning, using shared budgets and appropriate incentives  

 Health outcome focused with established, long-term contracts to drive efficiency within statutory frameworks. 
 
Systems integration  

 The “nerve centre” of an ACS, enabling the population’s health to be risk-assessed and managed 

 supporting care co-ordination and decision making  

 managing workflow and maintaining smooth data exchange across clinical and organisational boundaries  

 developing new ways of working and fit-for-purpose solutions 
 
Accountable care provision  

 The “nerve centre” of an ACS, enabling the population’s health to be risk-assessed and managed 

 supporting care co-ordination and decision making  

 managing workflow and maintaining smooth data exchange across clinical and organisational boundaries  

 developing new ways of working and fit-for-purpose solutions 
 
This is an excellent opportunity to reshape our health and social care system so that it’s easier for us to work together to deliver better health and 
wellbeing outcomes for our population. 
 
The STP has identified five priority workstreams as:-  
 
Priority 1: Encouraging self-management and social capacity to impact on health improvement and illness prevention 
Priority 2: Achieving high quality, scaled and resilient primary, community and social care services across BLMK 
Priority 3*: Developing sustainable secondary care services across the footprint 
Priority 4: Forging footprint-wide collective leadership, and designing a BLMK digital programme 
Priority 5: Development of an Accountable Care System: Re-engineering health and social provision to meet the variable needs of residents 
 
*Priority three includes the need for secondary care to network services across the footprint and as part of this will need to identify and address those 
service areas that are currently unsustainable, for example, due to workforce and capacity issues. 
 
 P

age 58
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

36 | P a g e  
 

Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs have identified five key strategy areas which are aligned to the STP priorities. They are:  
 

 Urgent and Emergency Care 

 Planned Care 

 Prevention and Detection 

 Out of Hospital Care 

 Primary Care 

Our organisations’ commissioning intentions for 2017-19 were developed to reflect the changes required across each of these strategy areas and 
clinical priorities. We will continue this work in 2018-19.  
 
Subject to available resources, the CCG will endeavour to deliver increased funding under parity of esteem for patients with mental health conditions 
and deliver the key priority areas e.g. early intervention in psychosis. Similarly, the CCG is committed to supporting people with learning disabilities 
through the Transforming Care programme which is an STP-wide initiative. 
 
For some of the clinical priority areas, the commissioning intentions point to an end to end pathway and mode of delivery review. This is to ensure that 
we work with partner organisations to establish the issues with specific clinical areas, and identify the changes needed in order to make improvements. 
  
Collaborative commissioning    
 
Bedfordshire and Luton Commissioners have been fully engaged in East of England Strategic Clinical Network (SCN) events supporting local areas in 
the development of transformation plans, which have included; 
 

 Providing general guidance relating to the planning process. 

 How NHS England will interface and work with CCG’s going forward, particularly around crisis pathways, home treatment teams and rapid 

discharge planning. 

 Access to self-assessment tools that provide a local and regional Mental Health and Wellbeing picture. 

 
An interface discussion has taken place with our local Specialist Commissioning Group where agreement was reached to:    
 

  Review opportunities for co-commissioning 

 Development of a whole system pathway to bring care closer to home  

 An opportunity for regional CCGs to participate in the monthly NHS England – Midlands and East monthly parity of esteem P
age 59

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

37 | P a g e  
 

 
In addition to working with Specialist Commissioning as members of the SCN, from a local perspective we continue to actively seek the views of Specialist 
Commissioners on our proposed new models of care, and development of our transformational plan to ensure a seamless model of care between 
commissioned services.  To ensure a sustainable working partnership we have invited a representative from Specialist Commissioning to be a member 
of our local joint mental health and wellbeing steering group.  
 
The Luton and Bedfordshire CCGs hosted two whole system stakeholder events to develop the Crisis Care pathway. During these events current 
pathways were scoped, risks and challenges identified and new models of crisis care were proposed. Children’s mental health commissioners are also 
engaged in the Operational Group of the Crisis Care Concordat and committed to plans to deliver all age services, seamless transfers from children to 
adult services, equity of access through, in particular, Liaison Psychiatry and seven day services.  The Police Lead for Crisis Care Concordat has also 
been engaged in all the workshops delivered to date.  
 
An overarching engagement plan which details Bedfordshire’s high-level intentions for engagement into 2018 is attached at appendix A. The plan is 
being further developed by a new Engagement and Communication Group which will ensure that all stakeholders, including disadvantaged and hard to 
reach children, young people their families and carers will be involved.  
 

 
 
 
  

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

38 | P a g e  
 

 

 
A snap shot of our current mental Health provision for CYP across Bedfordshire has been provided in section 3. This section looks in more detail at these 
improvements, which reflect the needs identified by the JSNAs, and the views expressed in the engagement processes. 
 
 

7.1 How we are doing against National targets 
 
 

1. At least 35% of CYP with a diagnosable MH condition receive treatment from an NHS-funded community MH service 2017-19 – 

improvements in services are underway but the target has not yet been reached. Work is continuing to meet this target by 2019 

2. By 2020/21, evidence-based community eating disorder services for children and young people will be in place in all areas, ensuring that 

95% of children in need receive treatment within one week for urgent cases, and four weeks for routine cases. 2017-1 - Joint NICE 

compliant specialist community eating disorders team are now in place and are achieving treatment requirements within one week and 

four weeks. Wider system pathways are currently under development to support this team . 

3. Oversee the implementation of locally led transformation plans for children and young people’s mental health, which improve prevention 

and early intervention activity, and be on track to deliver national coverage of the children and young people’s Improving Access to 

Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme by 2018 – on track. 

4. To support at least 30,000 additional women each year to access evidence-based specialist perinatal mental health treatment - 

Community pathways, crisis pathways and in- patient pathways to meet the requirements for a Perinatal Mental Health Service are 

currently being agreed across Bedfordshire. We are awaiting the wave 2 bid opportunity to expand the service to include a specialist 

perinatal service across the STP footprint.  IMHOL training is also being rolled out across Bedfordshire.  

5. Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs are fully compliant with many of the Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services Transformation 

Milestones including our crisis and eating disorder service development plans. Our CCGs are working towards collaborative 

commissioning plans with NHS England for tier 3 and tier 4 CAMHS. We are partially complaint with the requirement to have published 

joint agency workforce plans detailing how we will build capacity and capability including implementation of Children and Young People’s 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies programmes (CYP IAPT) transformation objectives. Work is ongoing to become fully 

compliant. 

7. Where we are now in more detail 
 
 
 
 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

39 | P a g e  
 

 

7.2 Early intervention and education setting’s services – where we are now 
 
 
The CAMH Schools project is being delivered as part of the Future in Mind transformation of MH services for children and young people, Working with 
colleagues in Primary Care and education, a targeted team of CAMH professionals provide sessions in every School and College in Bedford and 
Central Bedfordshire with Year 9 and above students, providing a whole system approach to improving access to mental health services. The specialist 
team deliver on site training, consultation and are able to undertake face to face assessments developing appropriate therapeutic treatment plans to 
meet the needs of young people presenting with emotional needs. 
CHUMS, in partnership with CAMHS, deliver prevention and early intervention mental health support to schools across Central Bedfordshire and 
Bedford Borough.  CHUMS will be offering support to clusters of lower, middle and primary schools in the following ways: 
 

 Half termly training for a dedicated member of school staff on the most common presenting issues identified in this age group. 

 Half termly peer consultation sessions with a CHUMS practitioner to discuss those children in school who may be a cause for concern. 

 Early intervention therapeutic group programmes for children aged 5-10 who are showing early signs of anxiety and/or low self-esteem. 

 Recreational therapeutic programmes, using football as a tool for engagement, in young people aged 9-13 who are at risk of disengagement 

with school and/or displaying challenging behaviour in school. 

Clear pathways have been established for both School Programme and Early Help CAMHS teams to ensure that the partner agencies are referring 
directly into the teams. 
 
Schools programme staff have an allocation of schools and they spend a day a fortnight at the respective schools. Early Help CAMHS staff are 
embedded within the Early Help teams within the respective Local authorities. A training strategy for CAMHS School programme and Early Help team 
is being developed to ensure a more streamlined approach.  
There is also range of early intervention Mental Health support services for children and families listed in the Early Help and Domestic Abuse services 
list. Some of these services are operate in the universal sector (e.g. 0-19 Health teams, Children Centres) and some are targeted (CHUMS Emotional 
Wellbeing Service). Services that are targeted require an Early Help Assessment to be completed. Other examples of Tier 1 and 2 services include: 

 school-based counsellors 

 projects to support children at risk of exclusion  

 youth support service advisers, health visitors, social workers and GP-based counsellors 

 voluntary sector providers 

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

40 | P a g e  
 

As of 1
st 

January 2017, the Bedford and Central Bedfordshire Schools Programme has successfully been recruited into, with 5.00wte Band 6 staff 
within the service and 1.00wte Band 7 to lead on the delivery.  

 Early Help Specialist CAMHS Practitioner– Band 8a 

 Early help CAMHS practitioner – Band 7 

 Schools team Lead – Band 7 

 5x Schools CAMHS Practitioner – Band 6 

 2x Schools CAMHS Practitioner – Band 6 – fixed term expires in March 2018 

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS are also piloting a peer mentoring programme in 6 schools across the area. The model trains staff members 
who will then train year 12 and 13 pupils to mentor their younger peers and offer tier 1 support. This enhances the School Nursing offer of tier 1 and 2 
support. 

Bedford Borough’s Early Help Strategy outlines how we will tailor the right support to meet the needs of families, at the right time and right place. This 
emphasis on early identification and intervention is key for the work we do around Children and Young People’s Mental Health. Bedford Borough is 
committed to working with partners to ensure we are able to offer interventions at the earliest point of identification. We are committed to ensuring our 
workforce is trained in evidenced based interventions to support children and young people. All of our staff are trained in Solution Focus Interventions 
and Protective Behaviours and we have supported the School Project by having a Solution Focus Worker based in every Secondary School for half a 
day a fortnight for two terms a year, we have 2 Staff Members who have completed the diploma in Solution Focus Therapy from the Internationally 
renowned BRIEF Centre for Solution Focused Practice in London. Another key tenet of the Early Help Strategy is integration and we have joined the 
local CYP IAPT Collaborative enabling 4 of our frontline workers to be enrolled in the Enhanced Evidence Based Practice Course learning to deliver 6 
– 8 weeks of CBT Intervention for Children and Young People with low to moderate anxiety and depression. We will continue to look at new and 
innovative ways to work with partners to further enhance the range of interventions that can be undertaken at the earliest point of identification. 
 
Luton has a Stronger Families Early Help team who have within the team two mental health workers working directly with families.  The team provides 
a whole family assessment and plan to address identified complexities. Support includes to manage debt (including rent arrears), housing issues, 
parenting support, emotional wellbeing support, employment advice & support and parental support and counselling.  Families experiencing at least 2 
of 6 following eligibility criteria can use the services: 
 
1.   Parents & young people involved in crime & antisocial behaviour 
2.   Children who have not been attending school regularly 
3.   Children who need help 
4.   Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion, and young people at high risk of worklessness 
5.   Families affected by domestic violence or abuse 
6.   Parents and children with a range of health problems P

age 63
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

41 | P a g e  
 

 
In Central Bedfordshire, the My Life programme is available for children and young people between the ages of 11-18 who have been identified as in 
need of support to maintain healthy relationships, improved self-esteem and who are at risk of teenage pregnancy and poor sexual health. The 
programme consists of 6 x1:1 sessions. Referrals can be made by any professionals working with children and young people across Central 
Bedfordshire. The key outcomes of the programme are: 
 

 a measureable improvement in self-esteem using the Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale (RSES) 10 point Likert scale  

 measurable improvement in the key risk factors for teenage pregnancy  

 an increased awareness of healthy relationships and staying safe (reducing Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) risk, domestic abuse and poor 

sexual health) 

 self-reported improvements in aspirations  

In addition, the school based Aspire programme, commissioned by both Central Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough Councils, addresses health and 
wellbeing and behaviour change for high risk/vulnerable young people aged between 11 and 16 years. The programme uses a range of psychological 
and coaching tools to deliver measurable and sustained outcomes that improve overall health and wellbeing. In the academic year 2016/17, 4 
programmes were delivered in targeted schools across Central Bedfordshire and has demonstrated sustained improvements in levels of: school 
attendance, self-esteem, confidence, aspirations, participation in positive activities and personal well-being. This early intervention programme has 
demonstrated on average, an 85% improvement in self-esteem (using the Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale (RSES) 10 point Likert scale). 
 
Across Bedfordshire early intervention and prevention services are provided by Health Visitors and School Nurses for all children, young people and 
their families, as part of their delivery of The Healthy Child Programmes 0-5 years and 5-19 years. 
 
The Health Visiting service: 

 Provides antenatal care and postnatal parenting programmes which support positive mental health of parents and carers 

 Supports general access to ‘talking therapies’ and parental support 

 Provides assessment of parental mental health needs including maternal mental health at 6/8 weeks 

 Identifies attachment/bonding concerns 

 Delivers health promotion, advice and support 

 Signposts to financial and welfare support 

 Supports breastfeeding promoting secure attachment 

 
 P

age 64
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

42 | P a g e  
 

The School Nursing Service: 
 

 Ensures assessment of health and wellbeing need and early identification of risk factors 

 Advises and supports children and young people and their families 

 Provides health checks to indicate developmental concerns and delays 

 Ensures support for health promotion and change management around issues such as obesity, smoking, drugs and relationship issues and 

sexual health 

 Offers drop ins for years 7 and above (Bedford and Central Bedfordshire only) 

 Offers a triage service enabling those students identified as having an emotional or mental health issue is provided with advice and support in 

collaboration with the school or college and the CAMH workers in school. 

 Offers an emotional wellbeing support pathway of 4-6 visits with onward referral to specialist services or to the school welfare team as required 

(Bedford and Central Bedfordshire only) 

Bedford Borough Council has recently introduced mindfulness yoga for all 12 – 16 year olds. Parents are encouraged to stay and speak with CAMHS 
staff who are available to offer advice & signposting to local services. The progressive sessions are delivered by coaches trained in mental health first 
aid and the focus is on promoting positive mental & physical health. Signposting to other services and support networks is also available.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.3 Our CAMH Services – where we are now 
 
 
 
CAMHS are specialist NHS services offering assessment and treatment when children and young people have emotional, behavioral or mental health 
difficulties. This includes specialist CAMH workers embedded within the YOS and the LAC team.  
The Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMH service model is shown below. 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

43 | P a g e  
 

CAMHS Bedfordshire

Single Point of Entry

Looked After 
Children 

(LAC)

Crisis Team 
(7 days per week)

Triage

Neurodevelop
mental Team:

ASD / LD

Bedford 
Emotional & 

Behavioural Team

Adolescent 
Mental Health 

Team
(AMHT)

Community  
Eating 

Disorder 
Service
(CEDS)

Youth 
Offending 

Service

Central Beds 
Emotional & 

Behavioural Teams

CAMHS Schools 
/ Early Help 
Programme

 
 
  

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

44 | P a g e  
 

The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) offers assessment and help to children, young people and their carer’s and families with 
significant emotional, behavioural, and mental health difficulties. The service assesses, and where possible, finds ways of working with the child or 
young person and those who look after them, in understating and supporting their problems in order to achieve change. The service aim is to provide a 
service that respects the beliefs of those who use our service, being sensitive to their culture, beliefs and gender. 
 
Luton CAMHS organisational chart is given below. 
 

 
 
 
 
All changes to service have been subject to equality impact assessment and quality impact assessments to ensure that services do not discriminate 
against any individuals and services commissioned are clinically effective and capture patient experience and are delivered in safe environments. 
 
 P

age 67
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

45 | P a g e  
 

There were 681 new referrals to the Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS single point of entry in Quarter 4 (Q4 January to March 2016) 
which relates to approximately 56 per week which continue to be processed on a weekly basis with our tier 2 partners (CHUMS). This figure does not 
reflect CHUMS data which averages an additional 40 referrals / week. All referrals are either signposted to other external partner’s dependant on need 
or allocated into the most appropriate team and assigned a clinician on the same day; the clinician will offer a date for an assessment which will be 
included within each appointment letter and issued within 48hrs of the panel taking place.  

There were 316 new referrals to Luton CAMHS in Q4 of which 242 (74%) were accepted in to the service for assessment and 71 signposted to other 
services.  This relates to approximately 20 new cases per week All referrals are either signposted to other external partners dependant on need or 
allocated into the most appropriate team and assigned a clinician on the same day; the clinician will offer a date for an assessment which will be 

included within each appointment letter and issued within 48hrs of the panel taking place.  

Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS are currently targeting the external waiting times in an attempt to ensure service users are offered a 
dedicated intervention within 2 weeks of referral. The scheme has been in operation since March 2017 and aims to:  

 Offer telephone call triage assessment to identify the appropriateness of treatment and intervention   

 Assess the receptiveness of psychoed groups as a first stage of treatment   

 Assess the impact this will have on external waiting lists, assess the impact   

 Assess the impact on DNAs   

 Assess if leads to an increase in patient satisfaction   

The new CAMHS website has been launched and developed in collaboration with service users and includes young people’s testimonials and 
“experience of mental health issues” stories for the new website. Some of the CAMHS clinicians may recommend apps to individuals list of 
recommended apps are being developed on the CAMHS website.  
 
The about “All About Me” profile document supports young people Transitioning into other services. This document contains information about the child 
or young person’s background, their likes and dislikes and avoid repetition of their ‘story’. CAMHS are in the process of getting this made into an app 
with a draft prototype being piloted.  
 

Our local CAMHS provider has rolled out a Hybrid mail which enables staff to send psychical letters straight from their PC. The electronic file is 
automatically sent to a central mail house where it is printed, enveloped and sent by Royal Mail at a fraction of the current processes and postal costs. 
All post is tracked up until the point of postage, the system is compliant with the Trust’s IG regulations and ensure a swift and safer service than 

currently in operation.  Beds CAMHs admin staff have been trained on this new system   

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

46 | P a g e  
 

Our CAMH service is about to pilot a pre-booking system by the admin team to try and increase the numbers of clients seen and it is hoped to develop 
an Automated Text reminders service shortly – we have encountered delays in setting this service up due to data cleansing although are confident this 
has been addressed.  

 
 

Community eating disorder services 
 
A dedicated specialist resource for eating disorders was identified as being needed across Bedfordshire as part of the original gap analysis conducted in 
2015. 
 
A new Eating Disorder Service and pathway has now been established which offers:  
 

 A single service consisting of a core team (cross Trust) supporting and working alongside locally based Eating Disorder service staff to deliver 

most interventions and services locally except where there is a strong imperative to offer an intervention from a central location (e.g. multi-family 

groups).  

 Consultant Psychiatric input, Paediatrician input, a Clinical Nurse Specialist (or Clinical Psychologist) who would also act as team coordinator and 

a Dietician, with a dedicated Administrator and some input from an assistant psychologist to support outcome monitoring. This team would provide 

expertise to support colleagues across the CAMHS system in ensuring effective treatment and support for young people with eating disorders.  

 An emphasis on prevention and early intervention. All team members of the CEDS-CYP contribute to the prevention and early detection 

components of the service model. This includes all roles having dedicated time allocated towards addressing some of the barriers that have been 

identified to early intervention for eating disorders. These barriers include an inadequate understanding of eating disorders, poor recognition of 

risks, poor awareness of local care pathways or eating disorder services, delays in referral to appropriate services and therefore delays in 

treatment and recovery.  

 Partnership working with other agencies across primary care, education, social care and the voluntary sector to develop psycho-education and 

training programmes. These training programmes are delivered across partner agencies and communities in order to increase awareness of 

eating disorders and promote standardised screening tools to ensure symptoms are identified as soon as possible and appropriate intervention 

sought.  

 Interventions for children and young people presenting with moderate and severe presentations of eating disorders including providing 

comprehensive assessments, providing NICE concordant evidence-based interventions, supporting in developing and managing the interface 

with specialist inpatient units, with local paediatric teams and adult teams. 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

47 | P a g e  
 

 
The Community Eating Disorder service (CEDS) are working in line with the National ED targets of 5 days for urgent and 28 days for routine cases, 
and is reviewing the process of Bedfordshire CAMHS SPOE and the management of ED cases to ensure any unnecessary delays are eliminated and 
any ED referral is passed directly to the team upon receipt for screening and appropriate action.  

Staffing into the team is 93% completed. In keeping with NICE guidance, the team have recently completed whole team training for Dialectic 
Behavioural Therapy (DBT) in Family Therapy for the management of Anorexia Nervosa at The Maudsley Hospital. The team has now increased 
Dietician input in to the team who will facilitate more collaborative working with Consultant Paediatricians within the acute Trusts.   
 
The Eating disorder service provider, ‘Caraline’ has also been commissioned to provide support and intervention to ensure young people are supported 
in their transition to adult services thereby reducing potential of increased vulnerability to eating disorders and other mental health conditions and 
associated risk into adulthood.  
 
Caraline provide group support to people with an eating disorder and their families and Intensive support for the person with an eating disorder in their 
own home or community setting. 
 
The Bedfordshire target with a baseline of 12.8% of the population in treatment in 2016/17, is to get to 19.6% in 2017/18 and 27.3% in 2018/19. 
ELFT are in the process of refreshing the Beds data to exclude Tier 2 (CHUMS activity) and this will increase numbers in treatment significantly reflecting 
the true value. 
 

 
Perinatal mental health service  
 
A common theme across all three JSNAs’ and Early Help Strategies across the three unitaries recommends the importance of ensuring excellent maternal 
mental health by: 
 
• Identifying women with poor mental health through antenatal and postnatal maternal mood assessments 
• Ensuring that the ante- and postnatal pathways for maternal mental health are followed and women have access to high quality and timely support 

for mental health illness 
 
The documents also highlight the importance of parenting support to improve parental mental health.   
 
Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS have secured funding via the transformation funds to appoint a 1.00wte targeted Perinatal Infant 
Psychotherapist; this post is currently out to advert again due to poor response in the first round of adverts. This post will work in partnership with local P

age 70
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

48 | P a g e  
 

services to enhance existing maternal, perinatal and early years health services, support parenting programmes to strengthen attachment between parent 
and child, avoid early trauma and build resilience to improve behaviour by ensuring parents have access to evidence-based programmes of intervention 
and support. A detailed perinatal pathway has been developed and is being agreed by all parties. 
 
Workforce development is key to ensure professionals working with women during the perinatal period are aware of the impact of mental illness and are 
able to identify women who need support as early as possible.  

 A two-day Perinatal and Infant Mental Health Champions Training event was held for 20 multi agency staff in 2017.  Plans are in place to cascade 

one-day awareness training to upskill health visitors, midwives, social workers and children’s centre staff. 

 A number of staff across Bedfordshire, representing mental health services, children’s centres and health visiting, have accessed the NHS 

England regional Perinatal Mental Health training programmes. 

Developing local pathways has been a key priority to enable all professionals to better understand available services and make appropriate referrals 
across Bedfordshire. Pathways have been developed and finalised across community, in-patient and crisis services.   
 

 
Crisis Care Services 
 
The Crisis service has 5.00wte out of the 6.00wte funded posts for the countywide CAMHS A&E Liaison crisis response service covering Bedfordshire. 
A pathway has been developed and there is now an opportunity to consider reviewing extended hours of operation to meet the needs of CYP in crisis. 
The service is staffed with Registered Mental Health Nurses who are skilled provide rapid face to face mental health crisis assessment to any young 
person presenting in mental health crisis at the local acute hospital (Luton and Dunstable and / or Bedford General Hospital) between 09.00 – 19.00hrs 
weekdays and 10.00 – 14.00hrs on weekends.  

ELFT have worked closely with Bedford General Hospital to establish a training programme for front line staff including:  

 General signs and symptoms of Mental health   

 Management of self-harm   

 Management of Eating Disorder   

 Legal aspects of the Mental Health Act   

We have also identified dedicated work space for our CAMHS A&E Liaison staff to base themselves from the hospital; this will enable them to develop 

stronger working links with acute staff and to provide direct consultation / management to frontline complex cases where support is needed on the 

paediatric wards.   P
age 71

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

49 | P a g e  
 

The Crisis Care concordat and the Bedfordshire action plan to deliver its goals inform this work. A pilot street triage service has been operational across 
Bedfordshire. The pilot has been extended for 3 months to completed further work on benefits, to complete contract negotiations and decide on extension 
of provision.  
 

 
The Mental Health Street Triage pilot, responded to 38, 999 calls in the last 12 months, where a person under the age of 18 had self-harmed or 
was attempting suicide. Street Triage Partners have agreed to extend the service until 31st March 2018, with active discussions taking place regarding 
how the Service can continue from 1st April 2018. Mental Health Street Triage is seen as a key part of the mental health crisis care pathway, therefore 
is part of the mental health crisis care review. 
 

 

Vulnerable groups and inequalities  

 
Our Youth Offending Service has embedding dedicated provision to meet the emotional and mental health needs of its service user group in line with 
the multi-agency model introduced in 2000 nationally. Bedford and Central Bedfordshire YOS (covering Central Beds and Bedford Borough) has a 
seconded Mental Health Nurse which demonstrates the meeting of the recommendation from Future in Mind (DOH 2015) to have mental health 
practitioners in teams responsible for groups of vulnerable children and young people. 
 
A multidisciplinary team assesses ASD in preschool age group, involving a Paediatrician, the Early Years Support Team and a Speech and Language 
Therapist. For over 11 yr olds, a Paediatrician and Clinical Psychologist is involved and those which present with complex needs, are assessed using 
advanced diagnostic investigations such as ADOS (Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule) and 3Di (Developmental, Dimensional and Diagnostic 
interview). Referrals are made to CAMHS in case of children and young people with moderate to severe mental health problems. 
 
A Clinical Psychologist has been appointed within the Child Development Centre (CDC) who will be contributing to the assessment process for children 
and young people referred to the CDC who are suspected to have Autistic Spectrum Disorder. The CP will also provide some short-term post 
diagnostic intervention and work closely with the Neurodevelopmental Team (NDT).The nursing staff at the Child Development Centre also run 
Behaviour and Sleep workshops for parents and carers. The CAMHS NDT of the Bedford Borough CAMHS has delivered parent training sessions for 
children and young people with ASD.  

In line with NICE recommendations, a local autism multi-agency Strategy Group is established with managerial, commissioning and clinical 
representation from child health and mental health services, education, social care, parent and carer service users and the voluntary sector to oversee 
the development and implementation of the ASD pathway across Bedfordshire  
. 
 
 P

age 72
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

50 | P a g e  
 

The aims of the Group include: 
 
• Improving early recognition of autism by raising awareness of the signs and symptoms of autism through multi-agency training. 
• Ensuring that relevant professionals are aware of the local autism pathway and how to access diagnostic services. 
• Supporting the smooth transition of young people with ASD to adult services. 
• Ensuring that data collection / regular monitoring and audit of the pathway takes place. 
• Ensuring that the pathway meets local need and national statutory requirements.  
• Identifying any risks regarding service delivery, workforce capacity, standards of care and financial implications for the implementation of the 

pathway. 
• Engaging service users and stakeholders’ views about the development and audit of the pathway. 
• In Luton, the community paediatric team has 2 clinicians carrying out ADOS together and this does mean intense resources.  

The autism pathway is underway to ensure all referrals have input from the child’s school at the beginning. The aim of the pathway is to ensure that 
referrals will only be accepted from schools with appropriate supporting information. 
 

The specialist LAC team had 29 referrals for Quarter 1 2017 and 14 who were admitted to appropriate adolescent in-patient Tier 4 services during 
Q1 of which 1 was into a specialist eating disorder units. 256 looked after children and young people are currently receiving services in a variety of 
settings including CAMHS clinics, schools or home.  Dependant on individual needs appointments were either face to face, telephone, consultation with 
other professionals, i.e. school, social care. 

 
‘Meeting the mental health needs of looked after children and care leavers: a protocol for the East of England Clinical Network’ area was published in 
April 2017xv. The protocol aims to achieve the elimination of the variation in practice and the delay and harm that can cause to looked after children and 
care leavers and all LSCBs have signed up to the protocol across the Eastern Region. It also aims to ensure children and young people have 
consistent, fair, open access to the local core service offer in whichever part of the East of England they live or present in.  
 
The variation in practice also causes confusion among operational staff from the mental health providers, Local Authorities, and commissioners which 
can exacerbate the delay and harm to children and young people and damage effective working relationships between staff and organisations.  

 
The protocol makes a pledge to looked after children and care leavers as follows: 
 

1. If your mental wellbeing deteriorates and you need a mental health assessment and some support or treatment, you will be able to access the 

‘local offer’ of the area you are in without delay or obstruction – irrespective of your looked after status or which area you lived in when you were 

first brought you into care. P
age 73

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

51 | P a g e  
 

2. If the service that assesses your mental health thinks that you need some support and treatment, it will get on with delivering that to you straight 

away (in line with the waiting time standards that apply in your area).  

3. The service that treats you may have the right to reclaim the cost of the treatment it provides to you from the CCG you lived in when you first 

became looked after. However, any process to seek that funding (and whether it is successful or not) will not delay or prevent you from 

receiving care and treatment – as long as that care and treatment is something which is part of the commissioned service offer of the area you 

are in. 

4. Mental health services, Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local Authorities will not argue about the ‘price’ to be charged for your treatment 

and care. To avoid any arguments, we agree to charge/pay each other in line with the East of England standardised CAMHS Out of Area (OoA) 

Assessment & Treatment Agreement and standardised tariff (Appendix 1). We will comply fully with the relevant government guidance, which is 

known as Who Pays? Determining responsibility for payments to providers                                                             

5. If there is any doubt regarding whether this protocol applies to you, our services and commissioners will assume it does apply, if by doing so 

you are likely to receive better, faster care and treatment.  

 
 
When BME young people are referred into CAMHS it is usually not through the GP and can often occur when they are in crisis.  A recent local study In 
Bedford Emotional Behavioural Team observed that engagement with BME young people was more likely to take place in settings outside of the 
CAMHS clinic than in clinic.  Two main themes were identified from the study as potential barriers to accessing CAMHS.  Firstly, how ethnicity mis-
match between client and therapist may impact on young people accessing mental health services.  The second theme to develop was the impact of 
stigma on BME communities, linked to lack of awareness of mental illness and the awareness of mental health services within those communities. 
Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS are currently undertaking a further piece of work to address these issue via a Quality Improvement project 
which includes specific focus groups with our young people and families to help address these issues locally. 
 
Inequalities are also addressed by ensuring all children and young people have equal access through early help and the schools team at universal 
level. The Single Point of Access ensures support is identified according to need using a risk based approach. The engagement plan will ensure that 
children and their families who are harder to reach or from deprived backgrounds are consulted to ensure our services meet their needs.  
 
An equality impact assessment has also been completed for the Future in Mind work and this can be found at appendix B  
 

Forensic CAMH services 

Secure adolescent in-patient mental health provision represents a highly specialist resource which forms part of a range of universal, specialist and 

highly specialist services for children and young people. We recognise that action is needed to address gaps in provision and to ensure that children 

and young people with complex forensic mental health needs have access to appropriate community based services in addition to the existing network P
age 74

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjI_5Da47_SAhXKIsAKHX8lDNQQFggaMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.england.nhs.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2014%2F05%2Fwho-pays.pdf&usg=AFQjCNE2aoCN4M-1HINct7JyAzadJUesWA&bvm=bv.148747831,d.ZGg


Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

52 | P a g e  
 

of medium secure in-patient units, local tier 3 CAMHS and other therapeutic services. In our ‘future plans’ section, we have detailed our developments 

in this area. 

 

Early Intervention in Psychosis service 
 
A 14 plus service is now available in Bedfordshire and there are plans to extend this to an all age service. Bedfordshire Early Intervention in Psychosis 
Service (provided by Bedfordshire Mental Health and Wellbeing Trust, ELFT) offers a multi-disciplinary approach. The service offers: 
 

 

 assessment and start treatment if appropriate within two weeks of referral 

 Care Coordinated NICE compliant package of care 

 a service for three years in line with “critical period” research 

 NICE-recommended treatment (from both internal and external sources 

A one year treatment service for CYP who fall into the category of being “At Risk Mental State” (ARMS) is also available across Bedfordshire. This 
service offers 

 

 Assessment and start treatment if accepted into service within two weeks of referral. 

 A Care Coordinated NICE compliant package of care to service users. 

 A service for one year but transfer people into the three-year service should patients “transition” to a clear psychotic episode. 

To aid referral decisions, ARMS is defined as: 

 Vulnerability group: People with a history of psychosis in a first degree relative and a drop in levels of expected social functioning in the last 

year.   

 Attenuated psychotic symptoms group: subthreshold psychotic symptoms which are not severe or frequent enough to reach threshold levels for 

psychosis.  

 Brief Limited Intermittent Psychotic (BLIP) group:  a recent episode of clear psychotic symptoms which resolved spontaneously without 

antipsychotic medication within one week.  

 

The service aims to identify those experiencing psychosis as early as possible and to offer timely evidence-based care and treatment in order to reduce 
likelihood of transition for those “at risk” and to reduce the “duration of untreated psychosis” for those who are already experiencing clear psychotic P

age 75
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

53 | P a g e  
 

symptoms.   The time between onset of symptoms to their treatment is important as quicker intervention is associated with improved personal and 
social outcomes.   
 
For this reason, it is also an important part of our role to raise awareness about psychosis to ensure early access to treatment and to challenge stigma.  
Training professionals to recognise psychosis early is one important part of this process.  
 
 

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

54 | P a g e  
 

 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

55 | P a g e  
 

  
 
 
In response to the recommendation of the Mental Health Taskforce, NHS England has committed to ensuring that, by 2020/21, the standard will be 
extended to reach at least 60% of people experiencing first episode psychosis. The graph below shows that since January 2017, this target has been 
exceeded for the Bedfordshire and Luton area. 
 

 
Graph 2 

  

NHS 

August

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - Summary SCW

Home

Summary

Waiting Times

Guidance

Timetable May

April

July

June

2017-18

-

-March

February

January

Please Select Year 

Showing information for NHS BEDFORDSHIRE CCG, to change CCG please return to Home page.

-

-

69.23%

100.00%

90.00%

100.00%

90.00%

87.50%

-

-

December

November

October

September

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16 Oct 16 Nov 16 Dec 16 Jan 17 Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17

%
 P

eo
pl

e 
Se

en
 <

2 
W

ee
ks

 (E
.H

.4
) 

People experiencing a first episode of psychosis (E.H.4) being treated with a 
NICE recommended care package within two weeks of referral

EIP pathways completed this month EIP Pathways Completed Within 2 Weeks CCG Performance Target (>50%)

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

56 | P a g e  
 

 
 

7.4 CYP IAPT where we are now 
 
 
Bedfordshire are part of an existing Children and Young People Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) Collaborative (Oxford and 
Reading).  The Collaborative has developed a support programme to meet the challenge of embedding the principles of CYP IAPT into CAMHS services.  
The programme includes training, site visits and development days through the University of Reading.  Our local CAMHS provider has named CYP IAPT 
leads in both Bedfordshire.  The leads are fully engaged with the Collaborative and as a result of this, a number of staff have already accessed training 
to deliver evidence based practice and are routinely using outcome measures in the care they provide. Both CCG’s have re-procured our CAMHS services 
based on the principles of CYP- IAPT throughout all areas. The provider in partnership with the CCG’s is reviewing those services currently utilising the 
IAPT model to assure compliance with the standards to engage all children and young people in developing their own goals and outcomes. 
 
In Luton, IAPT services will form part of the newly awarded contract for wellbeing services, and as this progresses CYP IAPT will be developed as part 
of this.  
                   
Bedfordshire CAMHS have commenced the CYP-IAPT supervisor training for Systemic Family Practice and parent training respectively. The course 
runs for one year and will equip two of our CAMHS provider staff with the latest evidence based clinical supervision training to support current / future 
trainees and cascade and embed learning to substantive staff within the service.  

Bedfordshire CAMHS also have funding for a parent trainee post for a two-year period. CAMHS have worked closely with our Early Help colleagues in 
Bedford Borough to identify 4 staff to undertake the Enhanced Evidenced Based Practice (EEBP) modules via the IAPT training centre; these trainees 
will receive clinical supervision from CAMHS clinicians. We are also working with the UCL to arrange on-site IAPT based training to train 15 of our 
CAMHs staff in the Enhanced Supervision training; this will ensure we can sustain supervision requirements to our partner agents moving forward.  

Since joining the CYP IAPT Collaborative in 2016 a total of 5 staff have signed up for CYP IAPT training in various modalities/routes – 3 in progress of 
completion, 2 withdrawn. 2 applications and 1 expression of interest have been received for upcoming 2017/19 CYP IAPT trainings. The new 
Workforce Initiative covers the Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner programme (CWP) and The Recruit to Train programme (RTT) with the aim of 
increasing mental health workforce capacity by training 1700 new staff in Evidence Based treatments by 2020 offering support to 70k more children 
and young people. 4 staff from Bedfordshire CHUMS are currently training in the CWP 1 Year Certificate that started in April 2017 .2 Recruit to Train 
staff are currently training on the 2 year Postgraduate Diploma in CYP IAPT Therapy Parent Training modality.  

 

 P
age 79

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

57 | P a g e  
 

 

7.5 Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs where we are now 
 
  
 
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) health and care communities have come together to formulate a Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
(STP),as part of a national drive to improve health and well-being, care quality, and affordability across the NHS. The BLMK STP is one of 44 health 
and care ‘footprints’ in England, bringing organisations together to develop plans to support the delivery of the NHS Five Year Forward View. 
  
All 44 STPs submitted an initial draft plan on 30 June 2016. This has been developed further over recent months and an updated plan will be shared 
with NHS England by 21 October. These draft plans explore ideas and possibilities for transformational change to support improved health and well-
being, service quality and affordability. Engagement will stakeholders around the draft plans will take place following the October submission. 
 
Mental Health services across Bedfordshire and Luton CCG areas are commissioning using an outcome based model. The contract is monitored on 
this basis.  
 
A CAMHS Tier 4 (Inpatient Care) – Place Based/Collaborative Commissioning Framework/Agreement for the East of England is in development which 
includes Bedfordshire/Luton. The agreement relates to Clinical Commissioning Groups, Local Authorities in the East of England Clinical Network area 
and NHS England’s Specialised Commissioning Team (Midlands & East). 
 The aims and objectives are as follows: 
Aim 

 To jointly commission high quality, seamless pathways for those children and young people who may require inpatient care 

 To meet the requirement that a Place Based or Collaborative Commissioning Agreement regarding CAMHS Tier 4 is co-produced and signed off by 

CCGs, Local Authorities and NHS England’s Specialised Commissioning 

 To comply with the NHS England (NHSE) published guidance - Place-Based Commissioning of Specialised Services: Implementation through 

STPs (NHSE, March 2017)LINK in here 

  

P
age 80

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

58 | P a g e  
 

Objectives 
 

1. Ensure pathways (including admission and discharge planning) are quality reviewed and audited regularly, and lessons learned are put into 
practice 

2. Keep the number of admissions at or below an ‘ideal’ level per 100k of population in each area 

3. Ensure average lengths of stay are consistently in line with good practice 

4. Eliminate inappropriate admissions 

5. Develop/incentivise admission avoidance schemes/programmes  

6. Ensure that a minimum % of CYP from our area who need inpatient beds receive their treatment close to home – reducing the number of CYP 
placed ‘out of area’  

7. Keep re-admission rates at or below optimal levels 

8. A longer term objective is to see a reduction in T4 beds 

 
The specific gaps and weaknesses we want our Framework/Agreement to address are: 
 
1. Pathways for some of those CYP who need CAMHS Tier 4 inpatient stays (some of our most vulnerable CYP) are fragmented – delivered by a 

range of providers who work to separate contracts, KPIs and who are performance managed by a range of different commissioning bodies.  
2. Joint review and improvement activity for CYP who need CAMHS Tier 4 inpatient stays is limited at an operational lead commissioning level – i.e. 

between those leading CAMHS related commissioning for LAs, CCGs and NHSE Specialised Commissioning.  
3. It is difficult for CCGs and LAs to understand when/if their community services are using Tier 4 beds appropriately, as information about relative use 

of Tier 4 and outcomes by CCG is not shared and discussed jointly with operational commissioning leads across the East of England. 
4. Processes to share and jointly review activity and performance data or quality, safety and outcome data vary across the East of England footprint.  

Some CCG commissioning leads meet with NHSE Specialised Commissioning monthly to review activity and quality information, whereas others 
meet less frequently. Local Authorities typically do not attend such meetings.  

5. There are no formal initiatives in place in the East of England (EoE) to incentivise the development of intensive community provision to avoid or 
minimise inpatient stays, via for example risk share agreements.  

 

A task and finish group has also been set up to review inpatient provision need and demand and development of place based solutions across the STP 

footprint.  P
age 81

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

59 | P a g e  
 

        Current providers ELFT are exploring opportunities and preparing a business case for options around developing local Tier 4 inpatient provision 

as this has been identified as a gap. This will take into account learning and recommendations from Vanguard sites delivering new Models of Care and 

shared with NHS England.  

In addition,       
A project manager has been identified within BCCG  Children’s commissioning team  to review  the out of area repatriation work which links very 
strongly to the impact of Children and young people with complex behavioural  challenges that are currently causing significant resource pressures on 
the health and social care economy . 
The products to be delivered are: 
•           Options paper for joint commissioning across CCG/ Social care for residential placements in county. 
•           Scoping LD/ ASD/ MH services, quality and pathways 
•           Involvement in Joint Market position statement (including market testing events and expression of interest) 
•           Service specification development 
•           Bid preparation for CYP – Transforming care. 
•           CETR processes developed and robust 
 
In Luton: 

 A new ASD pathway is in development with clear responsibilities for medical paediatrics and CAMH with transition to adult services clearly stated 

 CAMH specification has been reviewed and updated.  Capacity of medical paediatrics and therapies have been reviewed as part of service 

development to improve diagnosis and access to services 

 A review is underway of transitions to adult services for children with learning difficulties 

  

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

60 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

7.6 Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough Councils where we are now 
 
 
 
The Bedford, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Local Authorities commission universal services provided by Health Visitors and School Nurses for all 
children, young people and their families, as part of their delivery of The Healthy Child Programmes 0-5 years and 5-19 years. Health Visitors provide 
antenatal care and postnatal parenting programmes which support positive mental health of parents and carers. The School Nursing Service offers a 
triage service enabling those students identified as having an emotional or mental health issue support in collaboration with the school or college and 
the CAMH workers in school. It also offers an emotional wellbeing support pathway of 4-6 visits with onward referral to specialist services or to the 
school welfare team as required. 
 
Partners from Central Bedfordshire Council Children’s Trust Board met five times between September 2016 and January 2017 to consider available 
published evidence on effective interventions, evidence from existing services for children and young people who are striving to improve emotional 
wellbeing and children across Central Bedfordshire. The partnership group then used this evidence to develop a partnership action plan to improve the 
lives of children across the developmental stages in their lives. 
 
 
The action plan was developed from the input from services commissioned by Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, Central Bedfordshire Children 
Services, Public Health, Schools, children and their families, Early year’s services and provision, CAMHS service, adult services to support transitions, 
youth services, leisure services and the voluntary sector. 
 
The action plan takes an approach to: 
 

• Improving access to professional support when our children are feeling vulnerable 
• Increasing expertise in all front line staff, who work with children to detect early signs of emotional distress 
• Building resilience in the community, including parents 

 

In addition, an online and Facebook resource has been set up for schools in Central Bedfordshire enabling access up to date information, resources and 
training opportunities relating to Emotional wellbeing, as part of their whole school approach to promoting the health and wellbeing if students and staff 
and as part of their PSHE provision. 

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

61 | P a g e  
 

The vision of the draft Central Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Plan 2017- 2019 is that every child in Central Bedfordshire to enjoy their 

childhood and have the best possible start in life. We want every child to reach their potential, make friends and build strong relationships with their 

family. As young adults, we want every young person to have the knowledge, skills and qualifications that will give them the best chance of success, so 

that they are prepared to take their full place in society as a healthy, happy, contributing and confident citizen. One of the 3 ‘obsessions for the Plan is 

improving emotional health, wellbeing and resilience.  

The refreshed Bedford Borough Children, Young People and Their Families Plan, 2016 to 2020 brings together in one place the key aims of the local 
plans, strategies and partnership groups that are focused on improving the health and wellbeing for Children, Young people and their Families. The plan 
builds upon the progress made over the life of the previous plan, and sets out a shared vision for the next phase “To give all children and young people, 
including those with SEND, firm foundations in life, through a strong network of family, carers, friends, schools and wider communities, with the earliest 
support and best education that can be offered throughout their lifetime” 
 
The Plan focuses on three priorities for the Council and its partners: Thriving Families, Good Health and Wellbeing, and High Aspirations and 
Achievement. Key actions, targets and outcomes are set out for each priority wellbeing of children and young people. 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 84

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

62 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

8.1 The future for our priority areas 
  
 
Going forwards Bedfordshire and Luton Commissioning Group have developed a commissioning plan, built on the national policy and priorities set out 
in the NHS England Five Year Forward View and Right Care, which sets out potential action areas, including those relating to CAMHS. We will 
continue to align our future actions to the 2017/18 MH5YFV targets as follows:  
 

 Improve access and quality of Children & Young Peoples Mental Health services, with at least 30% (2017/18), 32% (2018/19), 34% 

(2019/20), 35% (2020/21) of CYP 

 By 2020/21, evidence-based community eating disorder services for children and young people will be in place in all areas, ensuring 

that 95% of children in need 

 Implement locally led transformation plans for children and young people’s mental health, which improve prevention and early 

intervention activity, and be on track to deliver national coverage of the children and young people’s Improving Access to Psychological 

Therapies (IAPT) programme by 2018. 

 NHS England will fund 150-180 new CAMHS Tier 4 specialist inpatient beds in underserved parts of the country to reduce travel 

distances for treatment 

 Better mental health care for new and expectant mothers – 4 new units. Boost bed numbers in current 15 units by 49%. Treat 9,000 

more women by 18/19 

 To support at least 30,000 additional women each year to access evidence-based specialist perinatal mental health treatment. (2000 by 

2017/18, 8000 by 2018/19, 20,000 by 2019/20, 30,000 by 2020/21) 

 

8. Our future priorities and plans 
  

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

63 | P a g e  
 

Over the following 3 years 2017-2020, work will focus on transforming other parts of existing services to the new model, continuing to embed the new 
model, relocating resources from specialist to early identification and intervention to reduce numbers of children and young people being admitted for 
Self-harm and maintain all waiting lists at manageable levels. Work will also ensure that services delivered adapt to the changing demographics and local 
needs and monitor performance to ensure investment is appropriate.    
 
Our priority areas for 2017 to 2020 will continue to be: 

 
 
Bedfordshire have set up a number of implementation groups to drive progress and to report into the overarching Steering Group. Action plans are 
utilised for many of the project areas, showing current and planned activity and KPIs. These are appended to this document at appendix C.    
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Early Help and Schools

Vulnerable Groups

CYP IAPT

Developing the workforce

Perinatal Mental Health

Eating disorders

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

64 | P a g e  
 

 

8.2 Additional plans for the future 
 

 

Suicide Prevention 
 
In response to the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health which called for local areas to have a multi-agency suicide prevention plan,  
BCCG, LCCG, Central Bedfordshire and Bedford and Luton Borough Councils have developed a suicide prevention strategy in partnership with other 
key agencies. This plan ensures that suicide prevention is a key part of the MH Crisis Care work. 
The strategy has been produced by the Bedfordshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group, and sets out the regional approach to suicide prevention over 
the next three years. The Suicide Prevention Steering Group reports into the Bedfordshire Crisis Care Concordat, which in turn reports into the Health 
and Wellbeing Boards for Bedford Borough Council, Central Bedfordshire Council, and Luton Borough Council.  
 
The suicide prevention programme ambition is zero suicides across Bedfordshire and the objectives to achieve this aim are as follows: 
 
 

 Reduce the number of suicides by 10%, by 2020/21 

 Publish a Three-Year Suicide Prevention Strategy 

 Establish a multi-agency suicide prevention group 

 Build a wider network of partners and individuals to engage in suicide prevention 

 Actively involve people who have been affected by suicide in strategy development and action planning 

 Reduce self-harm rates in Bedfordshire 

 Improve patient experience of health services during a mental health crisis 

 Improved support for those bereaved by suicide 

 
 
 

 
 P

age 87
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

65 | P a g e  
 

Forensic CAMHS  
 
Commissioning arrangements for FCAMHs varies widely nationally resulting in the lack of comprehensive geographical coverage of specialist FCAMH 
services in England and Scotland. Large areas of England and Scotland do not have access to the specialist skills of a community FCAMH team with a 
specified catchment. This necessitates the engagement of a ‘spot-purchased’ intervention from a team which can be remote to the local environment 
and services. Such input on a case-by- case basis is frequently expensive and may be provided by services who are geographically remote and who 
cannot participate in local service development. This can result in consequent lack of service development by local clinicians and agencies which might 
be of greater benefit to young people and their families. 
Action is needed locally to address gaps in provision and to ensure that children and young people with complex forensic mental health needs have 
access to appropriate community based services in addition to the existing network of medium secure in-patient units, local tier 3 CAMHS and other 
therapeutic provision. Even in situations where local Tier 3 CAMHS currently provides liaison to YOTs or where MST pilot sites target families of high risk 
young people for intensive intervention, there still remains a need for community FCAMHS to supplement such provision.  
Currently bids are being reviewed by Specialist commissioning teams to provide models of care to provide specialist FCAMHs support. Once these 
providers have been confirmed local pathways will be strengthened to improve joint working between CAMHs/ YOS / Youth offending institutes and 
secure estates. Partnership discussions with Local authorities (Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough Council)  are reviewing 
strategies related to  SEND, out of area placements and Transforming Care to ensure alignment of these work streams. 
 
 

Transitions 
 
The recommendations from the work on improving transitions include the following: 

 To ensure Partnership working with Central Bedfordshire Council support early intervention and preventative work with schools (parent 

involvement via schools). And with clinical advice and support from NHS services 

 To develop a school transitions toolkit 

 To ensure transitions are part of the EHCP process for children with SEND. 

The recommendations are informing policies as well as commissioning arrangements for the future. 
 

Police and crime act. 
 
 - Review the new guidance due out to scope the impact on: 
·        Availability of suitable S136 provision for U18’s 
·        Impact on A+E 
·        Reduction in detention powers from 72 hours to 24 hours P

age 88
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

66 | P a g e  
 

·        Availability of Tier 4 beds within 24 hours 
·         Availability of S12 doctors (including regulation of S12 doctors and quality assurance measures) 
·        Availability of AHMPS 
 

CQC thematic review of mental health services in Bedford Borough  
 
A thematic review was conducted by the CQC of mental health services across Bedford Borough in September 2017. The aim of the review was to 
document current knowledge about what worked and what did not work, along with enablers and barriers to good practice and the impact of current 
approaches on young people and their families. Overall the services were deemed to be good. Where gaps had been identified, partners were working 
towards closing them particularly regarding transitions, BME and third sector involvement.  ELFT was delivering on their service and thinking about how 
it could be improved in the future.  
 
The gaps in service were identified as follows: 
 

 The need for a floating assessment/support service using the CAMHS school worker into the CHUMS service, as CAMHS schools workers could 

also undertake assessments. 

 Some discrepancies had been identified between CHUMS and CAMHS in terms of how they reached out to service users and some 

disconnections between the two.   

 The location of CHUMS in Silsoe also proved to be a challenge for some service users in the borough of Bedford. 

 Hard to reach groups including LGBTQ had identified gaps whereby staff did not appear to be aware of what was available locally with no specialist 

support available.   

 GP’s did not appear to be engaged with the whole mental health referral system, and were sometimes given advice which contradicted schools 

and CAMHS. 

  
The results of the review will be taken into account in the future planning and development of services across Bedfordshire. Transgender training for staff 
has been already been arranged and the Bedfordshire sexual health service ICASH had recently appointed a designated worker for clients requiring 
specialist support regarding LGBTQ issues 
 
 
 

  
 P

age 89
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

67 | P a g e  
 

 
 
8.3 Sustaining our workforce beyond 2020 
 
  
 
We recognise that it is crucial to continue to develop our CYP mental Health workforce. We need to place more emphasis on CYP IAPT and we are 
discussing the longer term sustainability of the IAPT trained workforce. Our CAMH provider has highlighted that capacity issues are a significant concern 
in order to meet the growing trajectory.  ELFT is trying to maximise the current system, including support from schools in order to prevent upstream. This 
includes working collaboratively to establish individual baseline capacity and monitor waiting times and referrals lists based on need and risk 
assessments. Moving forward ELFT will be arranging to meet all tier 2 colleagues with a view to reviewing existing caseloads and current pathways to 
create additional capacity across the system.  
 
In Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS there are a total clinical workforce headcount of 70 staff, all of whom are registered with professional bodies 
and skilled to deliver evidenced based therapy. In addition to mandatory staff training requirements all staff are supported to continue to develop their 
professional development, this is undertaken through a variety of means including; supporting external training courses, service wide regular CPD 
sessions (sharing skills across all teams), quarterly quality half days to focus on current themes or trends and developing training needs analysis within 
each team at regular team away days. Bedford and Central Bedfordshire CAMHS have currently invested in on site DBT training to upskill the workforce 
with a view to establishing a DBT pathway across the service. 
 
Plans are in place to cascade one-day perinatal mental health awareness training to upskill health visitors, midwives, social workers and children’s centre 
staff. 
 
NHS England has set a trajectory which aims to achieve at least 32% access within the expected prevalence of common mental health conditions by 
2018/19, rising further to 35% by 2020/21.  

 
In Bedford and Central Bedfordshire, both ELFT and CHUMS deliver CAMHS, and jointly the two providers have achieved a high rate of access. Therefore 
a local trajectory to meet the 2020/21 target is proposed, as shown in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 P

age 90
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

68 | P a g e  
 

Objective 
 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

National Target 
 

28% 30% 32% 34% 35% 

Local Target (percentage) 
 

28% 
31% 32.5% 34% 35% 

Local Target (number) 2,110 (actual performance = 
30%) 

2,190 2,296 2,402 2,473 

Additional CYP against current 
baseline  
 

- 
80 186 292 363 

 
In Luton, access has historically been significantly below the national target of 25%. Therefore, the trajectory set is very steep. The targets for 2017-19 
and 2018-19 are based on current population/prevalence so do not account for predicted population growth. Annual numbers receiving treatment will 
rise from 692 CYP in 2016/17 to 1,920 in 2020/21 – an increase of more than 175%.  

 

Objective  2016/17  
 

2017/18  
2018/19  

 

2019/20  

 

2020/21  

National Target  28%  

 

30%  

  

32%  

 

34%  

  

 

35%  

  

Local Target (percentage)  12.7%  17.9%  24.8%  31.2%  35%  

Local Target (number)  692  
 

980  
1,360  

 

1,646  

 

1,920  

Additional CYP against baseline  -  
  

288  
668  

 

954  

 

1,2  

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

69 | P a g e  
 

   
 
In Luton, the following estimated staffing requirements and costs in each year up to 2020/21. The posts will be at a mixture of bandings to reflect the 
service’s management needs and availability of suitable candidates. 

Cumulative Total for year:  Additional CYP in treatment  Additional Therapists  Total Additional Staff  

2017/18  
 

288  

 

6.9  
11.2  

2018/19  668  15.9  26.0  

2019/20  954  22.8  37.1  

2020/21  
 

1,228  

 

29.3  
47.8  

 
 
In Bedford and Central Bedfordshire the following are estimated staffing requirements and costs in each year up to 2020/21. The posts will be at a mixture 
of bandings to reflect the service’s management needs and availability of suitable candidates. 

 

Cumulative Total for year: Additional CYP in treatment  
Additional  
Therapists 

Total Additional 
Staff 

2017/18 
 80 1.9 3.1 

2018/19 
 186 4.4 7.2 

2019/20 
 292 7.0 11.4 

2020/21 
 363 8.7 14.1 

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

70 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 
Further details of the workforce trajectories are set out in the confidential Bedfordshire proposals to meet National access targets for  
CAMHS  
A high- level workforce strategy has also been drafted and is currently under development with key partners across the system. This can be found at 
appendix D 
 

Workforce development CYP IAPT 
  
The following goals for improving the CYP IAPT project were identified in the most recent Quarterly Monitoring submission.  

 The IT infrastructure requires improvement to enable sufficient access to the data and data quality  updates  

 A and E liaison training programmes needs to be developed in Luton.  

 Training - ELFT has put in a business plan to BCCG and LCCG to upskill frontline education staff and foster carers. To consider bidding for 
additional CWP places in Luton 

 To organise a meeting between social care (Family Safeguarding Model, and Troubled Families) and psychology to support their work 

 To consider the sustainability of Children’s Wellbeing Practitioners 

 Get CYP IAPT involved in ELFT projects on capacity and demand and BME   

These improvements are being addressed as part of the ongoing work with the regional collaborative. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 P

age 93
A

genda Item
 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

71 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

 
Within the Bedfordshire and Luton joint commissioning arrangements, each individual CCG will remain accountable for meeting their own statutory duties, 
for instance in relation to quality, financial resources, equality, health inequalities and public participation. To ensure effective decision-making 
arrangements are established within a robust joint governance structure. 

 
An overarching multi-organisational Transformation Steering Group has been established. This includes representation from BCCG and LCCG 
Commissioners, Children and Maternity Services, Clinicians, Local Authorities, Quality, Parent carers, Finance, Education and Hospitals. The group 
oversees the delivery and implementation of the transformation plan and monitors progress against predetermined targets. The aim of the Steering 
group is that Bedfordshire children and young people’s outcomes will be improved through the implementation of an integrated response to their mental 
health and wellbeing needs as identified in the Bedfordshire Local Transformation Plan; focussing on the priorities within the LTP. A risk log is 
maintained as well as a reporting form to ensure projects are driven forwards. 

 
 Below the Transformation Steering Group are a number of small working groups to support delivery. 

 
 This Steering Group reports to the Luton and Bedfordshire CCGs, the Luton Children’s Trust and the Bedfordshire Children’s and Families 
Commissioning Board. Joint Commissioning Groups in both Bedford Borough and Central Beds and, both Luton and the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
as shown below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Our governance structures 

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

72 | P a g e  
 

 

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

73 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

Luton CCG 2016/2017 2017/2018 Bedfordshire CCG 2016/2017 2017/2018 

Eating disorders service £113,000 £113,000 Eating disorders service  £227,000 £225,000 

Crisis service (with Beds) £225,000 £225,000 Crisis service (with Luton) £225,000 £225,000 

Caraline transition ED service (with Beds) £36,000 £36,000 Caraline transition ED service 

(with Luton) 

£36,000 £36,000 

CYP IAPT (with Beds)     CYP IAPT (with Luton)   £100,000 

CAMHS  £3.2 million £3.2 million CAMHS  £1 158,034 £4,802,979 

  

FIM  £465,833 £465,833 FIM  £925,000  

£194k October 

2016/ January 2017 

waiting times and 

waiting lists 

improvement 

     Early intervention  £188,000 

     Schools and colleges  £297,000 

     Vulnerable groups- autism & 

psychologist post to support 

Community autism service     

 £40,000 

£75,000 recurrent  

 

10. Our finances  

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

74 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 
This refresh of our Local Transformation Plan signals Bedfordshire’s ongoing commitment to giving children and young people the best start through 
early intervention and accessible mental health services.  
 
The Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs will continue to work with partners to drive the vision in which the child mental health and wellbeing is everybody’s 
business. This local transformation plan communicates how we will make this happen with children and young people at the heart of our 
transformation.

11. Summary  

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

75 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 

Appendix A 

Appendix B 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Appendix C 
Future in Mind project group action plans (Crisis, EIP, Schools and early intervention, Eating disorders, Perinatal) 

 

Appendix D 

Bedfordshire  
Future in Mind Workforce Strategy   
 

 

11. References and appendices 

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 7



Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

76 | P a g e  
 

 

References 
 

i Department of Health (2015) Future in mind Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. Available 

online: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 

 

ii Central Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough Director of Public Health report (2017). Available online: 

https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/jsna/info/17/additional_reports/99/dph_reports 

 

iii Central Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough JSNAs (2014). Available online: https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/ 

https://www.bedford.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/bedford_borough_jsna.aspx 

 

iv Princes Trust Youth Index (2015). Available online: 

 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/0/gid/1938133089/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000055 
 
v Central Bedfordshire Council Looked After Children Annual Report (July 2015), published by Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group  
 
vi Public Health England Mental Health profile available online:  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-
health/profile/cypmh/data#page/3/gid/1938133090/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000056/iid/92315/age/246/sex/4 
 
 
vii Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base: clinical applications of attachment theory. London: Routledge 
 
viii Bat-Zion, N., & Levy-Shiff, R. (1993). Children in war: Stress and coping reactions under the threat of the Scud missile attacks and the effect of proximity 
Leavitt & N. A. Fox (Eds.), The psychological effects of war and violence on children (pp. 143-161). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. 
 
ix Paul Ramchandani, David P. H. Jones (Dec 2003) Treating psychological symptoms in sexually abused children. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 183 (6) 

484-490; DOI: 10.1192/03-99  

                                                 

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/jsna/info/17/additional_reports/99/dph_reports
https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/
https://www.bedford.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/bedford_borough_jsna.aspx
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/0/gid/1938133089/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000055
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/3/gid/1938133090/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000056/iid/92315/age/246/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/3/gid/1938133090/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000056/iid/92315/age/246/sex/4


Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan 2017 - 2020 
    

77 | P a g e  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

x Losi (2002). Therapeutic Care for Refugees: No Place Like Home. H Karnac Books Ltd 

 
xi Department for Education (16 February 2017) Child Sexual Exploitation: definition and guide for practitioners. Available online: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-sexual-exploitation-definition-and-guide-for-practitioners 
 
xii Emerson and Hatton (2007). Mental health of children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities in Britain. / Emerson, Eric; Hatton, Chris. 
In: British Journal of Psychiatry, Vol. 191, 12.2007, p. 493-499. 
 
xiii Department for Education special educational needs statistics. Available online: 
 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-educational-needs-sen 
 
xiv https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf 
 
xv East of England Clinical Network (April 2017) Meeting the mental health needs of looked after children and care leavers: a protocol for the East of England 
Clinical Network area. 

 

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-sexual-exploitation-definition-and-guide-for-practitioners
http://www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/mental-health-of-children-and-adolescents-with-intellectual-disabilities-in-britain%286fbcfa34-872e-407c-8b11-ef3b9788618b%29.html
http://www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal/en/people/eric-emerson%28b0f5df7a-0302-414f-aa3a-4e82ce7473e3%29.html
http://www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal/en/people/eric-emerson%28b0f5df7a-0302-414f-aa3a-4e82ce7473e3%29.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-educational-needs-sen
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/transform-care-nxt-stps.pdf


Local Transformation Plan

Engagement Management Plan

(2017 – 2020)

Bedford, Central Bedfordshire and Luton

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Luton Clinical Commissioning Group

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_2
Text Box
Appendix 2A



Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Luton Clinical Commissioning Group would like to 

thank partners and colleagues for their collaboration in producing this plan.

Bedford Borough Council

Bedford Hospital Trust
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

Central Bedfordshire Council

CHUMS

East London Foundation Trust

Essex Partnership University Trust
Luton and Dunstable Foundation Trust

Luton Borough Council

Luton Clinical Commissioning Group

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 7



Introduction
The Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Taskforce was 

established in September 2014 to consider ways to make it easier for children, 

young people, parents and carers to access help and support when needed and 
to improve how children and young people’s mental health services are 

organised, commissioned and provided. 

Our Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 

Wellbeing articulates the spectrum of local Children and young people’s (CYP) 
mental health and wellbeing (MH) services. These services support children and 

young people who have existing or emerging mental health problems, as well as 

transitions between services.

The LTP has been the result of engagement with a wide variety of relevant 

organisations, including CYP and their parents/carers, the youth justice service. 
Local authorities, the acute sector and schools and colleges.

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 103
A

genda Item
 7



Previous engagement

A series of multi agency and stakeholder engagement events were held in 2014 to seek 

views and experiences of mental health and wellbeing services. The resulting 

development plans and the first Local Transformation Plan (LTP) was informed by this 
engagement.  The priority areas were as follows:

• Relocating resources from specialist to early identification 

• Interventions to reduce numbers of children and young people being admitted into 

inpatient units
• Reduced waiting times

• On going service user engagement

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 104
A

genda Item
 7



The engagement plan

The aims of this engagement plan is to 

• Ensure all relevant stakeholders and partners are involved in the ongoing development 
of mental health services.

• Test existing service developments for the current cohort of service users and to 
identify strengths and gaps in access, pathways and provision.

• Set out how the success of the communication and engagement process will be 
measured to ensure its effectiveness

• Embed qualitative data and key performance indicators and the experience of service 
users into the development and monitoring of the LTP

• Ensure stakeholders are aware of engagement opportunities are informed of resulting 
changes to services

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 105
A

genda Item
 7



Who we are talking to

Our audience will be a range of partners including: 

• Local Authorities (Central Bedfordshire Council, Bedford Borough Council and Luton 
Borough Council) 

• Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Luton Clinical Commissioning Group, 

• Children and young people mental health and wellbeing services (CAMHS)

• Service users including CYP and their families/carers 

• The public

• Education (schools and colleges)

• Health (GPs and acute trusts)

• Healthwatch Bedford Borough, Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire and Healthwatch 
Luton

• VOCypf (Voluntary Organisation for Children young people and families)

• Existing youth engagement groups such as Youth Parliament and the Children in Care 
Councils

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 106
A

genda Item
 7



Engagement activity objectives
To ensure :

• That our audience feels they have been listened to and they have received feedback 
on how their views have influenced service provision

• That our audience’s views and experiences continue to be embedded in the 
development of effective MH and wellbeing services and interventions.

• That a range of stakeholder engagement activities are employed (events, surveys, 
qualitative feedback)

• That our audience is informed of the future plan for continued engagement 

• That our audience understands the reasons for getting involved and how this will 
benefit themselves and others

• That our audience is aware of the principles of engagement and its limitations

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 107
A

genda Item
 7



Our approach

We will:
• Review what engagement opportunities are currently available 
• Link in with existing engagement work within our partner and provider organisations and share 

learning
• Publish the LTP and bring it to the attention of all partners and service users via provider 

services 
• Involve our audiences in the development of LTP and project action plans to shape services in 

the future
• Promote services as they develop through our service providers 
• Continue to improve and utilise engagement embedded in all service areas

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan
P

age 108
A

genda Item
 7



Our activity plan 
Who? How? What? When?

Multi 

agency 
and stake

holders

Set up an multidisciplinary 

engagement group

Agree the aims, objectives and TOR for the 

group.

Drive the implementation of the 
engagement plan

November 

2017

Consider the types of 

engagement activity. 

engagement events 
across Bedfordshire and 

Luton

Plan promote and implement

• 3 engagement events across 

Bedfordshire and Luton
• Focused surveys of targeted cohorts

• Bloggs

January to 

March 2018

Collate data and 

feedback. Analyse and 

report via governance 
structures and feedback 

to all stakeholders

Use findings to inform 2018 service 

improvements and the LTP

April/May 

2018

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan

HA(NBC4

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 7



How we will assure the plan

This joint plan has been produced in partnership with….  (who are the partners and what 
is the relationship?

• Review of the stakeholder community to ensure that the membership is current – the 
right stakeholders for the current phase or time

• incorporate the views and experiences of all stakeholders 

• seek views of CYP and stakeholders about the engagement process

• adhere to the key lines of enquiry set by NHSE

• adhere to the rules of engagement and ensure expectations are managed 

• report findings via existing governance structures engage communications and 
engagement professionals within the 3 local authorities provider organisations and the 
CCGs 

• Monitor progress and KPIs throughout the process to ensure views are embedded into 
practice

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan

HA(NBC5

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 7



What success will look like 

We will evaluate the effectiveness of the engagement process by monitoring:

• The implementation against set timescales and KPIs

• Numbers of people engaging/ attending/ feeding back

• Targeted cohorts are represented in the process

• Expressions of satisfaction surveys in service areas increase (CAMH stakeholder and 
engagement tools and friends and family test results)

• Numbers of complaints reduce

• Views are embedded into service redesign 

• Stakeholders feel well informed about the results of the engagement process and we have 
manged expectations successfully

Local Transformation Plan - Engagement Management Plan

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Bedfordshire FIM CYP MH Crisis action plan 2017- 2019 

Leads – Sarah James, Jo Meehan, Linda Hurst 

Organisational and partnership groups responsible for delivery – Bedfordshire and Luton wide Future in Mind Steering Group, Crisis Project Group, BCCG 

CYP operational group, Mental Health SIG. Crisis care concordat meetings? 

Overall Aim(s) (Five Year Forward View For Mental Health/ LTP aim) 

� At least 35% of CYP with a diagnosable MH condition receive treatment from an NHS-funded community MH service  

� By 2020/21, all acute hospitals will have all-age mental health liaison teams in place, and at least 50% of these will meet the ‘Core 24’ service standard as a 

minimum  
� Children and young people have access to a service when they present in crisis in the community in Luton or Bedfordshire or are in the care of Luton & Dunstable 

or Bedford hospitals 

 

Outcome(s) 

• That the CAMH and emotional wellbeing workforce are skilled and trained to meet the needs of CYP 

• That there is decrease unmet CYP Mental Health needs out of hours 

• That CYP presenting in crisis will be effectively managed 

• That fewer CYP will need Crisis support  

• That fewer CYP will need to be admitted to tier 4 beds 

 

 

 

  

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_3
Text Box
Appendix 2C (FIM)



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

1. All key stakeholders (Providers, children, young people and families, agencies and communities) across Bedfordshire are aware of new services related to FIM 

transformation 

 

1.1 Develop a communication and engagement plan 

to promote the pathway with narrative around 

roles of each partner. 

1.2 Simple bespoke experience CYP and family survey  

 

 

An improvement in 

Children and Young 

People and their 

families’ experiences of 

an out of Hours CAMHS 

crisis service in Luton & 

Bedfordshire. 

 

 

     ELFT currently 

engaged in 

promoting the Crisis 

service. To suggest 

the pathway and 

each agency's roles 

are promoted at 

quarterly 

Stakeholder events 

 

CYP and family event 

to be organised for 

summer 2018 

Jo Meehan 

comment:Could we 

use the Chi-Esq? 

 

1.3 Consider the use of social media or 24 hour 

telephone support   

 

 

 

 

      signposting to 

Samaritans and 

Childline for 

telephone and online 

support 

 

ELFT CAMHS local 

Websites promotes 

self help apps and 

links – this will be 

developed to include 

a greater variety of 

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

self help apps. 

1.4 Ensure the workforce is trained in MH Crisis        CAMHS have 

developed training 

packages to support 

professionals in 

identifiying and 

managing crisis – this 

has already been 

rolled out in schools 

and local acute 

hospital depts. 

 

2. To improve the management of CYP in crisis with integrated and seamless pathways, ensuring parity of esteem. 

 

2.2 To improve communication  and understanding for 

step down to social care services including 

understanding MASH criteria 

 

 

Number of children 

who have presented as 

in crisis who are 

offered a follow-up 

appointment with 

another service after 

crisis and what that 

service is. 

     1:1 Care pathway 

updated and agreed 

Fiona Side (Early Help 

CBC) able to provide 

this data. Chris 

Morris (Eraly Help 

BBC) unsure if able to 

provide – 

recommended he 

speak to Fiona) 

 

CAMHS crisis team 

log all cases that 

have been assessed 

and signposted to 

other services. Jo 

Meehan comments: 

Difficulty will be 

CAMHS knowing that 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

the other appt is 

offered – we only 

signpost but rarely 

get copied into appt 

times from other 

services so this may 

be hard to capture? 

CAMHS could 

provide manual data 

on where assessed 

young people in crisis 

are signposted to? 

2.4 A 7 day follow up after A and E                                                44  

patients 

assessed 

following 

crisis 

referral, 

41 

patients 

assessed 

following 

urgent 

GP 

referrals, 

30 

targeted 

referrals 

on wai 

ting list. 

 

  7 day follow up to be 

checked against 

service specification 

 

CAMHS to provide 

evidence that 7 day 

follow up have taken 

place following 

assessment at local 

acute hopistals. 

2.5 Consider use of CYP own profile tool to present at 

crisis  

       Young person’s 

profile developed 

and circulated within 

CAMHS 

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

2.6 Monitor the pathway to ensure integrated Acute 

Trusts/Mede 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jo 

Meehan/Linda 

Hurst                 

The time in days 

between being 

admitted onto a 

paediatric ward ‘in-

crisis’ and being 

discharged from the 

ward. 

 

Delayed discharge 

from acute ward prior 

to either Tier 4 

admission or social 

care (numbers  of 

each) 

 

Delayed discharge 

from Tier 4 ward into 

step down services 

 

Time between the end 

of receiving support for 

being ‘in-crisis’ and the 

start of receiving 

ongoing support from 

CAMHS (currently 

measured as 2
nd

 

CAMHS appointment) 

 

     Use codes for self 

harm and mental 

health via A and E for 

admission data. Can 

Acute trusts capture 

the same patients on 

the wards?  

  

Jo Meehan 

Comments: This can 

be misleading – 

admission will be 

dependant on a 

number of factors; 

medical, psychiatric 

and or social needs? 

 

To reduce the number of CYP requiring repeat Crisis 

intervention 

Jo 

Meehan/Linda 

Hurst 

Number of children 

and young people who 

have re-presented ‘in 

crisis’ within 30 days. 

‘In crisis’ definition: 

   

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

one accepted by CAMH 

Crisis service 

OR 

Time between 

discharge and re-

presenting as ‘in-

crisis’ recorded for 

all children and 

young people who 

have previously been 

discharged from a 

CAMHS or Crisis 

service 

 

 

3. To ensure future sustainability of the service KLoE requirement: Does the plan have a vision as to how delivery will be different in 2020? 

 

 

3.1   

 

       

3.2  

 

       

 

4. To design the Crisis service with embeded NICE Quality Standards  

 

4.1 To consider providing an appropriate place for 

crisis patients in A and E 

 

 

      CAMHS Crisis staff 

are now embedded 

in the local acute 

hospitals: Riverbank 

at BGH and PLS at 

L&D  

4.2 Consideration given to  primary cause ( Is this a MH        Following CAMHS 

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

crisis or a psycosocial crisis)  assessment (taking 

into account the 

young person profile) 

CAMHS would 

determine the 

primary presenation 

4.3 Revison of the current Care Pathway for Under 18s 

in Mental Health Crisis to specifically include reference 

to children and young people who leave the 

Emergency Department before receiving a mental 

health assessment. 

       Updated by CAMHS 

and circulated  

4.4 Ensure an interpreter is available (eg for  UASC) at 

short notice. 

       Google translate 

often used. To 

consider 

improvements for 

crisis in discussion 

with John Hooper 

 

5.  To develop and improve CAMHS of hours access to advice and assessment 

 

5.1 Implementation of the CYP crisis service  

Jo 

Meehan/Linda 

Hurst 

 

Numbers of children 

seen by the service 

Baseline: 44  

patients assessed 

following crisis referral, 

41 patients assessed 

following urgent GP 

referrals, 30 targeted 

referrals on wai 

ting list.  
 

      CAMHS provide 

weekly submissions 

on crisis 

assessments, 

monthly 

performance reports 

and quarterly quality 

reports which 

provide data. 

 

 CAMHS Jo Comment:

record the time of 

referral and the time 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

Reduction in current 

waiting lists to five 

weeks maximum wait 

Reduction in 

admissions to Tier 4 

and acut 

e hospitals 

The time and date of 

each assessment 

conducted for an 

individual in crisis, and 

the time in minutes 

between referral being 

made (either into SPA 

or direct to service) for 

a child or young person 

in crisis and when that 

child or young person 

was assessed by a 

CAMHS professional. 

 

 

of the assessment on 

RiO 

5.2 To revisit hours of operation for Crisis service in 

line with prevalence data 

Collected by 

acute 

trusts/Claire 

olliffe/Mede 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date and time of each 

admission onto an 

acute (total number of 

date and time stamps 

will be equal to the 

total number of 

admissions) 

 

Date and time of each 

admission onto a 

psychiatric ward (total 

     Data to be collected 

from July 2017 for 

period of 6 months 

prior to analysis 

E mail response from 

 Mede Claire Olliffe:

for A&E data. MH data 

for A&E is only 

available for L&D – 

Bedford Hospital don’t 

record it. 

For L&D, I can search 

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jo 

Meehan/Linda 

Hurst 

number of date and 

time stamps will be 

equal to the total 

number of admissions) 

 

 

 

 

Number of 

assessments 

conducted by CAMHS 

during out of hours 

operations (the hours 

applicable to be 

prescribed within the 

operational definition). 

 

Number of 

assessments 

conducted by the adult 

liaison service during 

out of hours 

operations (the hours 

applicable to be 

prescribed in line with 

above). 

 

Time of presentation 

into CAMH crisis 

service and adult 

liaison service at Luton 

and Dunstable and 

Bedford Hospital Trusts 

for: 

·  A&E attendances 

where 

Psychiatric 

Conditions or 

Poisoning are 

the primary 

need 

·  Age 0 to 19 

·  By Quarter / 

Year, but 

then break 

this down 

further 

·  Number of 

attendances 

·  Duration to 

initial 

assessment, 

minutes 

·  Duration to 

treatment, 

minutes 

·  Duration to 

departure, 

minutes  

I’ve attached a 

summary of the report. 

In Mede you can drill 

down into each 

quarter, and then into 

each event, if you 

wanted to look at the 

cases day by day. 

You’ll probably need to 

know the definition of 

‘initial assessment’ 

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and 

barriers 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

 

 

Number of 999 calls 

from CYP in Crisis 

(under 19’s) 

‘treatment’ and 

‘departure’ – but I 

suggest you speak to 

Susan La Rosa Lamar 

about that as she can 

explain what this is 

telling you. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Claire Oliffe can 

capture these data 

 

 

6. 

 

     

6.1  

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Author – Seana Perkins Updated 28-9-17 

Perinatal Mental Health - action plan 2017- 2019 

 

 

Leads – Sanhita Chakrabarti (Clinical Lead Bedfordshire CCG CYP), Karlene Allen (BCCG Head of Children’s Commissioning), Rachel Volpe (BCCG Interim Head of 

Mental Health & Learning Disabilities) 

Organisational and partnership groups responsible for delivery – Bedfordshire and Luton wide Future in Mind Steering Group, Perinatal Task and Finish Group, 

BCCG CYP operational group, Mental Health SIG 

Overall Objective  

• To support additional women each year to access evidence-based specialist perinatal mental health treatment (Five Year Forward View For Mental Health) 

• Better postnatal and perinatal mental health care (Better Births, Improving outcomes of maternity services in England) 

Outcomes 

• A skilled workforce with greater awareness and understanding of the impact of perinatal mental health problems on the mother, infant and family.  

• Parents better supported during the perinatal period  

• Reduction in mental health crisis for parents 

• Prevention of early attachment issues resulting in improved social and emotional wellbeing in children 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 123

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_4
Text Box

Griffs101_5
Text Box
Appendix 2C (PMH Action Plan)



 

 

Author – Seana Perkins Updated 28-9-17 

 Key Objectives/Actions Lead  Success criteria Timescale Latest position 

 To develop the workforce by delivering perinatal and infant mental 

health training for key staff 

    

 1 Cascade IHV Perinatal and Infant MH 1 day Training to upskill Health 

Visitors, midwives, social workers and children’s centre staff 

Karlene Allen 

(BCCG) 

Jacky Syme (EPUT) 

Number of staff 

trained –  

1200 HV and 400 

MW by 2021 

Ongoing 

1
st

 reporting – 

Q1/Q2 17/18 

Cascade training 

commenced in May 

2 Access regional training places for key staff groups e.g. CMHT, CAMHS,  Seana Perkins 

(BBC/BCCG) 

Stephanie Cash 

(CBC) 

 

Number of staff 

trained 

1
st

 reporting – 

Q2 17/18 

35 Staff signed up from 

EPUT, CBC, ELFT. 

11 DNAs on Awareness 

Training 

3 Upskill GPs in line with 2014 NICE guidelines – Antenatal and postnatal 

mental health cg192 

Sanhita 

Chakrabarti  

Roshan xx 

 

Number of GPs 

trained 

1
st

 update – Q4 

(2017/18) 

reporting 

Workshop event – 6 

Nov 

 To develop pathways     

4 Finalise perinatal pathways for Bedfordshire (Bedford and Central 

Bedfordshire): 

a) Community 

b) In patient 

c) Crisis 

 

Sign off pathways at Primary Care Working Group and BCCG Exec 

Roll out – take through Contracts and Quality Schedules 

 

Plan Comms Strategy to roll out pathways 

 

 

Seana Perkins 

(BCCG) 

 

 

Sanhita 

Chakrabarti 

 

 

Pathway agreed at 

T&F Group 24.7.17 

 

 

 

Pathways signed 

off 

 

 

End July 2017  

 

 

 

 

 

End Oct 2017 

 

 

Comms to GPs 

20 Nov 

End Dec 2017 

 

5 Develop perinatal pathways for Luton  

 

 

Michelle Causer 

(L&D) 

 

Stephanie Cash 

(LBC) 

 Sep   

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Author – Seana Perkins Updated 28-9-17 

 Key Objectives/Actions Lead  Success criteria Timescale Latest position 

6 Establish pathways to support complex issues including 

• Drug and alcohol 

• Domestic violence 

 

Sanhita 

Chakrabarti 

  Workshop event – 6 

Nov 

 To develop a Specialist Perinatal Mental Health Service     

7 Appoint CAMHS Infant Mental Health practitioner ELFT 

 

Practitioner 

appointed 

Q1 2017/18 Practitioner appointed. 

Start date October 

2017 

8 Secure funding for specialist perinatal mental health team Karlene Allen 

(BCCG) 

Bid submitted and 

successful 

Q3 Dec 17 Stakeholder Event 4 

Sep 17  

 To embed NICE Quality Standards (QS115) into provider contracts     

9 ADULT MH SERVICES - Specify within contracts that providers should not 

prescribe valporate to women of child bearing age to treat a mental 

health problem 

Karlene Allen/ 

Sanhita 

Chakrabarti 

(BCCG) 

Rachel Volpe 

(BCCG) Gina 

Manning (ELFT) 

 

In ELFT Adult MH 

Services Contracts 

Q4 (2017/18) – 

1
st

 update 

To be checked on 

Quality Schedules 

10 ADULT MH SERVICES: - Women of child bearing potential with a severe 

mental health problem are given information at their annual review 

about how their mental health problem and treatment might affect 

them and their baby if they become pregnant 

Karlene Allen 

(BCCG) 

Rachel Volpe 

(BCCG) 

Specified in ELFT 

Adult MH Services 

contracts and 

evidence of 

practice 

 To be checked on 

Quality Schedules and 

consider flags on 

system. 

11 MIDWIFERY - Specify and check that women with previous severe or 

current mental health problems are identified at booking appointments 

and midwives give information about possible benefits and risks of any 

treatment whilst pregnant or breastfeeding. 

 

Karlene 

Allen/Seana 

Perkins (BCCG) 

Shirley Jones (BHT) 

Tracy Scivier (L&D) 

Specified in 

contracts. 

Referrals to ELFT  

 BHT LQR082 

 

Referrals to ELFT by 

midwifery? 

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Author – Seana Perkins Updated 28-9-17 

 Key Objectives/Actions Lead  Success criteria Timescale Latest position 

12 MIDWIFERY AND HEALTH VISITING - Women are asked about their 

emotional wellbeing at each routine antenatal and postnatal contact 

 

Karlene 

Allen/Seana 

Perkins  (BCCG) 

Barbara Rooney 

(CBC) 

Jacky Syme (EPUT) 

Shirley Jones (BHT) 

Tracy Scivier (L&D) 

In Maternity and 

EPUT contract, 

protocols in place. 

% women who 

received a 

maternal mood 

review  

Women’s reported 

satisfaction  

  

EPUT IND C7, C8 & C9 

 

 

CQC Maternity services 

survey 

 

 

13 ADULT MH SERVICES - Women with a suspected mental health problem 

in pregnancy or postnatal period receive a comprehensive mental health 

assessment 

 

Rachel Volpe 

(BCCG) 

Gina Manning 

(ELFT) 

Referrals to 

support services – 

numbers provided 

 

 EPUT IND C10 and C12 

14 ADULT MH SERVICES - Women referred for psychological interventions 

in pregnancy or the postnatal period start treatment within 6 weeks of 

referral 

 

Rachel Volpe 

(BCCG) 

Gina Manning 

(ELFT) 

Specified in 

contract and 

reported as 

proportion of 

pregnant women 

assessed in 2 

weeks and start 

psychological 

interventions 

within 4 weeks 

 

 Tbc with ELFT 

 

 

 P
age 126

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Author – Seana Perkins Updated 28-9-17 

Performance Indicators 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 Numbers of staff trained through IHV 

Champions Training 

 22 Champions 

Trained 

JS - Cascade training 

commenced in May 

  

 Number of staff trained through EoE 

training programme 

 n/a Luton & Beds June-Aug 

5 x IMHOL Training 

12 x Awareness Training 

3x PMH Advanced Skills 

6 x Champions Training 

  

 Number of GPs trained in perinatal 

mental health treatment 

     

BHT 

LQR082 

% of Mothers asked mental health 

detection questions at booking 

n/a  Not yet available   

EPUT 

IND C7 

% of mothers who received a 6-8 week 

review and Maternal Mood review, by 

the time infant is aged 10 weeks of 

age, based on the quarter when the 

infant reached 10 weeks of age 

 85% - BBC 

76.9% - CBC 

Q1 

94.7% (BBC) 

94.3% (CBC) 

  

EPUT 

IND 

C8 

% of mothers who responded 'yes' to 

the Whooley Questions and had PHQ9 

Assessment at the 28-32 week 

antenatal Maternal Moods Review 

(EPUT) 

 225 Q1 

0% (BBC) 

2% (CBC) 

  

EPUT 

IND 

C9 

% of mothers who responded 'yes' to 

the Whooley Questions and had PHQ9 

Assessment at the 6-8 week Maternal 

Moods Review (EPUT) 

 n\a Q1 

13% (BBC) 

36% (CBC) 

  

EPUT 

IND 

C10 

Number of referrals for Listening Visits 

within the Health Visiting Service 

(EPUT) 

 357 Q1 

52 (BBC) 

113 (CBC) 

  

EPUT 

IND 

C12 

Number of mothers who were referred 

to ELFT for maternal mental health 

support 

 7* Q1 

7 (BBC) 

6 (CBC) 

  

*not available across whole year 

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Bedfordshire FIM Early Intervention and Schools - action plan 2017- 

2019 

Lead – Chris Morris 

Organisational and partnership groups responsible for delivery – Bedfordshire and Luton wide Future in Mind Steering Group, Schools and 

Early Intervention Project Group, BCCG CYP Operational group, Mental Health SIG. 

Overall Aim(s) (Five Year Forward View For Mental Health/ LTP aim) 

To increase access to evidenced based interventions at the earliest point to decrease the number of young people requiring Tier 3 or tier 4 

support. Improving advice and guidance to frontline family practitioners and embedding mental health professionals within Local Authority 

Early Help Teams and Secondary Schools. 

Outcome(s) (LTP and 5 year forward view) 

1. Develop and improve effective pathways to Mental Health support within schools 

2. Improve Mental Health Training and Knowledge of Early Help and Intervention Staff 

3. Improve Mental Health Training and Knowledge of School Staff 

4. Improved access to Mental Health Case Consultations 

5. Improved access to CAMH Assessments outside of Clinic by Early Intervention Team 

6. Schools to refer in to CAMH more appropriately 

7. To improve Children and Young People and their families’ experiences of Mental Health support based outside of a clinic 

8. Decrease unmet Mental Health Needs within school population 

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_6
Text Box
Appendix 2C (Schools and Early Intervention FIM)



 

 

9. Voice of the Child is sought and implemented as part of service delivery 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

1. Develop and improve effective pathways to 

Mental Health support within schools and early 

help 

 

 

 

       

1.1 

Referral and treatment pathway established for 

School Programme Team 

AF/ KC  

Collecting data from 

the wider service is 

dependent on how it 

is recorded. 

Referrals into all 

teams are collated 

and collected 

together. 

 

Unable to obtain 

impact of service 

onto wider system 

currently – has been 

requested with data 

team. 

Increased 

number of 

referrals into 

Schools 

programme 

team 

 

 

 

 

Decreased 

numbers of 

referrals from 

schools into 

SPOE over 

quarters 

 

 

56 

 

 

28  for 6 

weeks of 

term 

(school 

hols) 

 

37 

(school 

hols) 

  Aim will be to 

see an 

increase in this 

number over 

the quarters. 

 

 

 

Aim will be a 

reduction in 

referrals over 

the quarters 

 

 

 

Aim will be to 

see an 

increase in this 

number over 

the quarters. 

Data may not 

be 

representative. 

Work ongoing 

 

 

Pathway 

established 

 

119 

1.2 

Referral and treatment pathway established for 

Early Help CAMHS Team 

 

 

AF 

 

Demand for work 

exceeds the number 

of staff available 

 

Unable to obtain 

impact of service 

onto wider system 

currently – has been 

requested with data 

team. 

Increase number 

of referrals into 

Early Help 

CAMHs team 

 

Decrease in 

number of 

referrals from 

Early Help into 

SPOE. 

 

17 4 

 

 

 

 

56 school 

hols -

increased 

pressure 

  

 

46 

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

1.3 

Referral and treatment pathway established for 

CHUMS school programmes 

 

 

AT 

Limited resource for 

direct interventions 

(11 x EI groups, 5 x 

football progs, 1 x 

transition group 

Appropriate CYP 

accessing 

CHUMS early 

intervention 

therapeutic 

groups or 

recreational 

football or music 

programmes 

evidenced by 

improved SDQ 

score 

63 

 

 

 

 

 

  

40   and groups. 

Therapeutic 

programmes 

underway. 

2. Improve Mental Health Training and 

Knowledge of Early Help and Intervention Staff 

        

2.1 Training provided to Early Help Team AF/FT  

Development of 

relevant training 

packages delayed 

the delivery of the 

training. 

Increase in 

number of 

Children’s 

Services Staff 

trained in 

Mental Health 

and Wellbeing 

 

 

 

 

52 

 

 

6 

  Training 

strategy for 

CAMHS School 

programme 

and Early Help 

team is being 

developed to 

ensure a more 

streamlined 

approach. 

Currently 

there have 

been two 

models 

delivered; MH 

Awareness and 

Clinical Risk 

training. 

Freena Tailor 

will be taking 

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

the lead on the 

training 

strategy for 

both Early 

Help and 

Schools 

Programme 

teams. 

3. Improve Mental Health Training and 

Knowledge of School Staff 

 

        

 

3.1 Training provided to school staff by CAMHS 

School Programme 

 

 

 

KC/FT 

 

School staff not 

being released from 

duties to attend 

training 

 

Current numbers for 

school programme 

include pupils 

attending assemblies 

given by the CAMHS 

school programme 

staff so is not a true 

representation of 

 staff training

 

Increase in 

number of 

school Staff 

trained in 

Mental Health 

and Wellbeing 

 

 

1480 

(skewed 

data as 

includes 

assemblies) 

 

303 (real 

data) 

   

There has 

been a mixed 

response in 

terms of 

schools making 

staff available 

to attend 

training. Dates 

will be given to 

create clusters 

of schools to 

attend the 

same training 

dates due to 

low take up of 

school staff in 

any one 

school. 

3.2 CHUMS training on variety of presenting issues 

on half termly basis to 4 x school clusters 

AT 

 

School staff not 

being released for 

attendance 

 

Approx half of all 

schools not signed 

up to project 

 

Increase in 

number of 

school staff 

trained in 

variety of 

mental health 

issues 

 

208 55 

(summer 

hols) 

  

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

4. Improved access to Mental Health Case 

Consultations 

 

        

 

4.1 Case consultations to be offered to Early Help 

staff at Bedford Borough and Central Bedfordshire 

 

 

AF 

 

 

 

Increase number 

of case 

consultations to 

early help staff 

with Early Help 

CAMHS team 

 

 

 

57 

 

 

 

 

59 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

4.2 CHUMS to offer case consultation discussion to 

cluster groups on half termly basis 

AT 

 

 Number of case 

consultations 

with CHUMS 

staff from 

Primary schools 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29 17 

(school 

hols) 

  

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

5. Improved access to CAMH Assessments outside 

of Clinic by Early Intervention Team 

 
 

        

5.1  

Early Help CAMHS team to provide assessments in 

the community. 

 

AF 

  

Increase in 

number of 

assessments and 

treatment 

completed by 

Early Help 

CAMHS 

  

68 

 

52 

   

6. Schools to refer in to CAMH more appropriately 

 

        

 6.1  
Schools in year 9 and above to access their 

embedded Schools CAMHS worker for 

consultations and assessments 

 

 

KC 

 

Some schools and 

colleges are not 

accessing the 

services in the 

appropriate way 

leading to take up of 

assessments and 

consultations being 

low. 

Need to identify 

schools that are not 

taking up the offer 

of consultations and 

  

Increase in 

number of 

consultations at 

schools 

 

Team target = 

Greater than 1 

consultation per 

school per 

fortnight 

(approx. 400 per 

quarter) 

 

   

281 

 

212 

(school 

hols) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

There has 

been a mixed 

response to 

the 

consultation 

and 

assessment. 

Some schools 

have not taken 

up the offer 

resulting in 

low 

consultation 

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

assessments. 

 

Difficult to capture 

this information 

using CAMHS 

database as schools 

data is taken as a 

whole including all 

years (primary, 

lower, middle, 

secondary) 

 

Currently the 

reported numbers 

for staff is on all face 

to face activities 

 

CAMHS workers 

struggling to 

communicate 

effectively the offer 

to individual schools 

or communication 

about the 

consultation process 

not being passed 

onto other teachers. 

Increase 

numbers for 

assessment and 

ongoing 

treatment in 

schools 

 

 

109 

 

120 

(school 

hols) 

and 

assessment 

numbers in the 

first quarter. 

The schools 

team will be 

identifying 

schools that 

have not 

taking up the 

offer so that 

we can work 

towards 

increasing 

awareness of 

the offer to 

these schools. 

Currently the 

numbers for 

assessments 

are inclusive of 

all face to face 

activities. 

 

6.2 Drop-in sessions to be accessed by college 

students 

  

 

 No data as 

clustered 

but soon to 

be 

available 

   Due to low 

uptake of 

assessment 

and 

consultations 

in colleges it 

was agreed 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

from 2
nd

 

quarter to 

implement 

drop in 

sessions in 

colleges only. 

 

7. To improve Children and Young People and 

their families’ experiences of Mental Health 

support based outside of a clinic 

 

        

7.1 ESQ questionnaire to be used by  Early Help 

and Schools CAMHs to gain qualitative data  

 

AF Families are 

reluctant to use the 

tool 

Increase in % of 

respondents 

reporting a 

positive 

experience 

No data 

collected 

yet 

   Aim will be for 

this % to 

increase over 

the quarters. 

8. Decrease unmet Mental Health Needs within 

school population 

 

        

8.1 2020 Target of 35% of our 1/10
th

 school 

population =2406 pupils. Target for early help and 

schools CAMH = 20% of these (450 across the year) 

  Total case 

referrals into 

CAMH and 

CHUMS from 

schools and 

Early help 

 

68 

 

27 

(school 

hols) 

   

9. Voice of the Child is sought and implemented 

as part of service delivery 

        

 

9.1 Participation of service users in the design of 

the Early Help CAMHS team and Schools 

Programme. 

 

 

 

AF / KC 

 

Numbers of young 

people engaging 

with the process too 

low – need wider 

participation 

 

 

Activity day held 

 

Met with 

participation 

group at CAMHS 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

CAMHS school 

programme & 

Early help 

presented the 

functioning of 

the whole 

team to 

P
age 136

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Risks and barriers Success 

criteria/KPIs  

Q 1  Q2 Q3 Q4 Overall 

Narrative 

Implementation 

of Service user 

feedback into 

development of 

team. 

Stakeholders 

meetings, met 

with each 

school for 

introduction 

meetings and 

reviews. 

CAMHS Early 

Help 

Participation 

event took 

place with 12 

young people 

attending. 

Their views 

and thoughts 

analysed and 

will be put 

forward for 

new 

developments. 

Met with 

CAMHS 

participation 

group and they 

spoke about a 

peer service, 

this has been 

developed and 

implemented 

for a pilot 

study. 

 

 

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Named Lead Update/ Milestones Timescale Consequences of achievement/breach

1.0 a. Understanding demand – local incidence rates and profiles

Julia 

Renton/Alison 

Bass

To be populated from  psymaptic (which 

includes localised epidemiological data). To 

include data local demographic data

Q1 
To understand local need, BME 

representation and language needs
Able to plan services based on local  needs Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

1.1

b. Workforce development – understanding the baseline position 

and gaps in respect of staffing , skill mix and competency to 

deliver the full range of NICE concordant interventions.

Julia 

Renton/Alison 

Bass

Local skill mapping of available clinicians 

undertaken alongside SCN data collection
Q1

To plan local training needs and delivery 

plans

Skilled workforce able to deliver NICE 

concordant packages of care. However, 

workforce planner needs to inform capacity 

and staff needed to deliver

Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

1.2

c. Optimisation of RTT pathways - engaging all potential referral 

sources, many of which will be internal in secondary care and 

which will include CAMHS and acute services.

Julia 

Renton/Alison 

Bass

To engage with CAMHS, primary care, 

educational establishments, secondary 

care and community establishments to 

discuss new EIP criteria and extended age 

range.

Q2-Q4
Seamless transition, reduction of DUP and 

faster access to EIP
Meeting 2 week RTT guidance Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

1.3

d. Preparation for the new data collection requirements – this will 

include development to provider systems and training for service 

and information leads.

Julia 

Renton/Alison 

Bass

Ensure appropriate SNOMED codes 

integrated into and collected by RiO
Q1-Q2 Achieving time component of RTT Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

1.4 Local implementation group progress

Julia 

Renton/Steve 

Malusky

To have regular meetings (ToR agreed with 

SCN) to monitor progress and ensure 

adherence to development plan

Ongoing
To devise trajectory to achieve fully 

compliant service by???
Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

M
e
n

ta
l 

H
e
a
lt

h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 D

a
ta

s
e
t 

d
a
ta

 

s
u

b
m

is
s
io

n

2.0
To have representation at LIG from CCG, Informatics and SMT 

and to ensure that RiO has the capacity to capture MHDSS                                     

Julia Renton/ 

Alison Bass/ 

Steve Malusky/ 

Ala Uddin/ 

Eugene Jones

To ensure attendance from all stakeholders 

at LIG's 
Ongoing

To ensure that the roll-out and staged 

implementation of EIP across the region is 

designed, delivered and managed with 

optimal effect and that all clients have 

accessed to timely NICE concordant 

packages of care. 

To measure against Monitor targets, to obtain 

RCPsych accreditation
Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e
 p

re
p

a
re

d
n

e
s
s

3.0

To agree numbers of clinicians with appropriate competencies 

needed according to  local need as defined by psymaptic and 

workforce calculator for those aged 14-65 with a first episode of 

psychosis

Julia Renton/ 

Alison Bass/ 

Mike King

Incorporated into business proposal. 

Training Plan to be developed alongside 

recruitment plan.

Q1-Q2

To prepare project plan and develop roll out 

including recruitment, induction, training, 

systems development, audit and evaluation 

and reporting structures

Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

DRAFT Luton CCG / ELFT Service Development and Improvement Plan 2016-17
Early Intervention in Psychosis

Area

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g

 f
o

r 
Im

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

Expected benefit

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_7
Text Box
Appendix 2C (Draft EIP)



W
o

rk
fo

rc
e
 p

re
p

a
re

d
n

e
s
s

3.1
To recruit skilled workforce and/or ensure access to HEE training 

as needed
Julia Renton

Recruitment and Training Development 

Plan
Q1-Q4

To engage a workforce able to deliver the 

range of evidence based EIP interventions 

necessary or to train the workforce to deliver 

this.

Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

3.2
To ensure all training needs are understood and that appropriate 

training is secured.
Julia Renton

EoE training bid has been submitted, 

outcome to be disseminated April 2016.
Q2-Q4

To be able to provide the full range of NICE 

concordant interventions
Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

3.3 To obtain additional training from EoE SCN training fund Julia Renton
EoE training bid has been submitted, 

outcome to be disseminated April 2016.
Q2-Q4

To ensure that the team is able to provide 

all assessment and interventions as 

required by an FEP service

Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

3.4 To apply for accreditation with Royal College of Psychiatry

Julia Renton/ 

Alison Bass/ 

Mike King

Q2-Q4
To obtain full accreditation in first wave and 

to spearhead the accreditation process

Consequences of not achieving accreditation 

not yet known
Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

A
u

d
it

3.5
To engage with  governance and audit cycles and  to look at local 

outcomes within EIP

Alison 

Bass/Sam 

Vaughan

Improving care to those experiencing a 

FEP
2017/18 To report on improvements in local services

To undertake a benefits realisation review of 

the service once the service has been 

established and has been operating for 12 

months

Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

S
e
rv

ic
e
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

ts

3.6
To develop plans for a NICE concordant service for those with At 

Risk Mental States across Bedfordshire

Julia Renton/ 

Alison Bass

To roll out plans for concordant FEP 

service and then consider ARMS
Q4 ONWARDS

To deliver service to those at risk of 

psychosis in line with NICE guidelines and 

NHSE targets

Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s
 

P
la

n

3.7
To develop a Communication Plan to trian GP's and other referrers 

into the service of the new scope of the service including ARMS

Julia Renton/ 

Alison Bass

To roll out training to Primary Care and 

other health and social care professionals
Q2 ONWARDS

To deliver service to those at risk of 

psychosis in line with NICE guidelines and 

NHSE targets

Targets and accreditation Jointly agreed remedial action plan - GC9

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e
 p

re
p

a
re

d
n

e
s
s

P
age 140

A
genda Item

 7



 

1 

 

Bedfordshire FIM CEDS- CYP action plan 2017- 2019 

Leads – Sarah James, Claire Jackson, Linda Hurst, Carly Francis, Jo Meehan 

Organisational and partnership groups responsible for delivery – Bedfordshire and Luton wide Future in Mind Steering Group, Crisis Project Group, BCCG 

CYP operational group, Mental Health SIG.  

Overall Aim(s) (Five Year Forward View For Mental Health/ LTP aim) 

� At least 35% of CYP with a diagnosable MH condition receive treatment from an NHS-funded community MH service  

 

Outcome(s) 

• The children and young people will have less need for tier 4 provision 

• That all stakeholdres will help be informed about Eating disorders and help to shape the service 

• That CYP with an eating disorder will be effectively managed to improve health and wellbeing outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_8
Text Box
Appendix 2C (CEDS LTP Plan)



 

2 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

1. All key stakeholders (Providers, children, young people and families, agencies and communities) across Bedfordshire are aware of new ED services and the 

presentation and prevalence of eating disorders  

 Development of a communication and engagement 

plan to ensure improved patient experience  and 

service users are at the heart of continuing service 

delivery and developments. 

1.1  

 

 

Success measure of 

engagement evidence 

and improvement. 

 

 target? 

There is a risk of 

limited take up of BME 

communities. 

ED is a enduring 

mental health with 

huge impacts for 

families, limited 

understanding and 

financial consequences 

for families and high 

level of commitment 

required by young 

people and 

parents/carers. 

    More outreach work 

within the 

communities and with 

GP’s has been taking 

place. Significant joint 

work with colleagues 

within the L&D has 

been well received and 

discussions with CCG 

and Bedford Acute 

Trust has begun. 

Specific training for 

staff working with 

South Asian 

communities is 

planned in Q3. 

 

 

1.2 Training of staff   

 

 

 

Numbers of staff 

trained 

Target? 

Changes in staff and 

challenges of 

recruitment. 

    All ED staff have 

undertaken National 

Training for ED and 

been supported by Dr 

Dasha Nichols, 

International ED expert 

and lead for National 

Training to develop the 

service in line with 

NICE guidelines 

 

 

P
age 142

A
genda Item

 7



 

3 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

1.2 Partnership working with voluntary sector 

orgasiations (eg BEAT) 

1.3  

 Success measure and 

target? 

Capacity of resource 

available 

    The service works in 

partnership with 

Caraline (3
rd

 Sector ED 

service) on joint 

protocols.  Young 

people and families are 

directed to 

appropriate on line 

support from BEAT. 

  

P
age 143

A
genda Item

 7



 

4 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

2. To improve the management of CYP with an eating disorder with an integrated and seamless pathways, ensuring parity of esteem. 

 

2.1 CYP-ED pathway development  

 

Pathway developed 

 

Numbers admitted to 

acute trusts (baseline) 

 

A reduction in numbers 

year on year 

30% 

reduction 2017/18 

 

Numbers admitted to 

tier 4 beds  

(baseline = 9 2014/15) 

30% reduction 2017/18 

 

 

 

Length of stay 

(Baseline) 

No target 

Numbers with 

discharge planning in 

place on admission 

85% by Q4 2017/18 

 

Numbers accessing 

NICE compliant 

interventions ie family 

therapy ( 

85% by Q4 2017/18 

Acute hospital support 

has been challenging 

in some instances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Delayed referral of 

acutely unwell Young 

people therefore 

opportunity to work in 

the community not 

possible.  

 

 

 

Tier 4 have set 

treatment parckages 

which are resistant to 

change. 

 

 

Staff capacity to adapt 

the new training Part-

time nature of some 

key staff (LJ&NS) 

 

    Pathway is well 

developed across the 

county.  Acute 

hospitals are starting 

to embrace the 

pathway/model with 

in-reach support being 

provided by the team. 

 

Improved referral 

forms/contact with 

G.P’s and other 

referrer to alert them 

to guidance and 

prompt referral 

National lead 

commissioners  need 

to lead on this. 

 

On admission CEDS to 

stipulate this on forms  

and in all C.P.A’s  

 

 

Mentoring from Dr 

Dasha Nicols and 

implementing FBT 

model Plan is in place 

and this is helped by 

National training day. 

P
age 144

A
genda Item

 7



 

5 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

Children and young 

people accessing the 

CEDS-CYP care pathway 

should show 

measurable 

improvements in the 

presentation of their 

eating disorder 

symptoms  

No target 

 

 

 

Number of CYP-ED 

patients feel supported 

through transition to 

adult services  

(Bedfordshire service) 

(Baseline) 

No target 

 

 

This is dependent on 

getting them early 

enough and getting 

support form local 

hospitals to carry out 

physical and medical 

assessments and 

identify risks and 

bringing them  in from 

parents. 

 

 

 

 

 

Difference in threshold 

Adult and CEDS:cup 

Not the same level 

support as lack of 

communicationbetwen 

the different services 

 

Acute Trust meeting 

began on 27/09/17 

and FBT model and 

training from Dr Dasha 

Nichols. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Quarterly Meeting 

with adult and CEDS , 

Caraline already set up 

 

 

2 .2         

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 7



 

6 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

3. To ensure future sustainability of the service 

 

3.1   

 

       

3.2  

 

       

 

4. To design the CYP-ED with embeded NICE Quality Standards  

 

4.1 Actions to achive this? 

 

Team to meet up regulary and share best practice and 

develop their skills in regards to NICE quality standards. 

 

Staff to recive regular supervision and appraisal to 

idenbtify eareas for development and enhance their 

skills/knowledge. 

Staff to go on arranged taring and bring back the 

knowledge and put this into practice 

 

 

 

PROMS as shown 

above? 

Time for staff to 

develop the service 

ensuring cases are 

seen in timely fashion 

and clinical risks are 

held. 

 

Staff Turnover as 

sometimes there is 

need to train new staff 

as well as the new 

staff needing time on 

Induction before they 

are fully involved in 

having a full caseload. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    National training and 

mentoring as well as 

supervision to develop 

the assessnets 

/treatments which are 

evidence based and in 

line with the NICE 

guidelines. 

4.2  

 

       P
age 146

A
genda Item

 7



 

7 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

5.  To develop and improve CYP access to CYP-ED advice and assessment 

 

5.1 Actions needed to achieve this?  

 

Prompt recruitment necessary. 

Offer training to schools and G.P  

 

 

 

Percentage CYP 

receiving treatment  

within 1 week from first 

contact with a 

designated healthcare 

professional for urgent 

cases 

80% 2017/18 

 

Percentage CYP 

receiving treatment  

within 4 weeks from 

first contact with a 

designated healthcare 

professional for routine 

cases 

 

80% target 2017/18 

( TBC )  

 

check this out against 

MH assurance returns 

 

 Poor referrrals in 

terms of detail/key 

information. 

Holiday periods eg 

summer and Christmas 

period 

     

G.P training to be 

offered by Q2(2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G.P and school training 

5.2   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 147

A
genda Item

 7



 

8 

 

Key Objectives/actions to achieve them Lead  Target/KPIs  Risks and barriers Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Latest 

position/overall 

narrative 

 

6. 

 

     

6.1  

 

 

 

       

 

 

P
age 148

A
genda Item

 7



A workforce development strategy for 

Children and Young People’s Mental

Health and Emotional Wellbeing 

Services 

2017–2020

Bedfordshire and Luton

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 7

Griffs101_9
Text Box
Appendix 2D



The Health Education England (HEE) Stepping Forward to 2020/21: Mental 

Health Workforce Plan for England states that Mental Health is a key priority 

and the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health laid out an ambition to see 

an additional one million people being treated by mental health services by 

2021, including 70,000 more children and young people. This is something the 

whole system is committed to working on to make sure patients get the best 

possible care.(https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/person-centred-care/mental-health/mental-

health-workforce-plan)

In Bedfordshire and Luton, we recognise that there is a need to change the 

way in which mental health services for children and young people are 

delivered to deal with increasing demand and complexity of individual needs. It 

is acknowledged that services will need to transform the ways in which they are 

organised and delivered so that children and young people are offered the right 

interventions by the right people, with the right skills at the right time and in the 

right location.

Introduction

P
age 150

A
genda Item

 7



P
age 151

A
genda Item

 7



Strategy Aim

The overarching aim of this strategy is that each of the organisations working with 

children and young people will to work together to make certain that the whole 

workforce is

• ambitious for every child and young person to achieve goals that are meaningful 

and achievable to them

• excellent in their practice and able to deliver the best evidenced care

• committed to partnership and collaborative working

• respected and valued as professionals

P
age 152

A
genda Item

 7



How this will be achieved

• Anybody working in universal services and other non child and young people 
mental health (CYPMH) targeted and specialist services e.g. schools, health 
visiting, community & voluntary sector, should have the necessary training in 
children and young people’s development and behaviours and the 
importance of early identification of need, appropriate to their role

• The workforce in the targeted and specialist services need a wide range of 
skills and have access to enhanced, multi-professional training including 
Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(CYPIAPT)

• All disciplines should understand the links between physical and mental 
health

• There needs to be effective, improved communication across the universal 
and targeted and specialist services with a shared understanding of roles and 
responsibilities across all those working in the system

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 7



P
age 154

A
genda Item

 7



Developments and progress

• Trajectories for future staffing needs have been identified (detailed in the Local 
Transformation Plan)

• In Bedfordshire CAMHS there are a total clinical workforce headcount of 70 
staff, all of whom are registered with professional bodies and skilled to deliver 
evidenced based therapy. In addition to mandatory staff training requirements 
all staff are supported to continue to develop their professional development, 
this is undertaken through a variety of means including; supporting external 
training courses, service wide regular CPD sessions (sharing skills across all 
teams), quarterly quality half days to focus on current themes or trends and 
developing training needs analysis within each team at regular team away 
days. Bedfordshire CAMHS have currently invested in on site DBT training to 
upskill the workforce with a view to establishing a DBT pathway across the 
service.

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 7



• Bedfordshire CAMHS have commenced the CYP-IAPT supervisor training 

for Systemic Family Practice and parent training and funding for a parent 

trainee post for a two-year period

• 4 Bedford Borough staff will undertake the Enhanced Evidenced Based 

Practice (EEBP) modules via the IAPT training centre

• On-site IAPT based training to train 15 of our CAMHs staff in the Enhanced 

Supervision training

• Since 2016 5 staff have signed up for CYP IAPT 

• The new Workforce Initiative covers the Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner 

programme (CWP) and The Recruit to Train programme (RTT) with the aim 

of increasing mental health workforce capacity by training 1700 new staff in 

Evidence Based treatments by 2020

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 7



• The workforce plan needs to be further developed to include plans to recruit 

new staff and train existing staff to deliver the LTP's ambition

• The LTP action plans will be developed to include details of the required 

work and engagement with key organisations

• The development of the workforce will follow the goals for improving the 

CYP IAPT identified in the most recent Quarterly Monitoring submission. 

Gaps

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Date of Meeting                                                 29 November 2017 

Integration and Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 - 2018/19

Responsible Officer(s) Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health & Housing 
Central Bedfordshire council 
Caroline Kurzeja, Director of Strategy and Transformation 
(Interim) Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

Presented by: Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health & Housing 
Caroline Kurzeja, Director of Strategy and Transformation 
(Interim)

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt Information 

Yes/no

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

1. Note the submission of the Integration and Better Care Fund Plan 2017-19 and 
outcome of the assurance process.

2. Note the strategic alignment of the Integration and Better Care Fund Plan to 
the STP’s Priorities and the emerging Out of Hospital Strategy.

3. Note and approve the revised governance framework establishing a 
Transformation Board for Central Bedfordshire as a sub-group of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 

Purpose of Report

1. To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board on details of the Integration and 
Better Care Fund Plan for 2017-19 that was submitted to NHS England on 11 
September 2017.(Appendix 1)

2. To inform the Board of the strategic alignment of the Integration and Better 
Care Fund Plan (BCF) with the ‘Place Based’ Out of Hospital Strategy and 
key priorities of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), 
including the Collaborative Investment and Savings Programme (CISP). 

3. To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the proposed governance 
structure and to approve the terms of reference of the Central Bedfordshire 
Transformation Board. 

4. To update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the outcome of the assurance 
process for Central Bedfordshire’s Integration and Better Care Fund Plan.

5. To inform the Board of the requirement to produce a S75 agreement for the 
2017/19 Integration and BCF Plan.  

Page 159
Agenda Item 8



Background

1. The Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework for the two year 2017-
19 BCF was published in March 2017.  The Policy Framework for the Fund 
covers two financial years to align with the NHS operational plan timetables and 
to give areas the opportunity to plan more strategically. The Planning Guidance 
for the BCF Plan was published in July 2017 with a submission deadline of 11 
September 2017.  

2. The Health and Wellbeing Board at its meeting in July 2017, confirmed 
delegated authority to Central Bedfordshire Council’s Director of Social Care, 
Health and Housing and Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s Director 
of Commissioning in consultation with the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to sign off the 2017/19 Plan. 

3. The policy framework sets out the story of the integration of health, social care 
and other public services. It provides an overview of related policy initiatives and 
legislation, as well as the Government’s proposals for going beyond the BCF 
towards further integration by 2020.

4. The 2017/19 BCF Plan builds on the 2016/17 plan and is a key mechanism for 
the delivery of integration. The submitted Plan responds to the requirement to 
set out how the four national conditions will be met to:

1. Produce a jointly agreed narrative plan detailing how health and social 
care integration will be achieved by 2020 and complete a spending plan 
which sets out funding for each of the BCF schemes.

2. Maintain the NHS Contribution to social care and the CCG minimum 
contribution including the financial uplift minimum. 

3. Invest in NHS Out of Hospital Services.

4. Manage transfers of care and produce a plan for implementing the ‘High 
Impact Change’ Model.

5. The Central Bedfordshire Better Care Fund creates a pooled fund of £22.896m 
in 2017/18 and £24.312m in 2018/19 to support the delivery of integrated care. 
This is made up of a contribution of £5.536m and £6.511m from Central 
Bedfordshire Council; £15.549m and £15.844m from Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group as well as the Improved Better Care fund of £1.810m and 
£1.956m respectively, over the two years of the Plan. 

6. Appendices 2a and 2b show the planned BCF expenditure by Scheme Sub Type 
in 2017/18 and 2018/19.

7. The submitted Plan outlines the local vision and approach to integration, the 
case for change and demonstrates alignment with the local strategic vision of 
the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and the GP Forward 
View. 

Page 160
Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607754/Integration_and_BCF_policy_framework_2017-19.pdf


Achievements in the  BCF Plan 2016/17

8. In the second year of our BCF Plans, there has been demonstrable evidence of 
the impact on the health and care system with good progress on a number of 
key projects, such as multidisciplinary working in localities and relationships with 
care providers, particularly Care Homes. Local partnerships are strengthened 
and there is greater collaboration across services to deliver integrated and 
improved outcomes for people. There has been partnership working on key 
areas to enhance joint care delivery and integration, such as:

 Partnership approach to the re-commissioning of Community Health 
Services.

 Establishment of  a ‘place based' multidisciplinary approach, with staff 
from community, mental health and social care, bringing care close to 
people in their localities. This approach started in Ivel Valley and is now 
progressing to co-location of the Ivel Valley team at the Biggleswade 
Hospital site as an interim solution. Work is also ongoing to facilitate 
interim co-location of the team at the Biggleswade Hospital site. Plans are 
underway to roll out this approach across Central Bedfordshire from 
November 2017.  

 Partnership working with the Community Health Services Provider has 
improved significantly and a joint associate director post has been 
established.

 Progress has been made in the joint approach in relation to assessment 
and there is closer alignment of intermediate care and reablement 
services. 

 The project to train ‘Falls Champions’ in Care Homes has been 
successful, with Falls Champions now established in 94% of Care Homes 
in Central Bedfordshire. In 2016/17 Falls champions were invited to 
quarterly meetings for education, peer learning and support on falls 
prevention specific topics including Dementia, Medication, getting up 
safely following a fall.  There has been a positive impact on the number of 
falls and individual residential and nursing homes have reported 
reductions in falls.  Overall for Central Bedfordshire there has been a 
reduction in emergency admissions for falls by 8% based on 2015/16 
outturn against a predicted 2% increase.  

Details on progress against the 2016/17 Plan is set out in Section 5 (page 19) of 
Appendix 1.

Delivering the Integration and Better Care Fund Plan 2017/19

9. The 2017/19 Integration and Better Care Fund Plan maintains the priorities and 
outcomes of the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is focused on securing 
integrated outcomes through close alignment with the Out of Hospital Strategy 
and the priorities of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership for 
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes.

Page 161
Agenda Item 8



10. The Plan reiterates the ambition for a real shift in the balance of care from acute 
hospitals and institutionalised care to a more community based delivery.  

11. Cllr Spurr, Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, in his introduction to the 
Plan, observed the opportunity presented as one of the eight areas to become 
an Accountable Care System, to bring together at pace, a range of services to 
deliver integrated care for the local population as well as to begin the process of 
redefining relationships between Commissioners and Providers to focus on 
collaboration and service improvement in context of place based care.

12. Details of the five broad schemes in the 2017-19 BCF Plan are described in the 
Planning Template. The schemes are:

1. Prevention and Early Intervention
2. Delivering Integrated and improved Outcomes through Out of Hospital 

Services 
3. Integrated health and care hubs
4. Enhanced care in care homes
5. High Impact Change Model

Specific scheme deliverables are set out in Appendices a-e. (BOSCARDS) 
These schemes build on previous BCF Plans and are influenced by the review 
and performance monitoring of delivery against the BCF Plan for 2016/17.  

13. The 2017/19 Integration and Better Care Fund  Plan also sets out investment 
plans for the Improved Better Care Fund in line with the requirements of the 
national conditions and particularly condition 4 – implementing the High Impact 
Change Model focused on reducing delayed transfers of care. 

Strategic Fit

14. The Integration and Better Care Fund Plan has a key role in enabling a ‘Place 
Based’, system wide vision and as such the schemes and projects set out in the 
Plan relates to, or is a component part of the STP Priority areas, including the 
Collaborative Investment and Savings Programme and projects from the Out of 
Hospital Strategy. Appendix 3  

15. The new provider of Community Health Services will be key to the successful 
delivery of these Integration and Transformation Plans.   

16. The aim of this service is to achieve integration, innovation and the provision of 
services that are providing people with the right care, in the right place at the 
right time, first time, by staff with the competencies and skills to meet the needs 
of the local population which complement and work together with acute care 
services. The specification is ‘Place’ specific and sets out the local context and 
needs of Central Bedfordshire’s population. 

Page 162
Agenda Item 8



17. The outcome based contract for adults is built around five ‘I statements’ to 
ensure that, as well as quantitative outcomes, the outcomes framework also pick 
up what matters to the people receiving services.

 I want to stay healthy and active for as long as possible
 I want access to the best quality care available in order to live as I choose 

and as independent a life as possible
 I want to be helped by a person who co-ordinates my care and is 

supported by a team with the specialist knowledge to understand my 
health and social care needs

 I want to be actively involved in decisions about my care and enabled to 
make informed choices that meet my goals

 I want good clinical outcomes

18. These outcomes are underpinned by 21 indicators for adult services including 
measures such as emergency readmissions, unplanned admissions for 
conditions which should normally be managed in the community and reduced 
length of stay in hospitals.

19. It is important that the delivery of the Integration and Better Care Fund Plan is 
set within the context of these initiatives and that local plans and strategies are 
coordinated to maximise impact and secure system-wide improvements.

Governance 

20. The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory responsibility for integration of 
health and social care and overall governance for the Integration and Better 
Care Fund Plan.  The Health and Wellbeing Board will be supported by a 
Transformation Board comprising Chief Officers and Directors of the CCG, 
Central Bedfordshire Council and other Health and Care Service partners. 

21. A Transformation Board with the responsibility for driving forward a ‘place based’ 
system wide transformation of health and social care in Central Bedfordshire has 
been established.  The Transformation Board is the ‘Place based Board’ for the 
STP.  The Terms of Reference for the Central Bedfordshire Transformation 
Board is attached in Appendix 4.  The BCF Commissioning Board has been 
merged into the Transformation Board. 

22. The new Board brings together the STP wide priorities and will have oversight of 
the delivery of key strategies agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board. These 
include:

 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 The Out of Hospital Strategy 
 The Integration and Better Care Fund Plan 2017-19

And will ensure the linkage with connected strategies, such as, the Primary Care 
Strategy.

23. The new Board will have oversight of the Integration and Transformation delivery 
framework which consolidates the key deliverables of the Integration and Better 
Care Fund Plan, the Out of Hospital Strategy and the STP’s Collaborative 
Investment and Savings Programme (CISP). A High level Programme Plan with 
timescales for delivery will underpin this framework, which will be monitored by 
the Board and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

Page 163
Agenda Item 8



24. The proposed governance framework is attached as appendix 5

Outcome of Assurance Process 

25. The Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board was informed that following its 
meeting on Thursday 5 October, NHS England Executive Group agreed that 
Central Bedfordshire’s BCF plan submitted in September has been placed in the 
‘Approved with conditions’ category. 

26. It was felt that although the Plan met the principal conditions for approval, 
including national conditions 1, 2 and 3 and most of the planning requirements, it 
did not meet all the requirements of the published Integration and Better Care 
Fund planning requirements for 2017-19 due to a number of outstanding issues 
identified through the regional assurance process.

27. Authorisation to enter into formal Section 75 agreement, whereby funding will be 
transferred into a pooled fund subject to compliance with the conditions applied, 
has been granted.

28. It was noted that whilst the Central Bedfordshire Plan is strong, the review 
process identified a number of areas for improvement which once addressed will 
enable the Plan to move to a fully approved status.   

NHS England’s approval of the submitted plan is therefore subject to the 
following specific conditions being addressed:

1. Planning Requirement 9 - Resubmission of a single detailed Risk Log 
which captures strategic delivery risks and project delivery risks with a 
description of how these risks will be proportionally mitigated or managed 
operationally.

2. Planning Requirement 13 - Explain 3% year on year increases for 
2017/18 and 2018/19. Clarify impact of new short and long term “SALT” 
measures on forecasts; clarify population figures relied on and impact on 
forecasts; and include delivery risk and mitigation in the revised risk log.

3. Planning Requirement 14 - Clarify reasons for fall in reablement 
outcomes.

Reasons for the Action Proposed 

29. The Better Care Fund Planning Guidance requires that Plans are signed off by 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and by the constituent Council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

30. The BCF is the only mandatory policy to facilitate integration of health and 
social care and the continuation of the BCF itself. It brings together health and 
social care funding.

31. The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) has a statutory duty to promote 
integration and is seen as a valuable forum for stakeholders to come together 
to review performance of the BCF and consider opportunities for transforming 

Page 164
Agenda Item 8



health and social care. The expectation is that HWBs will continue to oversee 
the strategic direction of the BCF and the delivery of better integrated care, as 
part of their statutory duty to encourage integrated working between 
commissioners.

32. The BCF Plan for 2017/19 aligns and contributes to the delivery of the national 
health and care strategy as set out in Delivering the Five Year Forward View, 
published in December 2016 and the emerging Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan. 

33. The BCF Plan is consistent with the priorities of Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire for improving health, wellbeing and reducing 
health inequalities.

Conclusion and next steps

34. A revised narrative plan that addresses the issues identified by the NHS 
England Executive Group, above to fully meet the planning requirements will 
be submitted by Thursday 2 November with the aim to have a fully approved 
plan in place by Thursday 30 November.

35. A Section 75 agreement will be drawn up as required by the BCF Planning 
Guidance.

36. Continue to mobilise the key projects to meet the aims of the 2017/19 Plan and 
secure integrated and improved outcomes for Central Bedfordshire residents. 

37. Develop a consolidated monitoring and reporting framework for the cross 
cutting areas of the BCF, CISP and Out of Hospital Strategy which will be 
monitored by the Transformation Board on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board.

Issues

Governance & Delivery 

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to provide oversight of 
the local health and care system. Delivery of the Better Care Fund Plan is a 
key mechanism by which the Health and Wellbeing Board is able to fulfil its 
duty to promote integration of health and social care to advance the health and 
wellbeing of people in Central Bedfordshire.

2. Progress on the Better Care Fund Plan will be reported to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and delivery will be monitored by the Central Bedfordshire 
Transformation Board. The Health and Wellbeing Board will provide overall 
assurance and sign off performance monitoring returns.

Financial 

3. The required level of funding for the Integration and Better Care Fund 
increased in 2017/18 and for 2018/19 and includes the Improved Better Care 
Fund allocations.

4. The Central Bedfordshire Better Care Fund creates a pooled fund of £22.896m 
in 2017/18 and £24.312m in 2018/19 to support the delivery of integrated care. 

Page 165
Agenda Item 8



This is made up of a contribution of £5.536m and £6.511m from Central 
Bedfordshire Council; £15.549m and £15.844m from Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group as well as the Improved Better Care fund of £1.810m 
and £1.956m respectively, over the two years of the Plan.

5. A significant proportion of the pooled fund, apart from the IBCF is not new 
money and is tied to the current community health services contract. The total 
spend on Out of Hospital Services in the two years of the Plan equates to 
£10.7m and £10.9m respectively.

6. The new iBCF is paid directly to the council via a Section 31 grant from the 
DCLG. The Government has attached a set of conditions to the Section 31 
grant to ensure it is included in the BCF at local level and will be spent on adult 
social care. The use of this additional funding was agreed by Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s Executive and subsequently by the Health and 
Wellbeing at its meeting in July 2017.

7. As set out in the Assurance Letter, the pooled fund is subject to a Section 75 
agreement. The expenditure plan and resource for the schemes set out in the 
plan is subject to the allocation of the required funding from NHS England to 
the CCG. 

8. The financial management, performance management and governance 
arrangements for the pooled fund are also specified in the S75 agreement.

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

9. The PSED requires public bodies to consider all individuals when carrying out 
their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation 
to their own employees.  It requires public bodies to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance 
equality of opportunity, and foster good relations between and in respect of 
nine protected characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation.

10. Are there any risks issues relating Public Sector Equality Duty           Yes/No

11. If yes – outline the risks and how these would be mitigated               

Source Documents Location (including url where possible)

Appendix 1 - Integration and Better Care Fund Plan for 2017-19
Appendices 1a-1e - Key Delivery Projects (BOSCARDS)
Appendix 2a & 2b - BCF Expenditure by Scheme Sub Type 2017/18 and 2018/19
Appendix 3  - Strategic Fit - Outline of Initiatives and Projects 
Appendix 4 - Terms of Reference for the Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board 
Appendix 5 - Proposed Governance Framework 

Page 166
Agenda Item 8



Hub

Page 167
Agenda Item 8

Griffs101_10
Text Box
Appendix 1



2

Contents:

1. Introduction
2. The vision and approach for health and social care integration
3. Strategic Alignment of BCF Plan
4. The Case for Change
5. Progress against BCF Plans 2016/17
6. Integrated and Better Care Fund Plan 2019/19
7. Improved Better Care Fund
8. Overview of funding contributions and risk log
9. The National Conditions
10. BCF Metrics and Performance Framework
11. Governance and Joint Approach
12. Additional Documents

Alignment of BCF Narrative with the Key Lines of Enquiry

KLOE Page Number(s) KLOE Page Number (s)

1 5 20 48-49; Appendix 5

2 5,37 21 36-37

3 38 22 36-37

4 38 23 36-37

5 38 24 36,39; Appendix 2a&b

6 38 25 Template

7 38 26 Appendix 2a and 2b

8 39 27 34

9 36 28 43-46; Appendix 3

10 36 29 43-46; Appendix 3

11 40-43 30 36; 39

12 40-43 31 47; Planning Template

13 7-12, 40-43 32 47

14 7-14 33 47-48

15 29-34; 7-4 34 47-48

16 19-34 35 47-48

17 15-18 36 23,27,29, 35

18 48-49 37 37

19 15-18 38 48

Page 168
Agenda Item 8



3

1. Introduction

This is the third Better Care Fund Plan for Central Bedfordshire. This Plan remains consistent with

the priorities and outcomes of the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is focused on securing

integrated outcomes for our residents through the Better Care Fund and the priorities of the

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership for Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes.

Central Bedfordshire is an area of growth, with an increasing and ageing population. The

challenges of an ageing population coupled with changing patterns of disease, with more people

living with complex, multiple long-term conditions and rising public expectations mean that

fundamental changes are needed to the way services are delivered. As with other health and care

systems, we recognise that the key to delivering improved outcomes for people as well as

maximising our resources for a sustainable health and care system is to organise care around the

needs of the people by integrating primary, community and social care to deliver seamless

physical and mental health care services.

This is particularly important for us, in view of the current local financial challenges faced by the

Council and the CCG. The Council has to make significant efficiency savings and has sought to

protect the adult social care budget. Our CCG is again in financial recovery with important

challenges ahead. As health and social care are undoubtedly interlinked, we see integration as a

key enabler to addressing some of these challenges.

We want to see a real shift in the balance of care from acute hospitals and institutionalised care to

a more community based focus. Achieving this requires local health and care organisations to

work together to design new care models with an important emphasis on prevention and

delivering care closer to people’s homes. Over the next two years and through our integration

programme, there will be an increased focus on person-centred care. Working with individuals

and the local community the aim is to promote an asset based approach and build on networks of

support and capacity in our communities.

Our ambition for integrated solutions extends beyond health and social care. We wish to create

an all systems partnership which includes housing, as well as with Independent, Private and

Voluntary organisations. This is evidenced in the recent enquiry undertaken by the Health and

Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee into Integration Approaches for Central

Bedfordshire.

The preceding Better Care Fund Plans set out our vision and ambition for a ‘Place based’ approach

with better care locally. To achieve this vision we have been implementing more joined up

services with primary, community, mental health and social care teams working across our

localities. We are implementing integrated discharge coordination and reablement as well as

continuing to increase community capacity with the support of our effective volunteering base in

Central Bedfordshire.

As one of the eight areas to become an Accountable Care System, we welcome the opportunity to

bring together, at pace, a range of services to deliver integrated care for our local population as

well as to begin the process of redefining relationships between Commissioners and Providers to

focus on collaboration and service improvement in context of place based care.

This 2017/19 Plan builds on the previous Plans and does not attempt to repeat all the baseline
information that formed part of earlier plans. We recognise, however, the need for alignment of

Page 169
Agenda Item 8



4

Plans across local health and care agencies and the national strategic drivers that influence them.
This document seeks to meet the national requirements for Health and Care systems to produce a
short, jointly agreed narrative plan including details of how the national conditions and
performance metrics are being addressed.

“The Central Bedfordshire Better Care Fund will create a pooled fund of £22.896m in 2017/18 and
£24.312 in 2018/19 to support the delivery of integrated care. This is made up of a contribution of
£5.536m and £6.511m from Central Bedfordshire Council; £15.549m and £15.844m from
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group as well as the Improved Better Care fund of £1.810m
and £1.956m respectively, over the two years of the Plan.

Our System ambition is for local people to be able to say.

“My care is planned with people who work together to understand me and my carer(s), put me in
control, co-ordinate and deliver services to achieve my best outcomes”

Cllr Brian Spurr
Chair
Central Bedfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 170
Agenda Item 8



5

a) Background and context to the plan

Local Authority Central Bedfordshire Council

Clinical Commissioning Group
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

STP Footprint
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes

Boundary Differences

Bedfordshire CCG’s boundaries are
coterminous with Bedford Borough and
Central Bedfordshire Councils.

There are no district general hospitals
within Central Bedfordshire. Local
residents use up to seven different
hospitals.

Date agreed at Health and Well-Being Board:
Delegated sign by Health and Wellbeing Board.
http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=829&MId=5215&Ver=4

Date submitted: 11 September 2017

Minimum required value of BCF
pooled budget: 2017/18

£15,549,369

2018/19 £15,844,807

Total agreed value of pooled budget:
2017/18

£22,895,736

2018/19 £24,312,228

Signed on behalf of the Clinical
Commissioning Group Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

By

Position Sarah Thompson. Accountable Officer

Date 8 September 2017

Signed on behalf of the Council Central Bedfordshire Council

By

Position
Julie Ogley. Director of Social Care, Health
and Housing

Date 8 September 2017

Signed on behalf of the Health and
Wellbeing Board

Central Bedfordshire Health and Wellbeing
Board

By Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board

Date 11 September 2017

Page 171
Agenda Item 8



6

Related documentation

Document or
Information title

Synopsis and links

Health and Wellbeing
Strategy

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/documents/s39990/
CBC%20HWB%20Strategy%20Final.pdf

Central Bedfordshire
Joint Strategic
Assessment (JSNA)

https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/

Executive Summary – 2016/17
https://www.jsna.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/jsna/downloads/file/
28/jsna_executive_summary_201617

Bedfordshire CCG
Operating Plan 2017-
2019
Narrative Plan
December 2016

https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/downloadFile.php?id=161
97

Commissioning for the
future. Commissioning
intentions 2017 - 18
September 2016
Final version

https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/downloadFile.php?id=156
25

STP https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/?id=3591

GP Forward View
https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/downloadFile.php?id=161
06

OSC Enquiry http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=644&
MId=5377&Ver=4

Market Position
Statement

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/Images/121213MarketPositio
nStatementweb_tcm6-37596.pdf#False

CBC Investment
prospectus

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/housing/independent-
living/dev-accom-older-people-
bedfordshire.aspx?utm_source=website&utm_medium=shortcut&ut
m_campaign=opip

Central Bedfordshire
Local Plan

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/planning/policy/local-
plan/local-plan.aspx

Page 172
Agenda Item 8



7

2. The vision and approach for health and social care integration

Our vision is for the people of Central Bedfordshire to have access to good quality, safe, local
health and social care across its towns and rural areas. This must be centred on the integration of
health and social care through a whole systems and seamless approach to improving physical and
mental health, so that people can experience “care without organisational boundaries” and
‘better care, locally’.

Integration offers the opportunity to improve outcomes for people as well as ensuring better use
of resources, financial, estates and workforce. Crucial to this is making better use of public assets
to deliver new models of care and is a key ambition of our Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership. In this context, our approach in Central Bedfordshire is to focus on the ‘Place’.

The vision for more local and joined up services was set out in our Better Care Fund Plans.
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/health-social-care/better-care-fund/developing.aspx . At
its heart, is an ambition to secure access to the right care, in the right place and at the right time.
Central to this, is a drive for transformational change across health and social care based on
integrated and seamless care pathways at locality levels. Care should be coordinated around an
individual’s needs with prevention and support for maintaining and maximising independence at
its core. This should be underpinned by the following principles:

 Care coordinated around the individual

 Decisions made with, and as close to, the individual as possible

 Care should be provided in the most appropriate setting; and

 Funding flowing to where it is needed.

These principles are importantly centred on our local ambition for the development of an
integrated health and care hub in each locality in Central Bedfordshire as a focal point for joining
up health, social care and other council services and the delivery of care closer to where people
live.

Integrated Health and Care Hubs are crucial to shifting the balance of care from acute hospitals to
a more community-led approach as well as helping to reshape the primary model which delivers
primary care at scale. A locality based integrated health and care hub approach improves
cooperation and joined up working which improves the access and quality of care provision. It also
leads to a reduction of inappropriate hospital admissions and importantly supports the vision for
integrated primary and community services at scale as set out in the General Practice Forward
View.

Central Bedfordshire’s population distribution and its relation to secondary care providers make it
important that the primacy of the Integrated Health and Care Hubs approach is sustained. Services
will be more accessible to people, especially in predominantly rural areas, and will meet the
requirements for delivering health and care services to an expanding and ageing population. The
Integrated Health and Care Hubs will be the main centres for providing proactive and preventative
care, out of hospital services and care packages for people who are vulnerable or have complex
care needs. The Hubs will provide support to children with complex health needs and the
transition from children to adult services.

By developing greater range and capacity in community-focused care it will be possible to deliver
improved health and care experiences as well as more effective use of resources by:

Page 173
Agenda Item 8



8

1. Reshaping the model for prevention and early intervention – through an integrated
approach to primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention to stop or reduce
deterioration in health.

2. Supporting people with long term conditions through multi-disciplinary working –
focussing services around general practice in locality networks and helping people to
manage their own conditions in the community.

3. Expanding the range of services that support older people with frailty and
disabilities – integrating the range of housing, mobility, carers and other services that
wrap around older people with specific conditions and issues and helping to manage
new demand including through the Care Act.

4. Restructuring integrated care pathways for those with urgent care needs – ensuring
that these are seamless, clear, and efficient to help deliver the clinical shift required to
move care away from acute settings, where appropriate, as well as building future
resilience for the responsibilities of the Council under the Care Act 2014.

The multiplicity of inputs to health and social care, with different agencies and commissioners,
represents a major challenge to the development of integrated and joined up services. Our vision
for integration sees the development of jointly commissioned services as an important mechanism
for overcoming those challenges and securing more cost effective and coherent services.

We wish to see a changed relationship between the Council, Health Commissioners and Provider
organisations to enable a greater focus on meeting the needs of the local population. The STP
through the ‘place based’ approach provides a platform for bringing together strategic decision
making between the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group and at a ‘cluster’ level between
medical health, social care and the wider community based practitioners. This will translate into:

 simpler means of aligning our resources;

 collaborative commissioning

 integrating hospital services with GP, community health and social care

 building capacity and resilience in our communities to be self sustaining

 expanded use of assistive technology

Our vision for out of hospital services recognises the importance of high quality and accessible
secondary and tertiary health care to our population through better and more cost effective use of
hospital services. Local access to appropriate services would prevent people, especially frail older
people, making unnecessary journeys to hospitals and would make important difference in care
outcomes, quality and experience, particularly for those with long term conditions. Only those
people requiring the use of highly specialist diagnostic equipment or acute hospital facilities would
need to be travel out of their local areas.

However, it is important that community based care is underpinned by integrated multi-
disciplinary teams working together within a planned whole systems approach to care delivery.
The co-location of health and care teams in fit for purpose facilities is central to managing demand
and ensuring the future sustainability of our health and care systems.

This approach is consistent with our STP’s Primary Care Home model, through a ‘cluster based’
approach with health and social care teams working collaboratively with community and voluntary
groups to empower people to increasingly self-care, improve wellbeing and to use their own
informal and existing networks of support.

As an integrated health and care economy, our vision is that over time discrete silos of current
health and care provision will be replaced with an integrated model of care aimed primarily at

Page 174
Agenda Item 8



9

supporting patients to be self caring, independent and less reliant on acute or specialist
intervention. There will be better, more timely and accessible information and community
services, enabling people to have healthier lifestyles and manage their long term conditions more
effectively. Unplanned emergency admissions would be avoided and quality of life would be
improved with people supported to live independently in their own homes for as long as possible.

2.1 Our Locality Based Delivery Model

The emerging model sees healthcare being delivered through a number of integrated health and
care hubs based on the four localities in Central Bedfordshire. These would provide a focal point
for the provision of out of hospital care services in each locality. Within each locality there will be
an integrated multidisciplinary approach, with ‘one team’ working across organisational
boundaries. The focus of the team’s work will be on a local population covering a GP grouping or
clusters with populations of 40 – 50,000.

As a minimum these hubs are expected to serve as a base for the multi-disciplinary teams (adults
and children’s) being established as part of the community services redesign programme,
including general medical services where possible.

These Hubs will enable the development of new models of care where general practices,
particularly groupings of Practices (Primary Care Networks), will be more effectively and flexibly
integrated with community, mental health and social care, as set out below.

Page 175
Agenda Item 8



P
age 176

A
genda Item

 8



2.2 What will this mean to local people?

Local people will have access to more joined-up health and care services closer to home. People
will experience real improvements in primary care and community based support, when it is
needed.

By 2019, our journey from fragmented working to an integrated and person-centred approach will
be fully embedded. These changes in the way services are organised will mean our population will:

 Experience seamless access to a timely, coordinated offer of health and care
support.

 Have access to a wider range of support to prevent ill-health, with increased
emphasis on early interventions supported by voluntary, community and long-
term condition groups, enabling them to stay healthier for longer;

 Be supported to remain independent with integrated GP and community
multidisciplinary teams delivering care directly within their own home wherever
it is possible to do so;

 Have access to a wider range of health and care services in the community that
will help to avoid unnecessary hospital admission and, following any necessary
admission, will enable discharge to home care as soon as it is safe to do so;

 Have access to mental health services that are integrated with physical health
and social care services, through acute, primary, community and specialist teams
and aligned to lifestyle Hubs.

 Have access to integrated rehabilitation and reablement services that will avoid
or minimise the need to enter into residential or nursing home care;

 Experience reduced variations in care with improved outcomes;

 Have support for carers that is timely and person centred with an integrated
response underpinned with joint planning and assessment, as appropriate;

 Experience services that are person-centred, highly responsive and flexible,
designed to deliver the outcomes important to the individual; and

 Benefit from stream-lined and integrated working with joint information
systems.

2.3 Principles for delivery

• To ensure that the voice of local people is heard and supports the modelling and

implementation of this strategy by engaging with patients to ensure the views of our

public are taken into account, especially when redesigning pathways.

• All services will ensure early identification of people (children and adults) at risk of early

abuse at the earliest opportunity, ensuring that appropriate action is taken. Continually

seek to increase awareness of vulnerabilities and ensure safeguarding becomes a core part

of everyone’s service delivery, embracing community responsibility within this.

• Supporting and enabling formal and informal caring

• Over the next five years we will have transformed the pattern of services delivered

through an integrated health and social care hub, which is primary care led offering risk

stratification with targeted prevention to the most vulnerable people.

Page 177
Agenda Item 8



12

• Seamless care provision through multidisciplinary and multi-organisational teams

including the community and voluntary sector

• People will be supported with wrap around care in their own home or wherever they may

be.

2.4 Delivery Model

Commissioners have agreed initial key priorities to creating an integrated health and care system,
which will bridge provider boundaries to deliver joined up care without the need for people to tell
their story multiple times, up-skill teams to undertake single assessments on behalf of multiple
providers thereby reducing the number of referrals between services and the number of individual
interventions. This is currently being progressed through a joint Associate Director post between
Essex Partnership University Trust Community health services and Central Bedfordshire Council’s
Social Work practitioners.

The key elements for successful delivery are:

 Shared care records

 Primary care operating in clusters or networks and ‘at scale’

 Development of Multi-disciplinary teams within cluster neighbourhoods

 Specialist services designed to support cluster teams

 Co location or flexible/shared working locations

 Joint Risk Stratification

 Pooled budgets (where appropriate)

 Joint commissioning (where appropriate)

 Integrated operational management

Services will be shaped around local populations and commissioners have agreed to adopt the
National Association of Primary Care model (NAPC), Primary Care Home (PCH). This will ensure
that services are developed around a 30,000 to 50,000 population with the GP being at the centre
of (but not necessarily co-ordinating) the patient’s care.

2.5 Enablers

There are a number of key work streams working locally and at scale across Bedford, Luton and
Milton Keynes (BLMK) to deliver this ambitious programme, ensuring our local (place based)
strategies benefit from at scale solutions which will help to create a seamless pathway for patients
registered with GPs or being treated outside of Bedfordshire; this cohesion will also provide access
to subject matter experts for IM&T and workforce to create strong and sustainable infrastructure
for our population. Key enablers for at scale delivery include workforce, IM&T and population
health management and medicines optimisation.

3. Strategic Alignment of BCF Plan

Our Central Bedfordshire Integration and BCF Plan is directly aligned and contributes to the

delivery of the Five Year Forward View through Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships

(STP) and as set out in the Next Steps document published in March 2017.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/next-steps-on-the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/

Page 178
Agenda Item 8



13

The NHS Five Year Forward View said: “The traditional divide between primary care, community

services, and hospitals - largely unaltered since the birth of the NHS - is increasingly a barrier to the

personalised and coordinated health services patients need. Long term conditions are now a

central task of the NHS; caring for these needs requires a partnership with patients over the long

term rather than providing single, unconnected ‘episodes’ of care. Increasingly we need to manage

systems – networks of care – not just organisations. Out-of-hospital care needs to become a much

larger part of what the NHS does. And services need to be integrated around the patient.”

In meeting the requirement for transition to population-based health and care systems, the
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) STP has adopted a Place-based approach to health
and social care integration, building on the Better Care Fund to meet the challenge of shared local
health, quality and efficiency, with five key priorities (http://www.blmkstp.co.uk/about/stp-
priorities/) to deliver the future vision for health and social care. The development and
transformation of primary care is a core strategic aim of Priority 2 of the STP.

Our BCF Plan is aligned to these, and directly supports delivery of all its goals, as well as to other
programmes of work including the new models of care and a programme of transformational
change. It has a ‘Place Based’ out of hospital approach focused on the needs of people with long
term conditions and delivers a journey for the integration of health and social care services. Area
specific plans for Primary Care and out of hospital services are described at local authority and
CCG level and set out within our Better Care Fund Plan and Integration Plan. This is particularly
relevant for Central Bedfordshire’s population in view of patient flows to hospitals outside of the
local STP footprint.

In addition to the Priority 2 objectives and alignment described above, the BLMK STP has also
created a programme of work for 2017/18 and 2018/19 focussing on 4 ‘priority interventions’ that
we believe the system can have the biggest impact on quality and sustainability. They are:

Page 179
Agenda Item 8



14

1. Primary Care Home – accelerated implementation of the model of care as an enabler of
stronger, integrated out of hospital care.

2. Complex Care, with a focus on care homes
3. Transitions of Care, focussing on admission and discharge pathways
4. Paediatric non-elective admissions

Our BCF plan directly supports the implementation and delivery of these STP wide plans at a place
based level.

Our local health and care system leadership is focused on securing a whole system approach from
2017-20. As an accelerated Accountable Care Systems (ACS), the emphasis is on developing a
concept and model in BLMK that enhances delivery of continuous improvements in care quality,
population health and value for money. Our ACS will enable us to create an effective collective
decision making and governance structure, to provide clinically networked services. The aim is to
remove barriers and create new relationships between hospital, GP, mental health, community
health, social care and voluntary/charitable services. It will also adopt a rigorous approach to
prevention and population health management and to ensure patient choice and personalised
care drives informed health and wellbeing choices for local people.

This clear focus on ‘Place’ is also reflected in our GP Forward View document, which sets out a
plan for the establishment of clusters or networks of GP practices around populations of at least
30-50,000 to serve as the footprint for collaborative working between practices, delivery of
extended access, and as the footprint for the local implementation of the Primary Care Home
model (multi-disciplinary working). Working around the GP Clusters aligns with our plans for
establishing integrated health and care hubs, which will serve as a focal point for a wider
integrated multidisciplinary approach. The primary care clusters in Central Bedfordshire have all
been accepted onto the National Association of Primary Care (NAPC) Community of Practice
programme and so all the practices covering the CBC population will have the opportunity to
access and share the learning and development from the Primary Care Home national model.

OSC Enquiry into Integration - In September 2016 the Social Care Health and Housing Overview
and Scrutiny Committee (SCHHOSC) agreed to undertake an enquiry to support the Council to
deliver one element of the Five Year Plan relating to Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving
Wellbeing. The enquiry sought to understand the national strategic drivers, barriers and risks and
receive evidence, advice and information from sector experts to agree an emerging approach to
redesign how residents access health and care services.

170515 - Principles
and Recommendations Doc.docx

Page 180
Agenda Item 8



15

4. The Case for Change

4.1 Population and Health Indicators

Central Bedfordshire, a predominantly rural area in the East of England, is considered to be a
highly desirable place to live and work. As a consequence the population is growing, rising from
254,400 in 2011 to approximately 278,900 in 2016. Further estimated growth of 19% will see the
population rise to 332,000 by 2031.

The health of people in Central Bedfordshire is generally better than the England average. The
population is ageing as well as growing. Between 2016 and 2031 the number of people aged 65
and over is forecast to increase from 48,500 to 73,500, a 52% increase.

Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the England average. Life expectancy is
5.8 years lower for men and 5.0 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Central
Bedfordshire than in the least deprived areas.

Our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides a comprehensive picture bringing together
intelligence about the health and wellbeing of the people living in Central Bedfordshire.
There are a number of common themes which have emerged from the JSNA:

 The need to increase healthy life expectancy and promote independence by increasingly

‘mainstreaming prevention’. This is important to both local residents and to the health

and care system that will need to meet rising demand if healthy life expectancy does not

improve.

 The need to reduce inequalities and disadvantage which can start from birth – so giving

every child the best start in life is essential.

 Parity of mental and physical health – there is no health without mental health.

 The need to be ambitious – whilst outcomes in Central Bedfordshire appear better than

average – they should be as it is a relatively affluent area – so we should aim to be among

the best.

Page 181
Agenda Item 8



16

 Growing population due to increasing life expectancy, a birth rate higher than deaths and
inward migration

 In 2016 the population was estimated at 278,900 with an increase of 6.6% expected by
2021. Older age groups will increase at a much faster rate (65+ by 13.8%, 85+ by 18.3%)
(Sources: ONS, 2016 mid year estimate and 2014 ONS Sub national population projections)

 Average life expectancy is 81.7 years for men and 83.7 years for women), better than the
national average. Life expectancy is increasing at the rate of about 4.0 years for men and 2.1
years for women each decade.

 The main causes of death under 75 are cancer, heart disease, stroke and lung diseases
(predominantly chronic obstructive pulmonary disease).

 The largest towns in the area are Leighton Buzzard (41,000), Dunstable (38,200),
Biggleswade (18,800) and Houghton Regis (18,500) (Source: ONS, 2015 mid year estimates).

 The population is 89.7% White British, with White: Other White (2.8%), White: Irish (1.2%)
and Indian 1.0%.

 The number of people registered with Central Bedfordshire General Practices in April 2017
was 280,040

A summary of the principal demographic and health characteristics are described below:

The figure below shows the overall expected population growth between 2016 and 2031 which
will have a significant impact on health and care services in Central Bedfordshire.

Percentage increase in Central Bedfordshire population between 2016 and 2031

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2014 Sub National Population Projections, 2016-2031

4.2 Future Changes in Demand for Health and Social Care

Central Bedfordshire is an area of significant economic opportunity with planned housing and

employment growth and is a desirable place to live. (See Local Plan) Although Central

Bedfordshire is a relatively affluent area with life expectancy greater than the national average,

there are significant challenges resulting from an ageing population and pockets of urban and rural

deprivation.

Demands on services for older people with disability and frailty will increase. Mental health

problems, particularly depression and dementia, are more common and have a worse outcome in

the 60% of older people who suffer from long standing illnesses. Under-detection of mental illness

Page 182
Agenda Item 8



17

in older people is widespread, due to the nature of the symptoms, the belief that it is an inevitable

consequence of ageing, and the fact that many older people live alone.

Older people are at an increased risk of depression due to factors such as retirement, social

isolation, bereavement and, long-term illness and disability. Depression in people aged 65 and

over is under-diagnosed and this is particularly true of residents in care homes where symptoms of

depression are present in between 20–50% of residents.

The prevalence of dementia across the UK is estimated at over 700,000. In 2015, it was estimated

that there were 3,000 people with dementia in Central Bedfordshire including almost 300 people

under the age of 65. By 2030, it is estimated that there will be 5400 people with dementia, an

increase of 67%. Approximately 245 people are diagnosed with dementia via the memory

assessment service in Central Bedfordshire every year.

Evidence suggests that early diagnosis and treatment is important and can improve the quality of

life for people and increase their independence as the condition progresses.

Additional key factors that influence potential changes in demand for health and social care in
people aged 65 and over living in Central Bedfordshire are set out below:

2011 2015 2020 2025 2030

People living with dementia 2,634 3,031 3,677 4,516 5,440

15% 40% 71% 107%

People living with a limiting long
term conditions

17,288 20,098 23,061 26,620 30,528

16% 33% 54% 77%

People unable to manage at least
one personal care task

13,131 15,077 17,578 20,648 23,936

15% 25% 57% 82%

People unable to manage at least
one domestic care task

16,010 18,379 21,530 25,294 29,240

15% 34% 58% 83%

Falls are a major cause of disability and the leading cause of injury related mortality in people aged
over 75 years, and osteoporosis increases the likelihood of serious injury. Up to 10% of falls are
likely to result in serious injury, of which 5% are fractures. In 2015, approximately 12,205 people
aged 65 and over were estimated to have had a fall. It is important to note that this is the number
of people that fall and not the number of falls. Since 2010-11 injuries due to falls in people aged
65 and over have risen. Consequently, Central Bedfordshire outturn changed from being
significantly better than the England average to being statistically similar. There have been
concerted efforts to reduce falls through falls awareness training to Care Homes and a strong
Public Health campaign. Local initiatives to reduce conveyance to hospital following a fall have
also proved effective with timely support from the Urgent Homes and Falls Response Service.

4.3 Reducing Reliance on Hospital Services for less Complex Care

A major challenge within our BCF Plan is to reduce Non-Elective Admissions, which has increased
in 2016/17 as reflected in the BCF quarterly performance reports. Developing services that reduce
reliance on the hospital sector for those with urgent but less complex care needs that could be
provided in out of hospital settings, is a key priority in our Plan. We have carried out a review of
admissions for Central Bedfordshire residents and some of the findings are set out in the
Performance Metrics section.

Page 183
Agenda Item 8



18

We do not underestimate the scale of change that is required to ensure that people are cared for
in the most appropriate setting. This is key to sustaining our health and care economy and central
to our Sustainability and Transformation Plan. Our Better Care Fund plan and the emerging Out of
Hospital Strategy will be key in taking forward the transition to more local care.

Delivering this vision for integrated care means overcoming barriers between primary and
secondary care, physical and mental health, and health and social care. Our Better Care plan
brings resources together to address immediate pressures on services and establish a foundation
for a much more integrated system of health and care delivered at pace. Accessibility to health
and social care services is important and timely response particularly in a crisis, play a major role in
reducing admissions to secondary care, maintaining people at home and in the community. An
important part of the intermediate care and rehabilitation of course is access to community beds.
We are investing additional resources to create more bed capacity to support early discharge from
hospital and step up provision where necessary.

Admission avoidance is a key function of Intermediate care services. Consequently, the
multidisciplinary approach, which aligns with the STP’s Primary Care Home model is about
embedding a new delivery framework for joint working across partners and client groups to
deliver the full continuum of health and social care support.

A robust integrated intermediate care service is also key to expediting early discharge from
hospital and reducing length of stay. We are implementing an integrated discharge coordination
service for Central Bedfordshire as well as closer monitoring of patient flows across the seven
hospitals used by our residents to ensure that they are better supported. Key projects related to
these initiatives are set out in later sections of this plan.

This approach, which includes prevention and early intervention, self-management, reablement
and independence, will also close the gap between access to physical and mental health services

4.4 Current state of the health and social care market

The health and social care market in Central Bedfordshire is complex and fragmented. Joint

commissioning, cohesion in contracting and monitoring arrangements are limited. This has

important implications for cost effectiveness and use of resources. Developing a whole systems,

place based approach to shaping the health and care market is pivotal to ensuring that people can

access the right care and the right time, with greater coordination of planning and commissioning

arrangements.

The adult social care market in Central Bedfordshire is under pressure and sustainability,

particularly the Home Care market remains a concern. The Council has a strong partnership with

local care providers and is working with them to ensure sustainability as well as broader

engagement with the market.

We are working to support residential and nursing homes providers to deliver enhanced care to

their residents. This includes complex care support, pharmacist review of medications and

increasingly links into the multidisciplinary teams. Much of these initiatives will be taken forward

as part of the 2017/19 Plan. We would expect these initiatives which form part of the High Impact

Change Model, to help reduce emergency admissions; reduce delayed transfers of care and overall

pressures on the acute hospitals.

Page 184
Agenda Item 8



19

There are of course areas of risk in the care market. There are significant workforce capacity

issues across all providers of health and social care both in terms of carers but also in leadership

and management resources. Using the strong relationship with Providers, the Council has re-

commissioned its Domiciliary Care framework contract using feedback from providers to address

Providers’ concerns about financial sustainability and to promote the development of a local

workforce. This has involved changing the geographical coverage of the contract to support

shorter travel distances, support more focussed recruitment and retention of carers. The Council

has also introduced an incentive scheme to support more timely discharges from hospital.

For Residential and Nursing care provision, the Council, along with the Clinical Commissioning

Group are recommissioning the current framework contract. The focus of this work will also

address some of the gaps in the short term provision needed in the care market to support timely

discharge from hospital but also prevent people being admitted to hospital in the first place.

The overall financial sustainability of the care market remains a concern and Central Bedfordshire

Council participated in a Laing Buisson research into adult social care markets, carried out on

behalf of the County Councils Network (CCN) of the Local Government Association. This report and

a further update provide useful intelligence and an evidence base which will underpin our market

position statement. Providers have received above inflationary uplifts in the past two financial

years reflecting the need to address the National Living Wage impact and in addition a Fair Cost of

Care exercise has been undertaken in Domiciliary Care to understand ‘Units’ rate of care. This

work will also be undertaken within the Residential and Nursing Care for Older People with

Learning Disability services to follow.

5. Progress against BCF Plan 2016/17

In this second year of our BCF Plans, there is demonstrable evidence of the impact on the health

and care system. We have made good progress on a number of key projects such as

multidisciplinary working in our localities and relationships with care providers, particularly Care

Homes. Local partnerships are strengthened and there is greater collaboration across services to

deliver integrated and improved outcomes for people. We have been working together on key

areas to enhance joint care delivery and integration.

The Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee concluded its enquiry on

the local approach to integration and integrated health and care hubs. Their recommendations

will help to shape the future direction of health and care services in Central Bedfordshire.

An LGA Peer Review into Reablement and Rehabilitation took place in October 2016 and

recommendations from the Review will be taken forward in an action plan which will form part of

the 2017/19 BCF Plan.

Clearly challenges remain and the 2017/19 BCF Plan, alongside the STP priorities will ensure a

system-wide approach and solutions of some of these challenges.

5.1 Locality Based Integrated Health and Social Care Services

The 2016/17 BCF Plan set out our local vision for locality based delivery model for health and

social care, in our four localities. These population centres of Chiltern Vale, Leighton Buzzard,

West Mid Beds and Ivel Valley form the basis of well-established localities that have become the

focus for multidisciplinary working and partnerships for delivery of health and social care services.

Page 185
Agenda Item 8



20

We have built on the Caring Together project, which was set out in the 2015/16 Plan, with

establishment of integrated health and social care locality arrangements in the Chiltern Vale area.

We introduced Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) working to provide an integrated response to those

patients most at risk of admission and other people who would benefit from a more joined up

response. The experience gained from a review of this work was used to develop the

multidisciplinary approach which is now being rolled out across the rest of Central Bedfordshire.

These locality arrangements, which now form part of the Cluster arrangements, are central to

responding to local demographic pressures and the increasing complexity of existing pathways

within health and social care. We have made some progress on the framework for achieving this

locality focus through development of Integrated Care Hubs that are based, in the first instance on

our four Localities.

As an area of significant growth in housing and population, we also recognise that the number of

hubs, which would be needed to serve an area without an acute hospital, is likely to increase in

line with housing and population growth. Further information on the Integrated Health and Care

Hubs is set out in the 2016/17 BCF Plan.

Since submitting the 2016/17 Plan, we have secured funding through One Public Estate and the

Estates and Technology Transformation Fund to develop business cases for the Hubs. So far, we

have developed an Outline Business Case for the Dunstable (Chiltern Vale) Hub and a Strategic

Outline Case for the Biggleswade (Ivel Valley) Hub. We are now in the process of commissioning

the strategic outline case documents for the remaining hubs as well as how other local health and

care premises will interrelate with the Hubs as Spokes.

We have had on going discussions with NHS Property Services to secure the Biggleswade Hospital

Site asset which is critical to meet the ambition for the Ivel Valley Hub. In addition to this, we are

working with NHS Project Appraisal Unit, Community Health Partnerships and through our STP to

progress our ambitions for the locality based integrated health and care hubs which represent a

key part of the STP vision for out of hospital services and key also for the implementation of the

GP Forward View.

In 2016/17, we committed to seven key schemes within the BCF Plan. Performance against these

schemes has been regularly monitored, through the Better Care Fund Commissioning Board and

reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Highlights and successes of key schemes in the

2016/17 plan are summarised as follows:

5.2 Multidisciplinary Working – supporting more people closer to home

We have made real progress towards delivering integrated outcomes for people. We have
established a ‘place based' multidisciplinary approach, with staff from community, mental health
and social care, bringing care close to people in their localities. This work started in Ivel Valley and
now being progressed across the remaining localities in Central Bedfordshire. This
multidisciplinary approach is being led by senior operational managers, who are now meeting on
monthly basis. A staff directory has been produced. This test bed for a place based team is being
supported by Health Education East who has provided important insights into the experiential
learning from this way of working. Work is also ongoing to facilitate interim co-location of the
team at the Biggleswade Hospital site. Plans are underway to roll out this approach across Central
Bedfordshire from November 2017. This place based focus aligns with the STP vision and work
packages for primary, community and social care priority.

Page 186
Agenda Item 8



21

Partnership working with the Community Health Services Provider has improved significantly and
a joint associate director post has been established. The first 6 months of the role have focused
on the development of an integrated value based leadership approach across Social care and
Community Health Services to give permission within the system to deliver integrated outcomes
for the residents of central Bedfordshire. Progress has been made in the joint approach in relation
to access and assessment. This includes closer alignment of intermediate Care and reablement,
roll out of Multidisciplinary approach across localities and new arrangement at the Luton and
Dunstable relating to discharge planning.

Further progress has been made through joint work on the approach towards DTOC with the
development of tracker, Hospital discharge service and contributing to the development and
implementation of discharge to assess model within Central Bedfordshire. Additional capacity has
now been funded through the IBCF to facilitate the sustainability of the early progress made. This
includes the funding of 2 Locality integrated system managers who will work within their
respective localities to ensure transformation is delivered. The investment will have a focus on
both reducing DTOC and admission avoidance across the whole of Central Bedfordshire.

Our ambition is to implement a multidisciplinary approach with place based teams across Central
Bedfordshire. ‘One team’ working across organisational boundaries to improve the health and
care of the local population, with a clear focus on the ‘Place’ bringing together primary, social,
community and mental health services and when fully socialised will work to a common set of
outcome measures.

This is a re-alignment of existing community based services. The focus is on new ways of working
to maximise the workforce, reduce duplication to create a more efficient and sustainable health
and care system. We have just reorganised community services on a place based model and the
intention is to develop ways of working that take this integration further through the autumn,
building on the initial focus on Ivel Valley. It brings together primary, social, community and
mental health services with a network of support from the community and voluntary sector.
Drawing together the skills and resources within the locality to provide high quality coordinated
care, cluster teams will form strong working relationships to provide care and improve outcomes
for their population.

These cluster teams will have closer connection to their communities, understanding the needs of
the locality population and working with the communities to deliver care and support. This model
focuses on teams working, as ‘one virtual team’ centred on their local population/place,
(clusters/locality) with a set of common goals.

As part of the progression of this Multidisciplinary Approach in Ivel Valley, community, mental
health and social care colleagues have expressed a wish to co-locate to enhance joint working and
arrangements are being made for an interim co-location of the teams on the Biggleswade Hospital
site as a precursor for when we have the Integrated Health and Care Hub in place.

The teams that will be co-locating on the site are the Older People Mental Health Teams; Adult
Social Care Teams and the Community Health Services Teams. These are essentially the Ivel Valley
Teams who will have an overview of the health and care needs of the local population.

5.3 Information Sharing - SystmOne Viewer Access and NHS.net

We are also in the process of securing viewer access to SystmOne for social care colleagues as well
as NHS.net to enhance joint working. We are continuing to match adult social care records with

Page 187
Agenda Item 8



22

NHS numbers as a unique identifier across health and social care. Pseudonmyised data is being
used to understand cost of services.

We are actively involved in the STP Digitisation programme which aims to deliver shared care
records across health and social care.

5.4 Risk Stratification

The Caring Together MDT meetings in Chiltern Vale have continued and the number of GP
Surgeries now participating has increased. Proactive care and risk stratification approach is
continuing. The Luton and Dunstable Hospital Consultant Geriatrician is providing input into the
meetings and supporting case management.

A risk stratification tool based on pseudonmyised data has been developed and is in use. The
pseudonymisation at source (P@S) tool uses a combination of primary, secondary and social care
data to select those who are highest risk of hospital readmission. Using targeted case
management on those people who are like to benefit from further intensive support, promotion of
self management or social prescribing. It is likely that this tool will also extend to those in Care
Homes as part of the enhanced care in care homes work and the High Impact Change Model.

5.5 Community Assessment Pilot

As part of a recent workforce review and a review of the customer journey, we have made a
number of changes to the way integrated services approaches adult social care. A key driver for
these changes has been the Care Act 2014.

As part of these changes, we carried out a successful pilot of a Community Assessment Officer
Role. This role enables unregistered practitioners to undertake assessments and reviews under the
Care Act 2014 with the oversight of a qualified practitioner. This enables the customer journey
within integrated services to operate a proportionate approach to customers needs. It was
identified as part of the review of the customer journey that customers valued having a consistent
worker and not continually being passed from one worker to another. It was also clear that
depending on level of complexity that not all customers required the assistance of a registered
practitioner. The pilot clearly identified that the unregistered workforce offered our customers a
wealth of skills and competence and continuity.

Following the successful pilot, consultation period and recruitment each locality team now has
Community Assessment Officers as part of the team. In addition, the workforce review made it
possible for Central Bedfordshire Council to enhance its career progression scheme to include a
Senior Assessment Officer role which enables unregistered practitioners to further enhance their
skills and abilities. This in turn further benefit the customers experience by having consistency
from a motivated workforce.

5.6 End of Life Care:

With support from the LGA BCF Advisors, we carried out a review of End of Life (EoL) and Palliative
Care Services. The review demonstrated fragmented pathways with patient handoffs across the
system. A revised model of care was developed in partnership with existing providers to
encourage integrated working and increased capacity across the system as well as a proactive
approach to the management of service users at the end of life to prevent avoidable admissions,
which are often in contrast to the wishes and preferences of people whose preferred place of
death is at their usual place of residence.

Page 188
Agenda Item 8



23

During 2016/17, the EoL Local Implementation Group (LIG), attended by health and social care
colleagues, produced a Bedfordshire wide Advanced Care Plan (ACP) document and supporting
leaflet. Training to professionals was rolled out and reporting demonstrates a significant increase
in the number of ACP discussions with service users. Further training and awareness of the ACP
document will continue throughout 2017/18 across health and social care.

Pathway Re-design: A facilitated large scale workshop took place on 24th May 2017 to identify
interfaces between health and social care across the end of life pathway. The aim was to identify
solutions to areas / processes which need improving to ensure service users receive the right
services at the right time. The main areas requiring improvement and integration were around
training, support to care homes and end of life fast track processes. As a result of this joint
working, there is now greater integrated working, increased capacity and a more proactive
approach to care management. Implementation of Advanced Care Plans and training is
continuing. The work with the Ambulance service has seen a reduction in the number of
conveyances to hospitals with more calls to the Partnership for Excellence in Palliative Support
(PEPS) Service. Up to 12 Care Homes in Central Bedfordshire have appointed an EoL Champion to
work with professionals.

As a result of this work, the next phases of the improvements to end of life pathways through
2017/18 will focus on further embedding an integrated care pathway. Discussions are underway to
introduce an integrated fast track pathway across health and social care using substantive
Palliative Support Workers trained in end of life care instead of the current pathway which uses
agency workers. Implementation of the new model began on 1st July 2017 and further planned
elements of the model will continue to be implemented in succession to enhance the provision of
end of life services across the system.

5.7 Delayed Transfers of Care:

We carried out a deep dive into delayed transfers of care in 2016 to provide greater insight into
patient flows and delays. This was followed by a further programme of work through Public Health
Intelligence work mapping out patient flows for Central Bedfordshire. This work provided a clearer
and evidence based understanding of our system. Both of these pieces of work underpinned the
case for additional investment and realignment of staff to support early and coordinated discharge
from all hospitals used by Central Bedfordshire residents. Through this additional investment and
resources, we have established closer working with all acute trusts to improve support for early
discharge and reduce delays

Social care related reasons for delayed transfers of care reduced in Central Bedfordshire and is
one of the best performers in the Eastern Region. Delay due to health reasons are also improving.
Additional intermediate care beds for step down have been made available for patients, including
those patients who can be discharged but remain non-weight bearing.

We completed the self assessment on High Impact Change areas and an action plan is being
developed to address the key areas identified in the process. These will be taken forward as part
of our 2017/19 Plan.

5.8 Stroke and Early Supported Discharge (ESD):

The Early Supported Discharge initiative went live in March 2017 and referrals have been received
from the Luton & Dunstable, Bedford and Lister Hospitals. The stroke tracker developed by the
team to monitor impact of the service on length of stay and access to community stroke

Page 189
Agenda Item 8



24

rehabilitation, showed that in the first month of the service there were 19 referrals for Central
Bedfordshire residents and all referrals were seen within 24 hours. Recruitment to the team has
been completed and is fully mobilised.

A Care Pathway for ESD has been developed and implemented across the acute sector mainly the
Luton & Dunstable, Bedford, Milton Keynes and Lister Hospitals. An average of 5 spot purchase
beds avoided per month which realised savings of £371K for 2016/17.

There were some challenges, such as delayed implementation of the ESD service for
approximately 7 months. This was due to staff recruitment, availability of suitable care packages
and delay in getting care packages for eligible patients. Closer working with social care colleagues
is helping to address some of these challenges. For 2017, as part of ongoing service development,
psychology services support will be explored to see how the team can integrate within current
resources.

Supportive Technology: Disabled Facilities Grants – We have adopted an approach for more
flexible use of resource to support early discharge from hospital and promote independence
through wider use of assistive technology.

5.9 Falls
The project to train ‘Falls champions’ in Care Homes has been successful, with Falls Champions
now established in 94% of Care Homes in Central Bedfordshire. In 2016/17 Falls champions were
invited to quarterly meetings for education, peer learning and support on falls prevention specific
topics including Dementia, Medication, getting up safely following a fall. There has been a positive
impact on the number of falls and individual residential and nursing homes have reported
reductions in falls. Overall for Bedfordshire there has been a reduction in emergency admissions
for falls by 8% based on 2015/16 outturn against a predicted 2% increase. A falls seminar was held
in July 2017, 12 months after the launch of the programme, over 50 Care home staff attended this
event.

In 2017/18 the falls champion meetings will continue on a 4 monthly basis providing a forum for
education and peer support. There will be a focus on extra care housing with the aim of identifying
and training falls champions in all extra care housing provision in Bedfordshire.

A model for the provision of strength and balance training for CBC residents is to be developed
and commissioned. The offer of strength and balance training needs to be available to residents
attending the FLS service; this is an important element of secondary prevention.

A business case for fracture liaison service to commence at Bedford Hospital was approved.
Individual care home providers are purchasing equipment to help get people up safely following
the ISTUMBLE seminar.

5.10 Enhanced Care in Care Homes

We completed a self assessment against the enhanced care in care homes framework and
identified key priority areas. Community nursing service specifications have been updated and
include nursing homes having access to community nurses. In addition:

 We now have actuarial analysis on non-elective admissions from Care Homes and lengths of
stay.

Page 190
Agenda Item 8



25

 Current support to care homes in Central Bedfordshire has been assessed against the
enhanced care in care homes framework produced from the learning of the care home
vanguards.

 Stakeholder engagement activities have been undertaken through a care home task and finish
group to gather intelligence on the local experience of accessing services to support the care
home population

 A Central Bedfordshire care home stakeholder working group has been established and has
been determining the priorities for delivering enhanced care in care homes. These include:
commissioning complex care team to enhance primary care support to care homes, piloting
the Red Bag scheme and Trusted Assessor model, developing a comprehensive training offer
to support care homes.

 The principle that care home residents should access health services in the same way as the
population living in their own home has been built into the model of community services
being developed for the community service procurement and some of the changes planned
with the current community provider for 2017/18. This includes MDT working on a cluster
basis, identification and case management of high risk patients using risk stratification, rapid
response to support admissions avoidance.

 We are participating in an ‘Assess to admit pilot’, trialling new ways of working with the acute
trust to reduce A&E attendances and hospital admissions. This pilot isn’t yet live due to
recruitment challenges.

 Successful bid application to pilot technology and digital solutions to enable Residential and
Nursing Homes to access electronic shared care records with health services.

 Increase in clinical pharmacy support to care homes.

NHSE EHCH
benchmarking tool v6 for submission 27.07.18.xlsx

A joint approach to enhancing care in care homes is being proposed via the STP, working with the
BLMK STP programme manager for complex care. This workstream includes training needs
assessment; digitisation and delivery of enhanced care. A workshop with Care Homes is being
planned.

We secured LGA funding in conjunction with Luton Borough Council to support information
sharing and integration of services with Care Homes.

Webpage.docx

5.11 Carers’ Support

‘Carers in Bedfordshire’ provide support to Carers and is a jointly commissioned service across
Bedfordshire organisations. The service administers and runs:

 A carer support service from 8.30am to 5pm on weekdays from their Bedford office and at
least one base in Central Bedfordshire. Carers are supported in community locations and
where required at home, hospital, workplaces and school.

 Carers’ groups – for socialising and support.

Page 191
Agenda Item 8



26

 Counselling for carers – in partnership with Bedford College with student counsellors
gaining experience whilst helping carers.

 Carers’ Magazine – now reaching over 5,000 carers four times a year.

 Adult carer training – on a wide variety of topics.

 Support for carers who care for those living with dementia.

 Carers’ Rest – weekly group for attendance by carer and cared for (dementia support)

 Carers’ Cafes – there are 6 cafes for socialising, well being therapies, advice and support

 Identifying carers in a hospital setting - Carers’ Lounge at the Luton and Dunstable hospital
opened September 2016.

 Carers’ Break Funds – an NHS initiative offering carers’ grants.

 Advice and information to all carers (including veteran and former carers) of all age groups
and all caring conditions.

 Memory Navigation Service and Memory Gateway for people worried about their memory
or living with dementia, and carers.

In addition to this, Central Bedfordshire Council Carer’s offer includes the following: assessment of
Carer’s needs through a Lead Practitioners and Community Assessment Officers, Carers’ breaks via
direct payments or carers’ vouchers; Residential respite breaks where the cared for person
temporarily goes into a residential care setting; Support and information groups for carers of
adults with a learning disability and a Carers Helpline via the Council’s Customer Contact Centre.

In 2017/19, a local Carers’ Strategy will be developed when the imminent National Strategy is
published. From October 2017, Age UK will begin to offer respite to Carers aged 50 and over.
Furthermore, our emerging Market Position Statement for Learning Disabilities, due to published
in autumn 2017 will also consider the requirements for more respite services for carers.

5.12 Meeting the Accommodation Needs for Older People

For an older person having suitable housing can be a very significant contributor to ageing well.
Homes in which older people have successfully raised a family can become a burden in later life
but those who wish to move to more suitable homes (sometimes referred to as ‘downsizers’)
often struggle to find something suitable, especially if they are keen to stay in a particular locality
in order to retain existing social contacts. There is now good evidence that in later life unsuitable
housing can contribute to physical and social isolation, the consequences of which can be an
avoidable deterioration in both physical and mental health.

To address these and other issues, a range of solutions is required and during 2016 Central
Bedfordshire Council published its Investment Prospectus for Meeting the Accommodation Needs
of Older People which sets out for the first time the range of accommodation required in each
locality in the period to 2020.

In 2016, the Council opened two extra care schemes – Priory View in Dunstable and Greenfields in
Leighton Buzzard. Each scheme delivers over 80 apartments for older people along with
communal facilities and, most importantly, the availability of personal care at all times. In addition
to this a new care home opened in Dunstable, this allowed the closure of one of the Council’s
outdated homes. Priory View also provides enhanced care to residents.

Page 192
Agenda Item 8



27

5.13 Outturn on Performance Metrics for 2016/17 BCF Plan

5.13.1 Non elective admissions

There was no marked improvement against the BCF Target. Reducing non-elective admissions
(NELs) remains a challenge and we are working closely with the A&E Boards to mitigate this. We
are continuing to review the reasons for the increasing figures and have recently undertaken a
Public Health led review which will help to ensure that local plans are focused to deliver
improvements.

5.13.2 Delayed transfers of care

This measure was reported as being on track for improved performance but not to meet full
target. Social Care reasons for delay decreased over the year. The challenge of NHS reasons for
delay is being addressed. The additional community beds commissioned to support timely
discharge from hospital are having some impact. A discharge to assess model is being developed.
The Council has increased capacity within the hospital social work team to provide greater
oversight and timely support to coordinated discharge from hospital and reduce DTOCs.

5.13.3 Emergency admissions due to falls

This measure is on track for improved performance but not to meet full target. We have
implemented an integrated approach to reduce falls. There is a more joined up and collaborative
approach to improve the falls pathway. Delivery of falls awareness and training to care homes
have had a real positive impact and non-elective admission for falls showed an 8% reduction in
2016/17 against a rising trend in NELs overall.

5.13.4 Permanent admissions to care homes are on track. Use of residential care has reduced
and is below the BCF Target.

5.13.5 Reablement, patients/customers still at home 91 days after discharge is on track for
improved performance and current level of performance remains above the England average.

5.14 What lessons were learned and what will change?

We have continued to review our progress against the 2016/17 Plan with the BCF Commissioning

Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board.

http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=829

The Health and Wellbeing Board has remained mindful of the challenges facing the health and

care system in Central Bedfordshire and whilst we remain ambitious it is important to focus on

securing improved outcomes for patients and on key areas which have impact on the national

conditions and performance metrics. This is particularly so in relation to reducing unplanned

admissions to hospitals and Delayed Transfers of Care. As in the previous year’s update report,

although there has been important progress in all scheme areas, there have been a number of

factors that have impacted on the overall pace of delivery of the BCF Schemes. The Clinical

Commissioning Group’s financial recovery and changes in leadership has also had an impact on the

delivery of the BCF Plan and schemes.

We are currently in the process of recommissioning community health services across

Bedfordshire and through the process have ensured that the vision for locality based

Page 193
Agenda Item 8



28

multidisciplinary approaches is shared with the bidders. The majority of the schemes set out in the

BCF Plan require new ways of working and in particular integrated services to facilitate seamless

and timely care pathways. Through on-going dialogue we can be satisfied that the potential

providers have understood this vision for integrated, place based care.

In recognition of the financial challenges within our local health and care system, there is a clear
focus across the system on achieving financial stability and sustainable health and care services,
through transformation and integration. In order to secure a system-wide approach we
contributed to the STP Plan ensuring that the priorities for action align with the BCF Plan, the
CCG’s Commissioning Intentions, the GP Forward View and the Council’s Five Year Plan.

We recognise that integration is key to delivering improved outcomes as well as addressing the
issues of quality and sustainability. We engaged the Kings Fund on System Leadership and also in
supporting the Overview and Scrutiny Committee enquiry on Integration in 2016. The Kings Fund
shared with our elected members evidence from other areas which reinforced the impact that
integration can have on people as well as helping to maximise resources in a health and care
system. The following case study typifies the lessons we have learnt and how we expect through a
more joined up and integrated approach we can delivery significant improvements in our system.

Local case study: How can a more joined up approach managed at locality level improve

care for patients?

Let’s consider Mrs Jones’ story. She is 77 years old, lives at home alone (following the death of her

husband a few years ago) and is generally well. Following a fall, she is admitted to hospital and

diagnosed with a simple fracture to her lower leg, dehydration and possible early dementia. While

in hospital, Mrs Jones becomes confused, struggles with getting around and develops a urinary

tract infection, which means she ends up spending almost two weeks in hospital. She is keen to

return home as soon as possible and arrangements are made to assess her need for home support.

However, Mrs Jones son, who lives and works in London, is worried that his mother shouldn’t

remain at home alone and requests information from the social care team on local care homes.

Whilst waiting to be discharged from hospital, Mrs Jones is convinced by her doctors, son and

daughter who is living abroad, that the safest place for her to be is a nursing home, so she

reluctantly agrees. A place is found for her in North London, near to her son, but she never really

adapts to life in a care home. Without the familiarity of her own surroundings and routines, she

becomes lonely and depressed. Gradually her health deteriorates and 18 months after the initial

fall, she passes away in her sleep.

Throughout, Mrs Jones has many people making decisions about her health and wellbeing and the

care she receives. From the initial assessment by paramedics, to the A&E/ ward consultants and

doctors/ medical team at Lister Hospital (she moves wards three times), the hospital social work

team, physiotherapist, Central Beds Council rehabilitation team, Occupational therapists (one to

assess home equipment requirements and one to assess her need for home adaptations), her

family and eventually the nursing home manager.

What would be different if there was a more integrated approach to Mrs Jones health and social

care?

Following her fall, Mrs Jones would be assessed through the ambulance call centre and her case

would be passed to the Integrated Health and Care Hub. A clinical nurse lead would be assigned to

liaise with her family and all other health and care workers regarding her care and treatment e.g.

fracture clinic technicians, rehabilitation and therapy team, GP, community assessment officers

Page 194
Agenda Item 8



29

and physiotherapist. Working with a local charity they establish a Care at Home team that can

support Mrs Jones rehabilitation at home and she is able to return home, fully supported, in 3 days.

10 years later, Mrs Jones is still at home and considering a move into Extra Care.

Our 2017/19 BCF Plan takes forward the developments that will make a significant contribution
towards the priorities of the foregoing strategic plans and delivering the vision set out in the Five
Year Forward view.

5.15 Challenges

Integration aims to overcome the substantial organisational, professional and regulatory
boundaries within the health and social care sector to ensure that patients receive the most cost-
effective care when and where they need it. Our Plans are ambitious and we appreciate the
important system challenges, such as the significant local financial pressures faced by our CCG.
Changes in leadership and workforce in our health systems has important implications for building
partnerships and developing productive relationships.

Central Bedfordshire is not coterminous with an acute hospital and our residents use up to seven
hospitals in surrounding local authority areas. These considerable organisational boundaries and
competing priorities to achieve financial balance means that delivering integration has proved a
major challenge and progress has been slow. Understanding the impact that these constraints will
have in the short term is important.

We have an ageing population which indicates increasing demand for health and social care.
Public expectations are also rising. The broad patient flows and footprint for Central Bedfordshire
residents which requires working with several acute trusts, particularly in relation to delayed
transfers of care and engagement in A&E delivery Boards where Central Bedfordshire residents
are in a minority has been challenging. Ensuring that system responses reflect the wider patient
flows and footprint of Central Bedfordshire residents, beyond the three acute hospitals in the STP
footprint is a challenge. With the additional investment in social care practitioners, there is now
capacity to work directly with those hospitals in coordinating care for Central Bedfordshire
residents. Ongoing work on developing integrated care pathways through multidisciplinary
working across the systems will help to deliver improved outcomes as well as ensuring better use
of resources.

Another challenge is insufficient and fragmented capacity within the community to respond
appropriately to local needs. Recruiting and retaining sufficient care workers, particularly in the
domiciliary care sector, has been a key issue for our system. This has an impact on ability to deliver
timely care in a predominantly rural area.

A shared system for Information and records to facilitate timely transfers of care and joint care
planning are an important challenge. Data sharing and timely access to information for health and
care service delivery across a wide range of provider organisations and different systems remains
a challenge. Securing a shared care record remains a key focus and we are working with the STP
Digitisation workstream to address these issues. We recognise also the need to develop capacity
for business intelligence and analytical expertise, alongside support from Public Health.

To meet the immediate challenges, within our local health and care system, this BCF Plan builds on
the work from previous plans and focuses on five key Schemes below which align with local
strategic drivers and will help to deliver improvements, cost efficiency and more streamlined
pathways of care to meet the national conditions and improve performance against the four
metrics.

Page 195
Agenda Item 8



30

6. BCF Plan 2017 -2019

Our Integration and Better Care Fund Plan is focused on putting people at the centre of the design
and delivery of health and care services in order to improve outcomes, satisfaction and value for
money. We have made significant improvements in partnership working across the system. Over
the next two years, our aim is to overcome the organisational, professional and regulatory
boundaries within the health and care sector to ensure that people receive integrated cost-
effective care when and where they need it.

The schemes and projects we will focus on are set out in the planning template and accompanying
project plans (Appendices 1a-e). These schemes build on previous BCF Plans and are influenced by
the systematic review and performance monitoring of delivery against the BCF Plan for 2016/17.
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, in partnership with the two local authorities is
currently re-procuring Community Health Services. The specific requirements for Central
Bedfordshire population which reflects the wider patient flow for our area, have been set out in
service specification. These specifications have been influenced by wide ranging engagement with
stakeholders and local residents.

The 2017-19 Plan will have five broad Schemes:
• Prevention and Early Intervention
• Delivering Integrated and improved Outcomes through Out of Hospital Services
• Integrated health and care hubs
• Enhanced care in care homes
• High Impact change model

6.1 Prevention and Early Intervention

Over the next two years, our BCF Plan and schemes will continue to focus on preventing illness
and disability and maximising independence and wellbeing. (Appendix 1a) Our focus on
multidisciplinary and integrated solutions will help to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of
the ways in which services are delivered. The need for a system wide response to wider system
issues around prevention and early intervention is recognised in our STP Plan.

Priority 1 of the STP “aims to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce health inequalities
across BLMK, and thereby reduce avoidable pressures on health and care services. This will be
achieved by embedding a culture of prevention and early intervention across BLMK. The main
goals are tackling lifestyle behaviours, promoting mental health and wellbeing and empowering
communities and self management.

Our 2017/19 BCF Plan is aligned to the system wide priorities for the prevention and include
fracture liaison, social prescribing (one of the GP Forward View ‘10 High Impact Areas’), increasing
the contribution of self managed care (empowering service users and family carers to do more
through measures including active patient programmes, health coaching and easier access to
shared care records) and extending the role of pharmacists in care management. See Plan on a
Page below:

Page 196
Agenda Item 8



31

The scheme will also expand the use of assistive technology, telemedicine and the disabled

facilities grant to enhance self management and promote independence, ensuring that people can

remain at home or in their usual place of residence in the community, where appropriate. Local

investment in prevention initiatives are set out in the Planning template and builds on the key

initiatives commenced as part of the 2016/17 BCF Plan.

A planned initiative for 2017/18 is using telemedicine to support complex care management in

Care Homes. A telemedicine service can help to improve the quality of care available to care

home residents through a single point of contact providing timely and responsive assessment of

needs 24/7. This will help to reduce avoidable admissions to secondary care and improve care

experience for frail older people.

Mental Health and wellbeing is also a key focus of our Plan. Investment in liaison psychiatry is

continuing and the promotion of self help guides will continue as part of the wider wellbeing and

promoting independence programmes.

For social prescribing, we plan to develop a service that works in conjunction with primary care
and complements existing initiatives. Our social prescribing initiative will be Public Health led and
will work closely with the multidisciplinary teams and the voluntary and community sector to link
people with services in the community that can help influence wider determinants of health.

6.2 Improving out of Hospital Care to deliver integrated outcomes

Robust and appropriate out of Hospital services are essential to providing health and care closer to
home. Better Care, locally is key to reducing the financial and activity pressures experienced in
secondary care and importantly securing improved experience of care for local people. A strategy
for Out of Hospital Services is being developed. This strategy which focuses on delivering

Page 197
Agenda Item 8



32

integrated outcomes includes delivery areas which begin to integrate health and social care teams;
integrates approaches to assessment and care planning and implementation of integrated care
pathways.

Our plans for improving out of hospital care align closely with the STP. The Primary Care Home
model and will support the development and co-ordination of the professionals within localities to
manage, co-ordinate and extend access to care outside of hospital.(Appendix 1b) As a prelude to
Primary Care Home, our multidisciplinary approach which is being rolled out across the rest of our
localities will focus on universal proactive and preventative care; early engagement of people with
long term conditions and those with chronic, complex care needs. The Primary Care Home model
has four defining characteristics:

1. Provision of care to a defined, registered population of between 30,000 and 50,000 (BCCG
propose to extend this where it makes sense to provide care to a slightly larger
population) where professionals can work together to support an improved and proactive
model of care.

2. An integrated workforce, with a strong focus on partnerships spanning primary, secondary
and social care inclusive of patients and the voluntary sector; therefore primary care is
described in its broadest sense and broader than General Practice.

3. A place based focus on person-centred care and co-ordination of care with improvements
in population health outcomes through advanced care planning, risk stratification and
MDT working within the locality based populations described above.

4. Aligned clinical and financial drivers through a unified, whole population budget with
appropriate shared risks and rewards.

The cluster based teams will provide the multidisciplinary environment for delivering seamless
care. This multidisciplinary approach has been developed and is being led by provider
organisations. These ‘cluster teams’ will provide complex care management of frail older people
with an emphasis on Care at Home. The focus has been on activating staff to become the drivers
for new ways of working. This bottom up approach will facilitate greater ownership of the vision
and ensure a faster pace of delivery.

Our projects will increasingly help to shift in the balance of care from hospital to intermediate,
community and home based care with more person centred solutions. Primacy is being given to
maintaining independence and choice for individuals supported by community network of support
through the voluntary and community sector, as evidenced in our IBCF investment. In shifting the
balance of care to local levels to reduce dependency and pressures in the system, we will be
strengthening our rehabilitation and reablement offer through joint working and integration
between local authority reablement services and intermediate services.

In order to ensure the right support is available, there will be more investment in community
based options including additional community beds focusing on rapid access to intermediate care
and assertive in-reach to facilitate timely discharge from hospital. Community support
arrangements will be strengthened to minimise the need for re-admission to hospital. The Council
is also continuing its investment in alternative forms of accommodation for older people to reduce
the need for permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes.

6.3 Integrated Health and Care Hubs

Integrated Health and Care Hubs and Spokes are a key part of our locality based delivery model for
A ‘Place based’ approach to Integration and is in line with our STP Plan for care closer to home and

Page 198
Agenda Item 8



33

the Primary Care Home model. The core vision is for the development of an integrated health and
care hub in each locality in Central Bedfordshire as a focal point for joining up health, social care
and other council services and the delivery of care closer to where people live. These Hubs will
enable the development of new models of care where general practices, particularly groupings of
Practices, will be more effectively and flexibly integrated with community, mental health and
social care. (Appendix 1c)

Services will be more accessible to people, especially in predominantly rural areas, and will meet
the requirements for delivering health and care services to an expanding and ageing population.
The Integrated Health and Care Hubs will be the main centres for providing proactive and
preventative care, out of hospital services and care packages for people who are vulnerable or
have complex care needs.

Each Hub will provide local access to a range of general, medical and nursing, therapy, specialist
and social care services with supporting information and advice systems.

The hubs may also develop a range of additional or enhanced services in line with the needs of the
local community. Enhanced services might include:

 Extended GP services on a 7 day basis

 Enhanced services delivered by and across practices, e.g. minor injury and minor illness
services, clinics to support patients with long-term conditions

 Face-to-face out of hours consultations

 Community pharmacy

 Rehabilitation and reablement facilities

 Outreach services from local acute hospitals and specialist services, e.g. outpatient
appointments and other specialist consultations

 Less complex diagnostics

 Public Health and prevention services, e.g. smoking cessation, NHS Health Checks, lifestyle
hubs

 Wellbeing Services and community mental health services

 Voluntary and Carer support services.

We will continue to work in conjunction with the STP Estates workstream to develop the Business

cases for the Hubs and to secure the required capital for delivery.

6.4 Enhanced Care in Care Homes

Older people living in care homes have some of the most complex health needs, yet successive
studies have shown that they have variable access to health care and, as a result, high rates of
unscheduled admissions to hospital. Better integration between care homes, primary care,
community services and hospitals can improve health outcomes and costs and lead to better
experiences for care home residents and for staff.

It involves GPs and other health professionals providing services in care homes and developing a
partnership with care home staff. Together, they manage residents’ care needs prospectively –
helping them to keep well, not just reacting to ill-health – and the health professionals support
care home staff to develop their confidence and skills in providing health care.

This scheme aligns with the STP P2 work focusing on those individual with complex health and
care needs, particularly concentrating on the nursing and care home population. Nearly all of
these residents will have age-related disability, frailty, multi-morbidity, and cognitive impairment.

Page 199
Agenda Item 8



34

There are several initiatives targeted at residential and nursing homes. We have completed
actuarial analysis on non-elective admissions from Care Homes and length of stay and will use this
information to plan targeted support to care homes.

There is ongoing development of community services through high impact and rapid response
teams and complex case management to keep residents out of hospital and in their usual place of
residence. EOL programmes are targeted at better training and communication amongst care
homes staff and ambulance services to decrease unwarranted admissions and support individuals
dying as per their wishes.

The STP’s priority four programme on Digitisation aims to improve digitisation in Care Homes to

secure channels for information sharing and shared care records. We have mapped the state of

readiness across all our Care Homes and appreciate the size of the task at hand to implement a

robust information sharing system. The Funding from the LGA will help to develop some of the

instruments required. Output from this work will be shared across the STP footprint.

We will work with our local Care Provider Forums to develop an enhanced care framework (See

High Impact Change – national condition 4 and IBCF Investment), which includes maximising the

use assistive technology and digitisation in Care Homes.

The Council is currently in the process of re-procuring the Care Home Framework and will seek to

work with providers to improve the Care Offer. Key projects which will be delivered under this

scheme are set out in Appendix 1d.

6.5 High Impact Change Model

This Scheme focuses on the delivery of the High Impact Change Model and related initiatives

funded through the Improved Better Care Fund. We have undertaken a self assessment against

the High Impact Change model and set out an action plan for delivery in key priority areas. The

model identifies eight system changes which can have the greatest impact on reducing delayed

discharge and includes:

1. Early discharge planning

2. Systems to monitor patient flow

3. Multi-disciplinary/multi-agency discharge teams, including the voluntary and community

sector

4. Home first/discharge to assess

5. Seven-day services

6. Trusted assessors

7. Focus on choice

8. Enhancing health in care homes.

Our BCF Schemes for 2017/19 will have an impact on the actions arising out of the self-

assessment. Some of these actions will be further developed under the specific scheme area e.g.

out of hospital services and enhanced care in care homes. Appendix 1e

7. Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF)

There is broad understanding that the iBCF is in addition to the BCF Pool and provides opportunity

for additional investment in line with the conditions of the grant. We have set out in the planning

template the key initiatives funded through the IBCF which also seek to meet the requirements of

the national conditions, particularly the High Impact Change Model (condition 4).

Page 200
Agenda Item 8



35

Central Bedfordshire Council agreed that the iBCF investment, albeit time limited, should be used

to 'transform' the health and social care system in Central Bedfordshire and therefore will not be

used to offset the underlying over spend within Adult Social care, as this will be met from Council

resources. The social care precept has been targeted towards increasing capacity and sustaining

the care market. The expected positive impacts of the iBCF will lead to reducing pressure on the

NHS and help people to stay at home for longer.

Additional intermediate care beds have been commissioned to support discharge of patients who

require further assessment or therapy to optimise their independence. These beds will support

more people to be discharged from hospital when they are ready and without delay and ensure

that local social care provision is supported appropriately. Key areas of investment, which also

enhances the GP Forward View Transformational funding, are as follows:

 Investment in additional social care and housing resources to support timely discharge

from hospital,

 Increasing Voluntary Sector and community capacity

 Adult Social Care market sustainability – Trusted Assessor model

 Complex Care Management through support to care homes and Care for the frail elderly,

including home visiting services

 Out of Hospital, investment in Community Beds & Assistive Technology - Six additional

intermediate care beds to support bed-based rehabilitation of non-weight bearing

patients who are fit to be discharged from hospital.

 Supporting early discharge from hospital and investment in technology to enable health

and care support to promote self management and independence.

 Additional investment to support integrated teams (across adult social care and

community health) and joint commissioning

 Additional investment in Home Care - Increased capacity to support timely discharge from

hospital

The additional investment should support the delivery of the high impact change areas - national

condition 4 - and will be monitored as part of the BCF metrics. In addition to having an impact on

delayed transfer of care - we anticipate additional output as follows:

 Reduction in emergency service use, and hospital admissions.

 Less volume and cost of emergency admissions to secondary care and emergency bed

days.

Page 201
Agenda Item 8



36

8. Overview of funding contributions

Funding contributions for the 2017/19 BCF Plan has been agreed in line with national guidance

and are set out in the Planning Template.

8.1 Financial Risk Sharing and Contingency

The total BCF Pooled Fund is £22.896M for 2017/18 and £24.312M for 2018/19. Appendix 2 (a&b)
shows the sum of expenditure against Scheme Types for 2017/18 and 2018/19 respectively.

8.2 Risk Share

Our Plan is focused on Integration and the improvements in quality of life for people with long
term conditions and older people with frailty. For each of our schemes we will measure the
impact on non elective activity. Our BCF Plan continues to build on current programmes to focus
care out of hospitals.

As a system we recognise that failure to meet the BCF targets will have an impact on the quality of
life and experience of our population, when they need to make use of health and care
services. This failure would lead to an increasing reliance on use of institutional care and non-
elective admission. In addition, failure to increase use and effectiveness of Reablement and
Intermediate services could impact on the recovery and ability to regain important life skills
following an episode of ill health.

Key performance and quality outcomes have been agreed with providers as part of the local
CQUIN targets. Both the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group have a clear understanding
of the challenges of reducing non-elective admissions and are in a better position to manage the
trend currently being experienced.

The Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board provides the leadership for addressing system-
wide issues. As an emerging Accountable Care System, our BCF Plan and schemes are strongly
focused on reducing pressure on the acute hospitals and securing capacity for out of hospital
services. The Transformation Board, which includes all our key providers, will monitor
performance against the plan and take action to mitigate any emerging issues.

Consequently, whilst a formal risk share agreement is not deemed necessary at this stage, our
expenditure proposals do contain a contingency element which will be used to address any
emerging issues across the programme.

Page 202
Agenda Item 8



37

8.3 Risk log

Overall Integration and BCF Plan risks are described.

There is a risk that: Mitigating Actions

Finance.
Due to the current financial position of
the CCG and its immediate focus on
financial recovery, there is a risk that
resources and pressure of other
competing priorities will negatively
impact on delivery of the integration
agenda.

1. Systems Leadership
2. Transparency and partnership working
3. Wider STP Priorities for delivery as a Accountable

Care System
4. Clear alignment of funding for delivery of BCF

projects
5. Robust performance framework to ensure

monitoring of performance and prompt action to
mitigate under performance including discontinuing
those not realising expected benefits.

Due to the increased complexity and
demand for services on adult social
care there is a risk that the market is
not sufficiently robust to meet demand.

1. Development of a Market Position Statement
2. Focus on early intervention and prevention to

moderate progression to severe need.
3. Robust monitoring of performance and continuous

revision of care packages
4. Development of more integrated approaches within

the care market
5. Acceleration of integrated and joint working across

all agencies.
6. Greater involvement of the Voluntary sector

Reputational Risk
Reputational risk to all partner
organisations in the event of failure to
meet statutory duties occurs.

1. Appropriate governance and system leadership
structures in place with provision of regular, timely
and accurate information to support monitoring of
services ongoing.

2. The BCF Plan development has involved all our key
providers, including Private, Voluntary and
Independent (PVI) sector who have signed up to the
plan.

Workforce
There is a risk that the current
workforce capacity is insufficient to
meet the new models of care,
particularly in relation to Home Care in
the Domiciliary Care Market.

1. Developing career pathways for Carers to make
caring an attractive profession.

2. Development of the Super Carer roles
3. Progression through the Apprenticeship Framework

9. The National Conditions

9.1 National Condition 1 - Plans to be Jointly Agreed

This BCF Plan builds on previous two years and aligns with our STP priorities; the CCG’s
commissioning intentions, the targeted reductions in non-elective admissions for A&E
Boards and delayed transfers of care. The Health and Wellbeing Board has overall
responsibility for both operational and financial delivery of the Better Care Fund, totalling

Page 203
Agenda Item 8



38

£22.896m in 2017/18 and £24.312m in 2018/19 and will maintain oversight of the
outcomes. In addition the CCG and the Council through existing, robust governance
mechanisms will ensure there is appropriate oversight and decision making.

The Central Bedfordshire BCF Plan has been jointly agreed. All key partners are represented
on the Health and Wellbeing Board and both the CCG and the Council are agreed on our BCF
Plan. The Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board, which includes Acute Hospital
Providers, will oversee operational delivery of the BCF Plan on behalf of the Health and
Wellbeing Board, monitoring progress and reporting to the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Local care providers recognise the challenges and target requirements for reducing non-
elective admissions and delayed transfers of care. A key goal of the STP’ Priority 2 is to
ensuring that people are able to access appropriate urgent care services, reducing reliance
on A&E and avoidable unplanned admissions are priorities in our GP Forward View.

The vision for integration and priorities set out in our BCF Plan has been shared widely with
partners, including local care providers in both the voluntary and private sector. We held
specific engagement with Care Providers on our plans for the IBCF. We will continue
engagement with key stakeholders and partners, using existing forums, such as our Older
People’s Network as the projects are mobilised. There is also ongoing engagement through
Healthwatch, as a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and systematically through
service development initiatives.

9.1.1 Disabled Facilities Grant

Central Bedfordshire is a unitary council and has responsibility for disbursement of DFGs.
DFGs will continue to be used, in conjunction with the Council’s housing assistance policy, to
secure early discharge from hospitals and reduce non-elective admissions. The focus of the
DFG capital grant will be on expanding the use of Assistive technology to promote
independence, self management and continue to reduce reliance on institutional forms of
care.

9.2 National condition 2 - Maintenance of Social Care Services

Our BCF Plan reiterates the interdependence of health and social care in avoiding
unnecessary hospital admissions, facilitating earlier discharges from hospital and avoiding
institutional care for frail older people. We are committed to protect those services that
enable people to have the best outcomes and spend the least time, if any, in
acute/institutional care. With the increasing demand for services, it is important to continue
to develop effective solutions for the provision of timely care and support to adults and
older people. This is particularly relevant given the increasing complexity of need and an
ageing population.

The Council has continued to protect social care services through a succession of efficiency
programmes and overspend of £0.6M in 2016/17. The Council recognised the pressure on
the social care budget around increasing numbers; complexity and pressure on the care
market, as well as an on-going over spend and agreed increased funding of £6.6M set
against efficiency targets of £2.5M for 2017/18. A decision was also made by the Council
Executive to increase the social care precept to 3% for 2017/18 and 2018/19 - £1.3M and
£1.4M respectively. Additional resources through the IBCF will be used to 'transform' the
health and social care system and reduce delayed transfers of care.

Page 204
Agenda Item 8



39

An amount of £5.145m and £5.243m has been assigned out of the CCG minimum allocation
for the protection of adult social care services for 2017/18 and 2018/19 respectively. This
level of spend is an increase on 2016/17 allocation and meets the requirement of the
national condition. A total allocation of £11.3m and £12.5m has been allocated to support
adult social care services, which includes a further sum of £5.5m and £6.5m from the
Council, for the two years of the plan. This allocation will mitigate the demographic
pressures of an increasing ageing population and greater complexity of need, particularly in
the frail elderly; and for people with learning disabilities.

The Social care allocation will support a range of services, including step up/step down
provision, equipment, telecare, integrated hospital social work teams and care packages
where residential care admissions are directly from hospital or respite. Services will focus on
reducing delayed transfers of care, and delivering timely and integrated care packages,
including domiciliary care. Pathways for coordinated discharge from hospital will ensure
that people leave hospital with support to maximise their independence back in their own
home. This will continue through reablement, Disabled Facilities Grants/Minor works,
targeted provision of community equipment, community alarms, and other telecare
solutions, as well as investment in support to local communities to increase social capacity,
such as, good neighbour/village care schemes.

Central Bedfordshire Council’s eligibility criteria remains set at moderate. This ensures
timely care and support to more people and is consistent with the local priority on
prevention and early intervention.

9.2.1 Embedding the Care Act

Timely access to reablement services is a key duty of the Care Act and a sum of £604,990 for

2017/18 and £611,040 for 2018/19 has been allocated for Care Act duties. Requirements of

the Act include provision of universal assessments for all those in need of care and for

carers. The provision of enhanced information and advice, signposting, and promotion of

wellbeing and independence is central to our approach as well as a focus on identifying and

supporting carers. Our approach to implementing the Care Act was set out in the 2015/16

Plan. Central Bedfordshire residents continue to receive up to six weeks reablement

services with access to aids and adaptations to promote independence and help sustain

people at home.

9.2.2 Provision of Carer-specific support

The value of the fund directly allocated to Carer Support is £537,585 in 2017/18 and

£545,319 in 2018/19. Carers will also benefit from a wide range of investments through the

fund activities, including support for people caring for Dementia sufferers.

9.3 National Condition 3 Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital
services, which may include a wide range of services including social care

The vision for Central Bedfordshire is for a whole system, person-centred and outcome
focused community service which provides care closer to home, reduces reliance on
hospital based care and ensures that people have access to good quality, safe, locally
delivered health care services including primary care and health and social care across both
towns and rural areas.

Page 205
Agenda Item 8



40

An out of Hospital Strategy is being developed. It will set out the framework for delivery
against the vision set out in BCF Plan and our STP’s Priority on Primary, Community and
Social Care. These are also a constituent part of the service specification for Community
Health Services which has been discussed in dialogue with bidders. We are progressing with
a programme of transformational change that focuses an out of hospital strategy around
the needs of people with long term conditions and delivers a journey to integration of
health and social care services

Investment in NHS Commissioned out of hospital services will increase over the two years of
the BCF Plan. As this Plan continues to build on the previous years, all key projects mobilised
by the BCF Plan will contribute to the overall ambition to reduce non-elective admissions,
reduce delayed transfers of care and provide timely and proactive care for people with long
term conditions and other vulnerable groups. We have made progress in realigning our
community health and social care workforce to clusters.

We are working closely with the A&E Boards and System resilience to ensure sufficient
capacity is planned to cope with surges in demand for services.

As earlier stated reducing non elective admissions remains challenging and whilst we are
investing in community based services, we have not set an additional target above the one
set by the CCG in its Operating Plan. The key projects for out of hospital services are set out
in the Planning Template. It is also a key Scheme for our Plan. Our overall approach to out
of hospital services is also linked to High Impact Change model and Enhanced Care in Care
Homes.

The Council is working with Care Providers to ensure capacity and stability in the Care
Market, particularly in domiciliary care. We are also increasing capacity in community beds
to facilitate early discharge from hospital.

9.4 National Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care

Health and social care partners are committed to delivery of the 8 high impact change
model. Delayed Transfers of Care are monitored through the two local A&E Delivery Boards
at Bedford Hospital and the Luton and Dunstable Hospital; Central Bedfordshire is
represented at these two boards. In addition there is engagement with other hospitals
outside the area that care for Central Bedfordshire residents. Overall CBC saw an increase in
DTOC days in 2016/17 with a downward trend for social care attributable delays. NHS
attributable delays continue as the most significant challenge representing more than 70%
of all DTOC days.

Page 206
Agenda Item 8



41

Key elements of the high impact changes sit within the integration transformation plan and
within the A&E Delivery Board operational plan. In addition a Central Bedfordshire DTOC
plan is in development and a Central Bedfordshire DTOC board involving all acute Trusts
caring for Central Bedfordshire residents has been established to support delivery of this
plan. We have undertaken a self assessment against the High Impact Change model and set
out an action plan for delivery in key priority areas. Some of the key actions are being
funded through the IBCF and these are set out in the Planning Template Expenditure Tab.
The following work will support delivery of the high impact change model.

Page 207
Agenda Item 8



42

9.4.1 Early Hospital Discharge Planning

We will work with all acute providers to ensure pre-admission elective pathways and
protocols for setting non elective discharge dates within 48 hours of admission are in place.
Additional social workers are being funded through IBCF to support timely discharge and
recruitment to these posts is progressing well.

The capacity of the integrated discharge planning team at Bedford Hospital Trust is being
expanded through CCG investment in additional discharge staff, hospital at home team and
Geriatrician support; this will increase virtual ward capacity.

9.4.2 Monitoring Patient Flow

The discharge pathway for intermediate care and reablement will be streamlined and
intermediate care will be accessed through a single point of contact at the Luton and
Dunstable Hospital and Bedford Hospital. IBCF investment in additional social care and
housing resources will support timely discharge from hospital. The local authority has
designed a tracking tool that will monitor operational DToC and length of stay activity,
support local and regional system escalation networks, and inform a monthly DToC system
wide review process with partners and stakeholders.

The tracking process will be an integrated approach with the community services provider
enabling a whole system approach to managing hospital and community service discharge
activity.

9.4.3 Multi-disciplinary Teams

An integrated Central Bedfordshire Heath and Social Care Discharge Service will be
established through IBCF investment in community discharge officers. In addition to this,
the Integrated Discharge teams will work closely with the locality place based
multidisciplinary teams which includes Housing officers. The multidisciplinary approach is
being rolled out across Central Bedfordshire localities.

9.4.4 Home first / Discharge to Assess

A discharge to assess/ Home First model is in development. This requires additional
investment to manage transfers of care between hospital and home and provide care
outside of hospital.

The new model aims to provide additional Community Geriatricians, ECP/Paramedics,
Community Matrons and Community Matron Assistants, Physiotherapists, Occupational
Therapists and Pharmacists. The iBCF funding is being used to support additional social
workers, single trusted assessors, Care Navigators and recovery beds.

9.4.5 Work towards a 7 Day Service

The aim is to improve 7 day access to community providers including domiciliary care and
care homes. Introducing trusted assessors and ensure hospital services critical to discharge
are available 7 days.

Page 208
Agenda Item 8



43

9.4.6 Trusted Assessors

The Trusted Assessor role for Central Bedfordshire is being defined with wide engagement
with Care providers. Local Care Providers have been engaged and will be establishing a
Trusted Assessor model based on the Hertfordshire Vanguard. In addition to this, we are
working to develop a single assessment tool within the multidisciplinary framework for
health and social care professionals to deliver a trusted assessor approach. A single
assessment framework for CBC care homes will be established.

9.4.7 Focus on Choice
Work will be undertaken to get a better understanding of the discharge delays due to
patient choice and the changes required to address this. A cultural change to ‘Home First’
will be fostered. IBCF investment in the voluntary sector will be used to support patient
choice.

9.4.8 Enhancing health in care homes

A programme of work is being undertaken to support the delivery of enhanced care in care
homes:

 Commissioning the complex care team (CCT) to provide enhanced nursing and
pharmacy support to care homes in Ivel Valley and Leighton Buzzard localities. CCT
may also act as trusted assessor.

 Increasing the BCCG pharmacist support for medication reviews

 Commissioning Community Geriatricians that will work with GPs to provide support
to care homes

 Implementing the red bag initiative

 Involvement in STP digitisation workstreams

 Improving the training offer to care homes

 Community services provider to support care homes where appropriate, service
specifications have been updated.

 Wellbeing programmes in Care Homes – OOMPH (Our Organisation Makes People
Happy)

In addition the Council will continue to use DFGs, in conjunction with the Housing
Assistance Policy, to support early discharge from hospital and help to promote
independence by ensuring people can remain at home and in their communities thus
reducing reliance on instructional forms of care. ( e.g. residential and nursing homes)
Timescales for implementation for new areas of work are set out in the Appendix 1e.

10 BCF Metrics and Performance Framework

Delivery against the BCF national metrics remains challenging. A description of the targets
for 2017/19 and the rationale and key drivers are set out below and in appendix 3.

10.1 Non Elective Admissions

The Central Bedfordshire non elective admissions plan for 2017/18 and 2018/19 is aligned
with the Bedfordshire CCG plan and the A&E Delivery Boards. At a CCG level there is an
overall increase of 1.7% each year based on the baseline of 2016/17 outturn. This is a
challenging target given the year on year growth in non elective admissions over the last
four years. The reasons for this are multifactorial including a growing and ageing

Page 209
Agenda Item 8



44

population, increase in the number of patients with complex multiple morbidities and an
over reliance on urgent care.

The largest proportion of emergency admissions for central Bedfordshire occur at the Luton
and Dunstable Hospital (43%) followed by Bedford (24%) and East and North Hertfordshire
Trust (14%).

A review of non elective admissions for Central Bedfordshire has been updated and work

has begun in areas with higher rates of emergency admissions with a focus around

proactively managing people with long term conditions. A risk stratification model is being

used to support the work of multidisciplinary teams as part of the Caring Together project

Page 210
Agenda Item 8



45

and this is being extended to other locality based multidisciplinary teams. Investment in

community capacity to support the primary care home model will enable a greater focus on

early intervention and a proactive preventative approach to managing people in the

community.

Discussion of the pressures on emergency care within the NHS tends to focus

predominantly on older people. This is understandable as the over 65s account for the

majority of emergency bed days in NHS hospitals, stay longer in A&E than the rest of the

population and are more likely to be admitted to hospital in an emergency. However, local

data below shows that children and young people admissions have increased and

admissions for adults aged 20-64 years are increasing at the fastest rate.

There is a strong positive relationship between rates of emergency admission and level of

socio-economic deprivation, with rates of admissions in more deprived areas of central

Bedfordshire increasing at a faster rate. Problems of the respiratory system account for the

highest number of emergency admissions across all age groups. The graphs below show the

reasons for admission and impact of socio-economic deprivation on emergency admission

rates.

Page 211
Agenda Item 8



46

Page 212
Agenda Item 8



47

10.2 Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population

In 2016/17 the use of residential care reduced and the BCF target was achieved based on
local data collection. In 2017/18 & 2018/19 national SALT data will replace the local data
collection. The automated SALT return is more accurate and has established higher levels of
admissions than previously reported. As a consequence target rates for 2017/18 and
2018/19 show an increased rate of admission on previous years. The targets for 2017/18
are based on quarter one of the 2017/18 SALT data with a 3% increase for population
growth.

Packages of care are scrutinised through a panel process to ensure that all alternatives have
been explored and that the focus remains on helping people to remain in their own homes.
Work is ongoing to improve hospital discharge coordination and reduce reliance on
residential care. This will be supported through additional social work capacity and
voluntary sector funding through the iBCF. Crisis prevention plans with carers are also
being put in place. The Council’s development of more independent living (extra care)
accommodation will help to mitigate admissions into residential care.

10.3 Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after
discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services

In 2015/16 and 2016/17 this measure was reported using data from the Council’s
reablement service (a third of the cohort) and didn’t include outcomes data in relation to
rehabilitation/intermediate care provided through Community Health Services. Central
Bedfordshire Council’s performance is above the national average.

The 2017/18 target is set at maintaining performance greater than 90%. A method of
reporting from the community provider has been established and is being validated; a
combined measure will be monitored in 2017/18 with the aim of revising the target for
2018/19.

The development of the primary care home model with locality based multidisciplinary
teams will support maximising independence and admissions avoidance. In addition social
care and the community providers are working together to provide an integrated discharge
pathway including a single point of assessment for, and offer of, rehab and reablement.

10.4 Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population

Overall for 2016/17 Central Bedfordshire experienced an increase in delayed transfers of
care (DTOC). NHS attributable delays represent more than 70% of total delays with further
non acute NHS care and patient choice being the key reasons for this. Plans are in place to
address these issues including, an increase in community bed capacity for recovery and
rehabilitation, implementation of a discharge to assess model, funding for an increase in
voluntary sector support on patient choice and foster a ‘Home First’ culture. Central
Bedfordshire has several hospitals which discharge patients into the area, none of which are
within its boundaries. There has been iBCF investment in additional social workers to
improve the discharge pathway across all hospitals used by central Bedfordshire residents.

Page 213
Agenda Item 8



48

Expectations for reductions in daily delays on a local authority footprint have been set out.
These include expectations for total, NHS and social care attributable delays. The local DTOC
target reduction for 2017/18 is based on achieving the CBC contribution to the national
target of no more than 3.5% of bed days being attributable to DTOC. For 2018-19 a 3.5%
reduction has been applied to DTOC. A revised DTOC Planning template has been
submitted for September to reflect the newly revised targets. These figures are based on
the population figures supplied in the BCF Planning Template. We appreciate the challenge
of realising these targets within the given timeframe but will work as a system towards
delivering the targets by end of year outturn. (See graph below)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800
A

P
R

1
5

/1
6

M
A

Y

JU
N

JU
L

A
U

G

SE
P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
EC

JA
N

FE
B

M
A

R

A
P

R

M
A

Y

JU
N

JU
L

A
U

G

SE
P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
EC

JA
N

FE
B

M
A

R

A
P

R

M
A

Y

JU
N

E

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Central Bedfordshire DTOC trend by responsible
organisation, total days by month

NHS (B) SOCIAL Care(B) BOTH (B)

Page 214
Agenda Item 8



49

Performance will be monitored by a DTOC Board and through reporting to the
Transformation Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board. Monthly monitoring reports
are also circulated to the Council’s Corporate Management Team, Political Leadership and
the CCG’s Governing Body.

11 Governance and Joint Approach

The BCF plan and overall integration programme for Central Bedfordshire is overseen by the
Health and Wellbeing Board. The HWB membership includes the executive members for Health,
Social Care and Housing and the Chief Officers of the CCG and Council.

The overarching accountability and governance structure remains with the Health and Wellbeing
Board in conjunction with the Place Based Transformation Board.

11.1 Management and oversight

A Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board will oversee the delivery of the BCF Plan on behalf of
the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Transformation Board oversees the delivery of integrated
outcomes for Central Bedfordshire’s residents that are timely and make best use of available
resources. It also provides local leadership and place based accountability for the delivery of the
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Sustainability and Transformation Plan priorities (STP).
Membership includes senior representation from:

 BCCG

 Central Bedfordshire Council

 Mental Health services provider

 Community health services provider(s)

 Acute Hospital provider(s): Luton and Dunstable Hospital, Bedford Hospital, Lister

Hospital, Milton Keynes Hospital

 Local Medical Council

 GP Locality representation

 HealthWatch Central Bedfordshire

 Representation from the Independent Care Sector

Page 215
Agenda Item 8



50

Our performance reporting framework has been updated to reflect the BCF targets and aligns
equally to the Council and BCCG performance monitoring processes.

A programme management approach is in place, see appendix four. A BCF Delivery Programme
Group will continue to provide operational oversight on the key projects and will reports progress
on projects monthly to the Transformation Board. (Appendix 5) Our emphasis in devising these
arrangements is to mainstream BCF governance to the greatest extent possible in order to achieve
the maximum alignment of the programmes involved into existing change programmes.

Additional Documents

 BCF Planning Template

 BCF Narrative Plan 2017/19

 Appendices
o Appendix 1 – Boscards – Key Projects and Deliverables
o Appendix 2 (a&b) - Financials against BCF National Conditions and Schemes
o Appendix 3 – Performance Metrics
o Appendix 4– High Level Programme Plan
o Appendix 5 – Reporting Framework and changes for 2017/18

Page 216
Agenda Item 8



Background There are important opportunities to shift the focus of health and care services in Central Bedfordshire towards prevention and early intervention, reshaping residents’ 

expectations and experiences of care -- enabling them to stay healthier for longer and empowering them to take more control of their care. The need for a system wide 

approach to prevention and early intervention in response to system pressures was recognised in earlier iterations of the BCF plan and continues to be a key focus in our 

2017-19 plans.  

There needs to be an integrated approach to primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention to stop or reduce deterioration in health. 

Via the delivery of our Integration and BCF programme of work, by 2019, residents will have :

• Access to a wider range of support to prevent ill-health, with increased emphasis on early interventions supported by voluntary, community and long-term condition 

groups, enabling them to stay healthier for longer;

• Be supported to remain independent with integrated GP and community multidisciplinary teams delivering care directly within their own home wherever it is possible 

to do so;

• Have access to a wider range of health and care services in the community that will help to avoid unnecessary hospital admission and, following any necessary 

admission, will enable discharge to home care as soon as it is safe to do so

This work stream mirrors the objective of Priority One of the BLMK STP which is to  “encourage healthy living and self care, supporting people to stay well and take more 

control of their own health and wellbeing”. 

Objectives • To prevent or reduce deterioration in health.

• To help people to manage their own conditions in the community.

• To build capacity and resilience in our communities to be self sustaining.

• To expand the use of assistive technology.

• To improve quality of life by supporting people to live independently in their own homes for as long as possible. 

Scope Within Scope All Central Bedfordshire residents 

Residential and Nursing Homes 

Reablement and domiciliary care services 

Outside Scope None

Constraints • Workforce and delays to recruitment

• Timelines associated with development of IT  infrastructure for assistive technology into Care Homes 

Assumptions • Development of PID for CBC strength and balance and falls group will require new investment; it is assumed that this funding will be secured. 

• That Central Bedfordshire residents will be willing to take on greater responsibility for their own health and wellbeing

Risks • FLS service for south Bedfordshire requires joint working with LCCG; 

if they do not wish to pursue this model it will cause inequity of 

access for residents 

Mitigation • Continued engagement with colleagues at LCCG by BCCG 

commissioners. 

Deliverables • Expansion of telehealth/telecare services will promote independence and self management 

• Implementation of Social Prescribing so that Central Bedfordshire residents with practical, emotional and social issues are empowered to access support from 

community and voluntary services through an enhanced network of Village Care Schemes supported by community navigators

• Care home residents are supported to stay active and well through the pilot and subsequent roll-out of the OOMPH physical activity programme

• Implementation of a falls pathway will ensure that secondary falls and fractures are prevented

• Falls Prevention training for Extra Care Homes to ensure preventative measures are in place for all residents

National 

Conditions

And Metrics 

National Conditions
• Investment in out of hospital NHS Services

• Protection of social care 

National Metrics
• Reduction in non elective admissions 

• Permanent admissions to care homes 

• Delayed transfers of care 

BOSCARD Matrix: Prevention and Early Intervention 2017/19  Appendix 1a
P

age 217
A

genda Item
 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Background Robust and appropriate out of Hospital services are essential to providing health and care closer to home. Better Care, locally is key to reducing the financial and activity 

pressures experienced in secondary care and importantly securing improved experience of care for local people.  The population of Central Bedfordshire is predicted to 

grow significantly over the next five years. In order to ensure the right support is available, there will be investment in community based options including additional 

community beds focusing on rapid access to intermediate care and assertive in-reach to facilitate timely discharge from hospital.  

Community support arrangements will be strengthened to minimise the need for re-admission to hospital.  The Council is also continuing its investment in alternative 

forms of accommodation for older people to reduce the need for permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes.   O The development of the Primary Care Home 

model, redesigned community beds and the enhanced intermediate care team will improve patient flow (transitions of care) and support discharge to assess for patients 

and manage more care outside of hospital.   

Objectives To improve  out of hospital care and support  to prevent avoidable admissions to hospital and improve  outcomes for people.

To shift the balance of care from hospital to intermediate, community  and home based care.

To enhance development of an integrated workforce, with a strong focus on partnerships spanning primary, secondary and social care inclusive of patients and the 

voluntary sector

To implement a place based focus with a person-centred approach and co-ordination of care with improvements in population health outcomes through advanced care 

planning, risk stratification and multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) working 

To support delivery of STP priorities.

Scope Within Scope Central Bedfordshire Population 

Outside Scope None 

Constraints Financial  pressures 

Co-dependencies with partner organisations across the system required to support development and implementation

Workforce – Rising vacancies in key areas

information sharing  - The STP is responsible for the development of integrated care records and sharing agreements across the health economy

Assumptions Funding available to support the additional workforce to support the model 

New Community Health Services Provider will adopt this approach

Risks Availability and capacity of  workforce  resource  across health and 

social care

Workforce  - addressing the issue of capacity to make the required shift 

Mitigation • Application for funding made to CCG 

• Engagement in procurement process and definition of 

expectations in service  specification.

Deliverables Embed Multidisciplinary approach  across  Central Bedfordshire  localities  to deliver placed based care including  co-location of teams

Primary Care Home – joint  health and social care planning and management, including Risk Stratification, Comprehensive Geriatric Assessments and frailty tools, Early 

Discharge Planning, Single Trusted Assessor approach, Single Point of Co-ordination approach and developing Integrated Health and Care Records

Community Bed Redesign

Integration rehabilitation  & reablement

Develop  integrated care pathways , including End of Life  and Stroke

National 

Conditions
Protection of social services 

Out of Hospital Services 

High Impact Change Model to reduce transfers of Care 

National Metrics

Non elective admissions 

Delayed Transfers of Care 

Rehabilitation and reablement 

Reducing permanent admission into residential care 

BOSCARD Matrix: Delivering Integrated and Improved Outcomes through Out of Hospital Services Appendix 1b
P

age 219
A

genda Item
 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Background Central Bedfordshire is an area of growth, with an increasing and ageing population.  Our Local Plan shows that some of our market towns are set to double in population size in a 

few years time. Integrated Health and Care Hubs are crucial to  helping to meet the complex needs of our growing population as well as shifting the balance of care from acute 

hospitals to a more community-led approach the Hubs will help to reshape the primary model which delivers primary care at scale. A locality based integrated health and care hub 

approach improves cooperation and joined up working which improves the access and quality of care provision. It also leads to a reduction of inappropriate hospital admissions 

and importantly supports the vision for integrated primary and community services at scale as set out in the General Practice Forward View.

Central Bedfordshire population distribution and its relation to secondary care providers makes it important that the primacy of the Integrated Health and Care Hubs approach is 

sustained. Services will be more accessible to people, especially in predominantly rural areas, and will meet the requirements for delivering health and care services to an 

expanding and ageing population. The co-location of health and care teams in fit for purpose facilities is central to managing demand and ensuring the future sustainability of our 

health and care systems. 

Objectives • To provide a focal point for the provision of out of hospital care services in each locality.  

• Central Bedfordshire residents will have local access to appropriate services which will prevent people, especially frail older people, making unnecessary journeys to hospitals.

• To make a difference in care outcomes, quality and experience, particularly for those with long term conditions

• To support an integrated multidisciplinary approach, with each hub  hosting  ‘one team’ working across organisational boundaries.  

• To focus of the multi-disciplinary team’s work on a local population or ‘place’. 

Scope Within Scope • The four localities of Central Bedfordshire (West Mid Beds, Leighton Buzzard, Chiltern Vale and Ivel Valley)

• General practice, community health services, children’s services, mental health, social care, some specialist 

services

Outside Scope • The Bedford locality of the CCG 

Constraints • Commitment of STP system to new ways of working, and Governance for signing-off proposals by multiple partner organisations – ACS development and movement towards 

single control total within BLMK will help to streamline.

• Delays receiving national funding secured to fund business case development.

• Internal governance and delivery capacity within NHS Property Services, where Hubs are planned for their sites. 

Assumptions • That sufficient funding will become available 

• The sites for the hubs can be  secured

• That non-acute providers of health and social care (especially general practitioners) will be willing to re-locate to the new hubs 

• There will be reductions in A&E activity, non-elective admissions, outpatient activity and elective admissions, which will be met  in the Hubs.

Risks • Ability to assure affordability to local system through high quality cost-

benefit analysis within business cases

• Appropriate design and scale of buildings

• The requirement for a separate options appraisal by NHS Property 

Services will delay progress and subsequent timely delivery of the IHCH

(Ivel Valley)

• The description of the S106 for HRN1 stating “the developer is required 

to secure approval of a healthcare facility marketing strategy prior to 200 

homes being occupied” could constrain wider strategic plans for health 

and care provision in Houghton Regis.

• The lack of legal obligations for healthcare in HRN2 limits potential 

funding opportunities to provide infrastructure for this new development

(Houghton Regis)

• S106 funds may be withheld due to lack of delivery of the project. 

(Leighton Buzzard and West Mid Beds)

Mitigation • Business cases being developed alongside STP-wide activity 

modelling and actuarial analysis.

• Accommodation schedules and designs for Hubs developed in 

partnership with providers.

• Continuing to engage with NHSPS and plan to escalate as 

appropriate.  Explore opportunity to influence through the One 

Public Estate vision.

• There may be opportunity to revisit and amend the legal obligations 

on HRN1 – due to other discussions going on around Education 

requirements.

• Planning colleagues would welcome a steer to retrofit/rework the 

requirement to secure funding instead of the “community facility”.

• Review of S106 funds and conditions associated with them to be 

established and ensure time critical resources are committed to the 

Hub development.

BOSCARD Matrix: Integrated Health and Care Hubs  2017-19 Appendix 1c
P

age 221
A

genda Item
 8



Deliverables • Commission scoping and Strategic Outline Case documents for the remaining 3 Hubs (SOCs already developed for first two Hubs). These will be developed as locality estates 

plans, including strategic planning for other health and care premises which interrelate with the Hubs, and in line with the STP Estates Strategy.

• Commission Outline Business Cases (OBCs) and thereafter Full Business Cases (FBCs) for each of the Hubs.

• Procurement and construction of Hubs. 

• Development of interim “Hub” virtual/estates solutions to enable multi-disciplinary working within each locality, including co-location of MDT where possible.

• Review plans in line with Central Beds Council Local Plan development. 

National 

Conditions 

and Metrics 

National Conditions
• Investment in Out of Hospital NHS Services

• Implementation of High  Impact  Change Model

National Metrics
• Reduction in non elective admissions 

• Reduction in admissions to care homes 

• Effectiveness of reablement 

• DTOCS 

BOSCARD Matrix: Integrated Health and Care Hubs  2017-19 Appendix 1c
P

age 222
A

genda Item
 8



Background Older people living in care homes have some of the most complex health needs, yet successive studies have shown that they have variable access to health care and, as a 

result, high rates of unscheduled admissions to hospital.

Better integration between care homes, primary care, community services and hospitals can improve health outcomes and costs and lead to better experiences for care 

home residents and for staff. It involves GPs and other health professionals providing services in care homes and developing a partnership with care home staff. Together, 

they manage residents’ care needs prospectively – helping them to keep well, not just reacting to ill-health – and the health professionals support care home staff to 

develop their confidence and skills in providing health care.

There is agreement across the system that care homes could play a key role in preventing NELs and reducing DTOCs. A system wide stakeholder task and finish group has 

already been established to  better understand the needs of the care home populations and identify priorities for change, with the aim of ensuring health and social care 

services are high quality, coordinated and work together to support need, both on a day to day basis and at times of crisis

Objectives • To introduce a range of initiatives  which support care homes to deliver an enhanced range of services

• To reduce the number of non-elective admissions from care homes 

• To reduce the number of DTOCs  relating to delays in getting customers discharged from hospital to care homes 

Scope Within Scope Residential homes , nursing homes and learning disability homes in Central Bedfordshire.

Outside Scope None identified at this stage

Constraints • Until the digitisation agenda has been progressed, the limited access to a shared system for timely exchange of patient data across providers will affect the response

Assumptions • That care home providers  will be willing to participate in these initiatives and  potentially take on additional responsibilities

Risks • Lack of care  home sign up  to  the initiatives

• Digitisation agenda will not progress with sufficient pace

• Lack of geriatricians to provide community based support

Mitigation • Working with  Bedfordshire Care Association to extend their 

membership and develop the initiatives with their core 

members

• Working on local solutions in the first instance, such as Wi-Fi 

coverage for care homes , as  a staged approach to digitisation

• Complex care offer to care homes will be multi-disciplinary 

and therefore not solely dependent on the recruitment of 

geriatricians

Deliverables • Trusted Assessor model in place to  advise and support care  homes  in the admission and discharge of patients to/from acute care settings

• Red bag scheme in place to ensure safe transfer of client information, medication etc

• Undertake  medication reviews  to reduce inappropriate polypharmacy 

• Complex care support (such as geriatricians)  available to care homes to reduce ambulance call out , conveyance and hospital admission

• Continuation and expansion of training programme to care home staff 

• Digitisation progressed in care home sector (infrastructure, wifi, SystmOne etc)

• Airedale model scoped, including single point of contact (SPOC) 

National 

Conditions

And Metrics

National Conditions 
• Investment  in Out of Hospital NHS Services

• Implementation of High Impact Change Model

National Metrics
• Reduction in non elective admissions

• Delayed transfers of care 

BOSCARD Matrix: Enhanced Care in Care Homes   2017/19 Appendix 1d
P

age 223
A

genda Item
 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Background The Government’s mandate to NHS England for 2017/18 set a target to reduce the national delayed transfers rate to 3.5% by September 2017. A delayed transfer of care is 

where a patient is ready and safe to leave hospital care, but is unable to do so, and remains occupying a hospital bed. This is detrimental to the patient and impacts 

adversely on the health and care system flow and efficiency. The high impact change model includes eight system interventions with the greatest impact on reducing 

delayed discharges. 

Central Bedfordshire population has a broad patient footprint using up to seven hospitals in surrounding local authority areas,  none of which are situated in the Central 

Bedfordshire boundary. This makes the transfer of care from hospital to the community complex and involves liaison with a number of different systems and A&E delivery 

boards.

In 2016/17 Central Bedfordshire saw an overall increase in DTOCs, a deep dive analysis was undertaken and highlighted that the two most significant reasons for delay 

were waiting for further NHS non acute care and patient choice. Two discharge workshops have taken place with stakeholders and a self assessment against the eight high 

impact interventions has been completed. This work has identified areas for improvement in the transfer of care process,  including redesign and integration of services 

and the need for investment to provide additional capacity and support new ways of working.

Objectives To develop process, systems and models to deliver the 8 high impact interventions and reduce delays in transfers of care between hospital and home.

To improve patient experience,  maximise patient outcomes and support people to remain independent in their own homes by ensuring people do not experience delays 

in discharge from hospital.

To provide a consistent and equitable discharge service to all Central Bedfordshire residents whichever acute trust they use.

To reduce avoidable re-admissions by providing integrated health and social care services on discharge and community multidisciplinary team working. 

Scope Within Scope Discharge pathways from all acute and community trusts treating Central Bedfordshire patients.

Outside Scope

Constraints Co-dependencies with partner organisations across the system required to support implementation

The STP is responsible for the development of integrated care records and sharing agreements across the health economy

Approval of funding

Assumptions Partner organisations and stakeholders will engage and commit to delivery of the 8 high impact change model.

Risks • Securing funding for primary care home model

• Availability and capacity of  workforce  resource  across health and 

social care

• Stakeholder buy in.

Mitigation • Application for funding made to CCG 

• Stakeholder engagement

High impact change model – managing transfers of care between hospital and home Appendix 1e
P

age 225
A

genda Item
 8



Deliverables • Early discharge planning – additional social workers in post to facilitate an improved discharge process from all acute trusts used by Central Bedfordshire patients.

• Systems to monitor patient flow – implementation of local tracking system to monitor DTOC and ensure early escalation of patients experiencing delays.

• Multi-disciplinary/multi agency discharge teams, including the voluntary and community sector – Integrated health and social care discharge service established 

providing a single assessment process. Rehabilitation and reablement teams provide an offer of integrated intermediate care.

• Home First/Discharge to Assess – agreement of a model to ensure assessments take place in the community rather than in the acute trust. An increase in  community 

capacity is in place to support the model.

• Seven Day service – trusted assessor model agreed and Implemented to support seven day discharge.

• Trusted Assessor – Trusted assessor roles established for care homes and for intermediate care.

• Focus on Choice – Further analysis on the reasons for delays associated with choice and an action plan to address these.

• Enhancing health in care homes – an action plan agreed to deliver enhanced care to care homes to reduce avoidable hospital admissions and improve patient 

outcomes,  including: complex care support, trusted assessor, medication reviews, Geriatrician support to GPs, implement red bag initiative, involvement in STP 

digitisation in Care homes, improved training offer to care homes, well being programmes in care homes.

National 

Conditions

Protection of social services 

Out of Hospital Services 

High Impact Change Model to reduce transfers of Care 

National Metrics
Non elective admissions 

Delayed Transfers of Care 

Rehabilitation and reablement 

Reducing permanent admission into residential care 

High impact change model – managing transfers of care between hospital and home Appendix 1e
P

age 226
A

genda Item
 8



Appendix 2A  BCF Expenditure by Scheme Sub Type 2017-18

Sum of 2017/18 Expenditure (£) Column Labels

Row Labels

CCG Minimum 

Contribution

Improved 

Better Care 

Fund

Local 

Authority 

Contribution Grand Total

1

1. Assistive Technologies 290,772 150,000 440,772

Investment in Assistive Technology 150,000 150,000

Self Care Management (Decision Support Tool) 100,772 100,772

Self Care Management (Telecare) 190,000 190,000

2

2. Care navigation / coordination 302,316 66,733 369,049

Out of hospital strategy 66,733 66,733

Proactive Care and MDT (Clinical Navigation) 302,316 302,316

3

3. Carers services 367,585 170,000 537,585

Carers Support (CiB Dementia) 35,000 35,000

Carers Support (CiB) 317,585 170,000 487,585

Carers Support (PIPP) 15,000 15,000

4

4. DFG - Adaptations 1,582,506 1,582,506

DFGs and minor works 1,582,506 1,582,506

7

7. Enablers for integration 193,651 44,000 237,651

Data sharing, systems and programme support 44,000 44,000

Project Support 86,829 86,829

Strategic Joint Commissioning 106,822 106,822

8

8. Healthcare services to Care Homes 183,222 100,000 283,222

Care Home Association Investment 100,000 100,000

Telemedicine (Airedale) Complex Care 183,222 183,222

9

9. High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfer of Care 853,815 828,833 199,045 1,881,693

Additional Hospital Discharge Social Workers 169,507 169,507

Complex Care model in health localities 125,000 125,000

Delayed Transfers of Care (Discharge Coordinators) 114,005 114,005

Delayed Transfers of Care (Discharge Team) 104,640 104,640

Delayed Transfers of Care (Hospital Social Work Teams) 635,170 199,045 834,215

Housing Options Officers 169,507 169,507

Out of hospital community beds 265,914 265,914

Trusted Assessors 98,905 98,905

14

14. Residential placements 1,170,585 61,295 1,231,880

Integrated Care Packages 1,170,585 61,295 1,231,880

13

13. Primary prevention / Early Intervention 78,780 12,120 90,900

Wellbeing and promoting independence 78,780 12,120 90,900

10

10. Integrated care planning 563,001 174,644 563,065 1,300,710

Integrated Operations Capacity 174,644 174,644

Liaison Psychiatry 137,417 137,417

Primary Care Mental Health Liaison 146,578 146,578

Proactive Care and MDT (Community Matrons) 279,006 279,006

Rehabilitation (Occupational Therapy Services) 563,065 563,065

11

Page 227
Agenda Item 8



11. Intermediate care services 10,074,482 196,547 1,984,390 12,255,419

Access to Community Beds (Community Beds) 602,322 602,322

Access to Community Beds (Step up/Step Down) 800,000 800,000

Avoiding Urgent Admissions (Hospital at Home) 238,189 238,189

Avoiding Urgent Admissions (Rapid Intervention) 2,478,587 2,478,587

Contingency 395,861 395,861

Falls Prevention 98,980 179,490 278,470

Falls Prevention 196,547 196,547

Falls Strength and Balance 150,000 150,000

Fracture Liaison Services 89,000 89,000

Proactive Care and MDT (Community Nurses) 3,451,088 3,451,088

Proactive Care and MDT (Specialist Nurses) 148,613 148,613

Proactive Care and MDT (Stroke) 51,220 51,220

Proactive Care and MTD (End of Life Care) 920,182 920,182

Reablement (Protecting Social Care) 889,440 1,020,000 1,909,440

Rehabilitation 545,900 545,900

16

16. Other 1,664,811 919,538 2,584,349

Capital investment to support transforming care 919,538 919,538

Community Equipment  Service 576,318 576,318

Community Equipment (Wheelchair Services) 483,503 483,503

Integrated Care Packages (Care Act) 604,990 604,990

12

12. Personalised healthcare at home 100,000 100,000

Voluntary Sector Investment 100,000 100,000

Grand Total 15,549,369 1,810,408 5,535,959 22,895,736

Page 228
Agenda Item 8



Appendix 2B BCF Expenditure by Scheme Sub Type 2018-19

Sum of 2018/19 Expenditure (£) Column Labels

Row Labels

CCG Minimum 

Contribution

Improved 

Better Care 

Fund

Local 

Authority 

Contribution Grand Total

1

1. Assistive Technologies 294,587 150,000 444,587

Investment in Assistive Technology 150,000 150,000

Self Care Management (Decision Support Tool) 102,687 102,687

Self Care Management (Telecare) 191,900 191,900

2

2. Care navigation / coordination 308,060 212,615 520,675

Out of hospital strategy 212,615 212,615

Proactive Care and MDT (Clinical Navigation) 308,060 308,060

3

3. Carers services 373,619 171,700 545,319

Carers Support (CiB Dementia) 35,000 35,000

Carers Support (CiB) 323,619 171,700 495,319

Carers Support (PIPP) 15,000 15,000

4

4. DFG - Adaptations 1,582,506 1,582,506

DFGs and minor works 1,582,506 1,582,506

7

7. Enablers for integration 43,541 193,651 0 237,192

Data sharing, systems and programme support 43,541 0 43,541

Project Support 86,829 86,829

Strategic Joint Commissioning 106,822 106,822

8

8. Healthcare services to Care Homes 186,704 100,000 286,704

Care Home Association Investment 100,000 100,000

Telemedicine (Airedale) Complex Care 186,704 186,704

9

9. High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfer of Care 864,320 828,833 201,035 1,894,188

Additional Hospital Discharge Social Workers 169,507 169,507

Complex Care model in health localities 125,000 125,000

Delayed Transfers of Care (Discharge Coordinators) 116,171 116,171

Delayed Transfers of Care (Discharge Team) 106,628 106,628

Delayed Transfers of Care (Hospital Social Work Teams) 641,521 201,035 842,556

Housing Options Officers 169,507 169,507

Out of hospital community beds 265,914 265,914

Trusted Assessors 98,905 98,905

14

14. Residential placements 1,192,826 61,908 1,254,734

Integrated Care Packages 1,192,826 61,908 1,254,734

13

13. Primary prevention / Early Intervention 78,780 12,241 91,021

Wellbeing and promoting independence 78,780 12,241 91,021

10

10. Integrated care planning 573,698 174,644 568,695 1,317,037

Integrated Operations Capacity 174,644 174,644

Liaison Psychiatry 140,027 140,027

Primary Care Mental Health Liaison 149,363 149,363

Proactive Care and MDT (Community Matrons) 284,308 284,308

Rehabilitation (Occupational Therapy Services) 568,695 568,695

11

11. Intermediate care services 10,249,340 196,547 2,001,844 12,447,731

Access to Community Beds (Community Beds) 613,766 613,766

Access to Community Beds (Step up/Step Down) 808,000 808,000

Avoiding Urgent Admissions (Hospital at Home) 242,714 242,714

Avoiding Urgent Admissions (Rapid Intervention) 2,525,680 2,525,680

Contingency 403,383 403,383

Falls Prevention 99,970 181,285 281,255

Falls Prevention 196,547 196,547

Falls Strength and Balance 150,000 150,000

Fracture Liaison Services 89,000 89,000

Page 229
Agenda Item 8



Proactive Care and MDT (Community Nurses) 3,516,659 3,516,659

Proactive Care and MDT (Specialist Nurses) 151,437 151,437

Proactive Care and MDT (Stroke) 51,732 51,732

Proactive Care and MTD (End of Life Care) 937,665 937,665

Reablement (Protecting Social Care) 898,334 1,030,200 1,928,534

Rehabilitation 551,359 551,359

16

16. Other 1,679,333 1,911,201 3,590,534

Capital investment to support transforming care 1,911,201 1,911,201

Community Equipment  Service 575,604 575,604

Community Equipment (Wheelchair Services) 492,689 492,689

Integrated Care Packages (Care Act) 611,040 611,040

12

12. Personalised healthcare at home 100,000 100,000

Voluntary Sector Investment 100,000 100,000

Grand Total 15,844,808 1,956,290 6,511,130 24,312,228

Page 230
Agenda Item 8



BCF OOH Strategy (indicative schemes) CISP

Prevention 

and early 

intervention 

Delivering 

integrated 

and improved 

outcomes 

through Out 

of Hospital 

Services

Integrated 

Health and 

Care Hubs 

Enhanced 

Care in Care 

Homes 

High Impact 

Change Model

Transitions of 

Care

Complexity of 

Care

Primary Care 

Home

Paediatric 

non-elective

Strengthening 

and 

Transforming 

the General 

Practice 

Model

Expanding the 

range of OOH 

Services

Strengthening 

multidisciplina

ry working to 

support frail 

and complex 

patients

Digitalisation 

Strategy 

Medication 

Reviews

Care Planning 

Training 

Needs 

Assessment  

In and out of 

Hours 

assessment 

Standardised 

Discharge 

Process 

5Q Care Test

BLMK 

Discharge 

Framework 

core support 

"offer" to 

practices 

Implementati

on Plan 

Engagement 

with localities 

and clusters 

on benefits of 

the model 

Support to 

apply for 

NAPC 

Programme 

Production of 

process 

controls and 

impact 

measures 

Bronchiolitis 

Action Plan

Expansion of 

telehealth/tel

ecare services

Implementati

on of Social 

Prescribing

OOMPH 

physical 

activity 

programme

Implementati

on of a falls 

pathway

Falls 

Prevention 

training for 

Extra Care 

Homes

Embed 

Multidisciplin

ary approach 

Primary Care 

Home 

Discharge 

Planning, 

Single Trusted 

Assessor 

approach, 

Single Point of 

Co-ordination 

approach

Integration 

rehabilitation  

& reablement

Develop  

integrated 

care pathways

Commission 

scoping and 

Strategic 

Outline Case 

documents

Commission 

Outline 

Business 

Cases (OBCs) 

Procurement 

and 

construction 

of Hubs.

Development 

of interim 

“Hub” 

virtual/estates 

solutions 

Review plans 

with CBC Local 

Development 

Plan

Trusted 

Assessor 

model 

Red bag 

scheme 

Medication 

reviews  to 

reduce 

inappropriate 

polypharmacy 

Complex care 

support

Care home 

staff training 

Care home 

digitisation, 

Airdale model 

scoped

Early 

discharge 

planning 

Systems to 

monitor 

patient flow 

Multi-

disciplinary/m

ulti agency 

discharge 

teams

Home 

First/Discharg

e to Assess 

Seven Day 

service 

Trusted 

Assessor 

Enhancing 

health in care 

homes 

Focus on 

Choice 

Enablers

Record 

sharing/share

d health and 

social care 

record 

Hub scoping 

and 

development

Workforce 

development

Leadership 

and OD

Extended 

access to 

primary care

Home visiting 

model

Same day 

access

GP Resilience

High Impact 

Actions

Delegated 

Commissionin

g

Enhanced 

services 

delivered by 

clusters

MDT 

development

Bringing 

planned care  

OOH

CHS 

mobilisation

Single Point of 

Access

Community 

diagnostics

Rapid 

Intervention 

Team

A&E 

Streaming

Enhanced care 

home model

Discharge to 

assess, 

discharge 

planning

111/out of 

hours 

integration 

with OOH 

services

Complex care

IM&T inc.

remote 

monitoring 

and risk 

stratification

Work streams:

Primary Care Transformation                                Embedding multidisciplinary working

Supporting frail and complex patients                 Developing workforce and new roles

Developing IM&T                                                     Hub development

Central Bedfordshire Place Based Transformation ProgrammeAppendix 3

P
age 231

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board
For the placed based delivery of health and care

DRAFT TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Purpose

1.1. The purpose of the Transformation Board is to drive forward the ‘place 
based’ system wide transformation of health and social care in Central 
Bedfordshire and to do this will:

 Gain an understanding of the current and future population 
 Shape plans in response to current and future needs
 Understand the impact that changed delivery achieves, both in terms 

of the outcomes for residents and cost effectiveness
 Bring together all key partners from across health and social care to 

deliver the local solutions that achieve the priorities and ambitions of 
the Health and Well Being Board and BLMK STP. 

1.2. This Board will oversee the delivery of integrated outcomes for Central 
Bedfordshire’s residents that are timely and make best use of available 
resources.

1.3. To provide local leadership and place based accountability for the delivery of 
the Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan priorities (STP). 

2. Core Membership

2.1. This will comprise of senior representation from:
 BCCG  
 Central Bedfordshire Council 
 Mental Health services provider 
 Community health services provider(s)
 Acute Hospital provider(s): Luton and Dunstable Hospital, Bedford 

Hospital, Lister Hospital, Milton Keynes Hospital
 Local Medical Council 
 GP Locality representation
 HealthWatch Central Bedfordshire
 Representation from the Independent Care Sector

• Others as appropriate.

2.2. Partners are asked to reflect on and determine who is best to represent their 
organisation.

Appendix 4 Page 233
Agenda Item 8



2

2.3. The Board will be chaired by the Chief Executive of Central Bedfordshire 
Council. The Council will provide the secretariat support. The Board may 
consider the appointment of a Vice Chair over time.

3. Key Responsibilities

3.1. The Board will have oversight of the delivery of key strategies agreed by the 
Health and Well Being Board and/or the STP. These include:

 The Central Bedfordshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Integration of Health and Social Care Strategy incorporating the Out of 

Hospital Strategy 
 Better Care Fund Plan 2017-19
 And provide oversight of the linkage with connected strategies, such as, 

the Primary Care Strategy. 

3.2. The Board will keep oversight of the emerging local service models to deliver 
the vision and principles of Priority Two of the STP (Primary, Community and 
Social Care) and the Place Based interventions covering: Complex Care, 
Transitions of Care, Primary Care Home, and, Paediatric Non-Elective 
Inpatients that meet the needs of Central Bedfordshire’s population.

3.3. Over time, ensure that effective arrangements are in place for the joint 
commissioning of health, care and related services.

3.4. Over time, ensure that effective arrangements are in place for the delivery 
of integrated outcomes for the people of Central Bedfordshire.

3.5. Ensure a collaborative approach to addressing local challenges and to use 
appropriate system-wide flexibilities to deliver solutions, maximising the 
outcomes for residents and making best use of the total resources available 
to the partners involved as a whole.

3.6. To have understanding of the ‘place based’ resource and to direct those 
resources to secure integrated outcomes for local people.

4. Key relationships

4.1. The Board will have key relationships with the Accident and Emergency 
Improvement Boards that serve its population: principally the Luton and 
Dunstable Hospital and Bedford Hospital Boards and recognises that there 
are 5 other Boards that have a connection with Central Bedfordshire’s 
population.

4.2. The board will have a key relationship with the emerging CB Better Care 
Fund Operational Board as it seeks to implement the BCF Plan 2017-19 and 
deliver its requirements and targets.

Page 234
Agenda Item 8



3

4.3. The Board will have a key relationship with the Children’s’ Trust in ensuring 
that joint planning, delivery and outcomes are achieved.

5. Frequency of meetings

5.1. Meetings should be held monthly and aligned to other key meetings of the 
Health and Well Being Board and the appropriate Priority Boards of the 
BLMK STP.

6. Accountability

6.1. The Place Based Delivery Board for Central Bedfordshire is a sub-group of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health and Wellbeing Board has a 
statutory responsibility for integration of health and social care. The Board 
will act as a conduit to the BLMK STP which has important implications for 
future configuration and quality of health and social care services for the 
area.

6.2. The Chair of the Board will take responsibility for confirming the agenda of 
each meeting and will take responsibility for briefing the Central 
Bedfordshire Health Well Being Board.

6.3. Representatives on the Board are accountable to their own organisations, 
and decisions made at the place-based Board are made on behalf of those 
organisations. Partner representatives will brief their respective Executive 
Teams/ Boards and seek approval for decisions.

7. Support

7.1. As a sub-group of the Health and Wellbeing Board, administration support 
will be provided by Democratic Services of the Council.  It is likely that as the 
work of the Board progresses that staff will be seconded in by the partner 
organisations to assist with the leadership and delivery of transformation 
projects and programmes.

8.  Quoracy

8.1. The Board will be quorate with representation from: Central Bedfordshire 
Council, BCCG, representation from the NHS acute providers, and 
representation from community providers.

Page 235
Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board

Central Bedfordshire

Transformation Board

Better Care Fund Steering 

Group
Hub Programme Group

A&E Delivery BoardRight Care Transformation 

Board

CBC Executive BCCG Governing Body

STP Priority Delivery Groups Provider Alliance 

Governance Structure 

Out of Hospital Delivery 

Group

Appendix 5

P
age 237

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Date of Meeting                                                                                        29 November 2017

Update on the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and 
Accountable Care System for Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK)

Responsible Officer(s) Richard Carr, Chief Executive 

Presented by:

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information

Richard Carr, Chief Executive

Yes/no

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

1. Note the progress of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan

2. Endorse the emerging collaborative approach as an Accountable Care System

3. To consider the opportunities and implications of the Accountable Care System  
     for Central Bedfordshire’s current and future Health and Care system.

Purpose of Report

1. To provide an update on the progress of the Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) across Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton 
Keynes and the emerging collaborative approach

2. To inform the Board of the national announcement that the Bedfordshire, 
Luton and Milton Keynes Partnership will be one of eight other STPs across 
the country  working towards becoming an “Accountable Care System” 
(ACS).

Background

3. The BLMK STP is one of 44 health and care ‘footprints’ in England, bringing 
organisations together to develop plans to support the delivery of the NHS 
Five Year Forward View. The plans will show how local services will evolve, 
develop and become clinically and financially sustainable over the next five 
years (to 2020/21) to address the health and care triple aim as set out in the 
Five Year Forward View:
• Health and wellbeing;
• Care and quality; and
• Sustainability (finance and efficiency).  

Page 239
Agenda Item 9



4. An initial plan, published in November 2016, set out five priorities:
• Priority 1 Prevention 
• Priority 2 Primary, Community and Social Care
• Priority 3 Sustainable Secondary Care
• Priority 4 Digital Programme
• Priority 5 Systems Integration.

5. The progress of the BLMK STP has been rated outstanding by NHS England 
after a performance analysis of each of the STP footprints across the country.

6. The Senior Responsible Owner for the STP has also changed with the 
System being led by Richard Carr, Chief Executive of Central Bedfordshire 
Council. Pauline Philip has remained involved in the STP in the role of Chair, 
reflecting the demands of her position as National Director for Urgent and 
Emergency Care.

7. Work has been progressing to develop plans to take the five priorities forward 
towards delivery.  Two recent briefing reports produced by the BLMK STP 
which provides all of the key updates on the progress of the Partnership are 
attached for information.(Appendix 1a&b)

Progress in Key Priority Areas 

8. Priority 1 Prevention

Priority 1 produced a BLMK Health and Wellbeing Gap data pack which 
informed the objectives of the P1 Prevention Plan.

P1 has monthly Board meetings and quarterly Prevention Champion 
workshops which both include Central Bedfordshire representatives.  
The following areas of progress are outcomes from the last workshop held in 
September.

Four key areas of progress for Priority 1 in 2017/18 are:

 Cardiovascular disease prevention
The NHS RightCare programme has identified improvements in 
cardiovascular disease prevention, detection and treatment as the single 
largest quality improvement and financial opportunity for BLMK.

Priority 1 is working with BLMK partners, NHS England and Public Health 
England to develop a comprehensive cardiovascular disease prevention 
programme. 

Across BLMK an estimated 89,900 people have undiagnosed 
hypertension (high blood pressure) and 7,200 have undiagnosed atrial 
fibrillation (AF). Hypertension management accounts for approximately 1 in 
10 GP visits. STP Transformation Funding has been awarded to test the 
feasibility and effectiveness of community detection of hypertension and 
atrial fibrillation for the prevention of heart attacks and strokes. The 
proposal is to screen up to 2,800 adults across 25 community pharmacies.

Page 240
Agenda Item 9



The pilot will target areas with higher rates of cardiovascular disease 
including community pharmacists based in Central Bedfordshire.

 Developing a Social Prescribing pathway
A review of existing provision across BLMK is underway and the Priority 1 
team has secured STP Transformation Funding to initiate or scale-up 
existing social prescribing interventions. 

Social Prescribing is one of the key areas of focus in Central 
Bedfordshire’s Integration and BCF Plan. A delivery model based on the 
expansion of the Village Care Scheme into Primary Care is being 
developed with a view to securing National Health and Wellbeing Funding 
and utilising local STP Transformation Funding.

 Increasing uptake of seasonal flu vaccinations
Seasonal flu communications campaign has been launched and 
communications teams in all partner organisations are proactively 
engaging with their communities and staff to maximise the update. 

Seasonal flu vaccination is being offered to Care Providers across Central 
Bedfordshire. Care Homes and Domiciliary Care staff will have access to 
vaccinations or receive vouchers to be used participating pharmacies. 

Bedfordshire has been awarded STP transformation funds to support 
employers, without occupational health teams, to apply and receive 
seasonal flu vaccination clinics in the workplace.   This aims to increase 
uptake of the vaccine and reduce absenteeism due to flu-related illness 
and admissions.

22 clinics, provided by community pharmacists, will be offered across 
Central Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough.

 Supporting healthy workplaces and Smoke Free estates
Priority 1 is holding a workshop in December to provide peer challenge 
and support for the development of workplace health and wellbeing 
activities including smoke free estates. Luton & Dunstable Hospital and 
Central Bedfordshire colleagues have been invited.

A number of partner organisations already have smoke free estates and 
P1 is working with organisations to enable this change across BLMK. 
Milton Keynes University Hospital became a smoke free site in October 
2017. There is a communications campaign for patients, visitors and staff 
informing them of the change and signposting support for smoking 
cessation. 

9. Priority 2 Primary, Community and Social Care 

The strategic goals for P2 are to:

a) Strengthen primary care services to ensure sustainability and enable 
transformation

Page 241
Agenda Item 9



b) Increase the health of the population by maximising prevention and 
self-care

c) Shift activity away from acute services to out of hospital care, closer to 
the patient

d) Ensure that people are able to access appropriate urgent care 
services, reducing reliance on A&E and reducing avoidable unplanned 
admissions

e) Achieve the integration of health and social care services
f) Support the transformation of services for people with Learning 

Disabilities
g) Help to integrate physical and mental health services and achieve 

parity of esteem

Progress against these goals is as follows:

Primary Care 

 A Draft primary care “offer” for involvement in the Transformation 
Programme supporting the delivery of the General Practice Five Year 
Forward View. 

 Primary Care Networks developed based on the successful National 
Association of Primary Care (NAPC) programme for which BLMK 
already has two successful examples.  

 In agreeing the scope for target NAPC support, Central Bedfordshire 
has been accepted as part of the Communities of Practice for the 
Primary Care Home model and Leighton Buzzard has been chosen as 
pilot of this new model.

 Bedfordshire is CCG coordinating the recruitment of pharmacists 
(September) and international recruitment of GPs (November). 

 Currently two pharmacists have been working to review medication in 
Care Homes in Central Bedfordshire.

Mental Health
 Positive and enthusiastic clinical conversation which was attended by 

nearly 100 clinicians took place in August.
 Delivering enhanced Core 24/7 Mental Health support for patients with 

Physical health needs being managed within hospital settings. 
 Commitment from ELFT and CNWL to align transformation work with 

some resource to support the transformation work. 

Workforce
 Funding has been identified through Health Education England to 

support workforce mapping and modelling for delivering new ways of 
working.  

 Ivel Valley locality is one of the areas that will participate in this initial 
modelling work.

 A Primary Care `Workforce Development Plan is being developed a 
draft workforce plan will be submitted to NHS England by end October 
2017.

Page 242
Agenda Item 9



Integrated Health and Care Hubs
 A BLMK Strategic Estates Group has been established and is working 

to coordinate a joint approach to Hub development across the STP 
footprint, with the development of a STP wide .Strategic Outline Plan 
for Out of Hospital integrated service hubs. 

 This common strategic outline plan will also inform the development of 
business cases for the Hubs in Central Bedfordshire.

10. Priority 3 Sustainable Secondary Care

 Progress against priority 3 which incorporates Bedford, Luton & 
Dunstable University and Milton Keynes University Hospitals is as 
follows: 

 Collaborative working on clinical support services such as radiology, 
pathology and therapies continue to be developed.  The development 
of clinical sub-specialties across all providers is also being considered.

 The proposal for merger between Bedford and Luton & Dunstable 
Hospitals has been announced. 

11. Priority 4 Digitisation

 Digitally enabled transformation is fundamental to clinical and service 
transformation. The delay in release of central capital has frustrated the 
start of work on this priority. This funding was released in August.   
Highlights and progress are as follows:

Shared Care Record 

 The overall plans for how systems will work together are being pulled 
together in a master plan including key decisions. This work, described 
as the Target Architecture Options Appraisal, will be completed early in 
October and cover the ‘plumbing’ design to bring social, primary, 
community and secondary care data together to support both direct 
care, and system design.

 The Estates, Technology and Transformation Fund was approved in 
August 2017 for BLMK Digital Roadmap priorities for completion by 
March 2018.  This will focus on ensuring access to Summary GP care 
records in Acute and other care settings.

 A Strategic Options Appraisal for the Technical support for enhancing 
the healthcare available to Care Home residents is also being 
developed. 

 Central Bedfordshire, in conjunction with Luton Borough received a 
Local Government grant to pilot work which will enable care homes to 
access electronic shared care records with health services.  Three 
Care Homes in Central Bedfordshire have been identified as part of the 
pilot which will provide Wi-Fi within care homes and enable other 

Page 243
Agenda Item 9



benefits such as electronic consultations with clinicians.  

 In addition to this, a training package to support information 
governance is being rolled out to those Care Homes.

12. Priority 5 System Reengineering

It has been acknowledged that the current structures and fragmentation within 
the Health and Care system are not sustainable. These structures which 
include: perverse payment incentives, the existence of internal fines and 
considerable transactional costs all drive the need to make fundamental 
change to the structure and nature of economic flows within the system. 

Priority 5 is a technical area and has brought together a broad group of staff 
from across the system to redefine the approach.

The BLMK ACS model for delivery provides opportunities to 
support activities at scale (BLMK), borough-level (place) with integrated 
locality delivery and is illustrated below.

Emerging Accountable Care System

13. In June 2017, NHS England (NHSE) confirmed that BLMK STP will be one of 
eight other STPs working towards becoming an “Accountable Care System” 
(ACS).  . In shadow form during 2017/18, with a view to ACS arrangements 
“going live” in 2018/19.  

14. Accountable Care System (ACS) is the terminology being used by NHSE to 
describe systems in which NHS organisations (both commissioners and 
providers), often in partnership with local authorities, choose to take on clear 
collective responsibility for resources and population health to provide more 
joined up, better coordinated care. At its simplest, accountable care is a way 
of working that rewards those involved in keeping people healthy, and for 
planning and delivering health and social care services on the basis of the 
outcomes achieved.

15. The prize on offer, in becoming a 1st wave ACS, mainly involves NHS 
England delegating a range of decision-rights to BLMK as well as some 
incremental transformation funding. 

16. The aim is to integrate services ‘to provide joined up, better co-ordinated care 
breaking down the barriers between GPs and hospitals, physical and mental 
healthcare, social care and the NHS.

17. A design programme has been developed to map out what the ACS will look 
like.  The Joint Commissioning Executive, a committee which includes Chief 
Executives and Chairs of the three Clinical Commissioning Groups in the 
STP, has agreed to test how current commissioning functions will work within 
the ACS. Key functions of Accountable Care Systems are shown below.

Page 244
Agenda Item 9



18. There are several benefits associated with securing this lead status including 
greater local autonomy, particularly in relation to primary care, preferential 
access to capital, and greater local prioritisation of recurrent transformation 
funding (£18.8m in 17/18) to help ‘fast track’ system improvements. Helping to 
address the challenges of a fragmented system with different rules that often 
results in inequality of service provision; a system based on incentives that 
drives competition between organisations rather than co-operation; multiple IT 
systems that prevent efficient information sharing; too much focus on 
treatment and not enough on prevention.

19. In addition, this opportunity provides greater impetus for accelerating a local 
vision for more integrated services and reconfiguration of health and social 
care services across the footprint. This is particularly important in relation to 
the development of Integrated Health and Care Hubs in Central Bedfordshire

20. ACS, In return, are expected to evidence system leadership commitment, 
shared performance plans and collective management of funding across 
CCGs and NHS providers for the defined population in 2017/18. There is also 
a requirement to demonstrate robust and effective collective decision making 
and governance.  

21. Staff from all three Clinical Commissioning Groups are participating in 
workshops to give their views on how the ACS will work and other partners 
with an interest in commissioning will be asked to input in the autumn.  A full 
report will be provided to the Joint commissioning Executive in December.

Page 245
Agenda Item 9



22. A collaborative three tier model bringing together collaboration of 
accountability, planning and delivery of services at three different levels has 
been developed.  The BLMK ACS model, set out below, provides 
opportunities to support activities at scale (BLMK), local authority level 
(Place) with integrated locality delivery.

23. This involves clusters of around 30-50,000 people at locality levels, ‘Place 
based’ local authority level and at scale (across the STP footprint) where 
appropriate. The framework setting out this approach  is attached. Appendix 2

24. The proposed functions within the ACS are strategic commissioning, systems 
integration and Accountable care provision. These are currently scattered 
across different institutions and Priority 5 is working with local places to unpick 
these relationships, such as in Luton where the Strategic Commissioning 
Concordat has been signed between the CCG and LA.

25. As part of this move towards delivery, the arrangements for involvement of 
partner organisations has been reviewed. A chief executive officer (CEO) 
meeting which has oversight of the delivery of the partnership work meets 
weekly. 

26. A BLMK Leaders and Chairs Board, comprising the four Council leaders and 
the eight Chairs of BLMK’s NHS STP partners is also proposed to ensure 
greater engagement of and direction from elected members and chairs.

27. The BLMK CEO Group has delegated accountability for the opportunities 
identified through the Collaborative Investment and Savings Programme 
(CISP) to each of the Place Based Transformation Boards. The programme 
seeks to address some immediate challenges including the continued rise in 
non-elective admissions, at over 13% compared to the same period last year.

28. Each local authority Place-based Transformation Board is asked to develop 
delivery plans for transformation out of hospital services and ensure that 
these plans are geared up to deliver to a target of £5m of savings over and 
above existing savings targets. Some of these plans may be linked to the 

Page 246
Agenda Item 9



Better Care Fund, the Improved Better Care Fund and other related funds. To 
achieve maximum impact the CISP, the BCF Plan and the strategy for Out of 
Hospital Services are being consolidated into a single delivery plan.  This is 
shared with Health and Wellbeing Board as part of the Integration and BCF 
Plan update.

Next Steps

29. Continue to pull together the priorities and deliverables across the Better Care 
Fund Plan, CISP and Out of Hospital Strategy to form a single delivery plan 
for Central Bedfordshire. 

30. Continue to develop the Primary Care Home model and ensure it builds on 
the multidisciplinary approach which is currently being established across 
Central Bedfordshire. 

31. Develop a single delivery framework for the key Integration and 
Transformation strategies which will be monitored by the Transformation 
Board.

32. Establish a work programme for designing and developing a ‘Place based’ 
strategic outcome based commissioning framework.

Reasons for the Action Proposed

33. Health and Wellbeing Boards has a key role in shaping the future of health 
and social care in their areas and need to ensure that they have 
meaningful input to the STPs.  The emerging vision and priorities of the 
STP are consistent with the priorities of Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire for improving health, wellbeing and 
reducing health inequalities.

34. Health and care systems have been asked to come together to create their 
own ambitious local blueprint for implementing the Five Year Forward 
View, covering Oct 2016 to March 2021.   NHS England will assess each 
STP.  Plans of the highest standard will gain access to transformation 
funding from April 2017. 

35. The STP has implications for Central Bedfordshire’s vision for integration 
and Out of Hospital services.

Issues

Governance & Delivery

36. The BLMK STP programme has been overseen and driven by an STP 
Steering Group. This includes 16 key STP partners, all of whom act as 
equal partners in the STP programme. Representation on the STP 
Steering Group is at the CEOs and/or Director level. The Chief Executive 
of Central Bedfordshire Council is deputy to the nominated STP lead.

Page 247
Agenda Item 9



The overarching design principle used to formulate the STP work 
programme has been that, as far as practical, the STP working groups 
draw on resources provided and/or insourced from STP partners. This 
helps to ensure that:

 Ownership is achieved
 Barriers in accessing data, intelligence, people and advice are 

reduced
 Local expertise is harnessed
 Third party costs are minimised

Financial 

37. One of the triple aims of the STPs is to secure financial balance across the 
local health system and improve the efficiency of NHS services.  However, 
the financial position of Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
remains of concern in the wider ACS position.  

38. As an ACS in 2018/19 the system will need to be managed with a single 
system based budget, balancing pressures between partners.

39. In 2017/18 the continued rapid growth in emergency admissions, and A&E 
attendances,  compared to last year, reflects sub-optimal experience for 
our residents and is creating financial pressure within the system.

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)

40. The PSED requires public bodies to consider all individuals when carrying 
out their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in 
relation to their own employees.  It requires public bodies to have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations 
between and in respect of nine protected characteristics; age disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

41. Are there any risks issues relating Public Sector Equality Duty           
Yes/No

42. If yes – outline the risks and how these would be mitigated               

Source Documents Location (including url where possible)

 
Presented by Richard Carr, CEO Central Bedfordshire Council 

Page 248
Agenda Item 9



 
 

Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes  

Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

Central Brief: July 2017 

Issue date: August 2017 

News 

Bedford Hospital awarded investment 

Bedford Hospital has been awarded £1.5 million pounds of investment from NHS 

England to improve GP access for local people and support urgent care at their A&E. 

The funding was announced recently as part of £325 million of investment NHS 

England is making in local projects through Sustainability and Transformation Plans 

across the country.  

Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes was selected as one of the STP areas to 

receive monies for local transformation projects, with national regulators recognising 

the plans to develop a primary care hub at Bedford Hospital as one of the ‘strongest 

and most advanced schemes’ put forward as part of plans to modernise and 

transform care for local people.  

The primary care hub will see a GP Practice for 10 doctors developed in Bedford 

Hospital’s Cauldwell Ward which could offer same-day appointments to unregistered 

patients over longer opening hours for seven days a week.  As well as offering 

greater access to GPs for patients, the service will also offer Urgent Care for patients 

that need timely but not emergency treatment.  

The hub will mean that patients can be directed to the most appropriate service at 

the hospital and reduce the numbers of those that attend A&E when perhaps they 

could receive quicker, more effective care elsewhere. 

Planning for the development of the primary care hub is already underway and it is 

anticipated that the work and training required will be completed next year. 

BLMK progress rated as ‘outstanding’ 

The progress of Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan (STP) has been rated as outstanding by NHS England after a 

performance analysis of each of the 44 STP footprints across the country.  

 

Page 249
Agenda Item 9

Griffs101_11
Text Box
Appendix 1 



 
 

National regulators published the figures which looked at the starting point for each 

STP and their achievements so far through 17 performance indicators across nine 

priority areas, each falling into three core themes: hospital performance; patient-

focused change and transformation. 

Through these indicators, each STP’s overall progress was rated and BLMK was 

one of only five areas to receive the top rating of ‘outstanding’.  

NHS England will collate and publish the performance data annually. 

Luton Council and Luton CCG join forces   

Luton Council and Luton Clinical Commissioning Group (LCCG) are joining forces to 

enable Luton people to live healthier lives. Cllr Hazel Simmons, Leader of the 

Council and Nina Pearson, Chair of LCCG, signed a concordat at the Council’s 

Luton Investment Framework event at the end of June to demonstrate each 

organisation’s commitment to improve the health of Luton’s residents. 

The proposed integrated commissioning detailed in the concordat will bring CCG 

health commissioners and the Council’s adult social care, children’s services and 

public health commissioning together creating a single function during 2018/19. The 

driving principles of this service will include preventing poor health, promoting self-

care, and supportive care to people and carers to optimise health and wellbeing as 

well as promote recovery and rehabilitation. 

A strategic commissioning framework will be developed to take forward the 

proposals which will involve establishing an Integrated Commissioning Committee 

(ICC) which will develop and monitor strategies and plans, allocate resources, 

undertake market intelligence and ensure compliance with regulatory bodies. The 

Health and Wellbeing Board will have strategic overview of the ICC but the 

committee will be accountable to both the Council’s Executive and the CCG’s Board. 

Residents of Luton will be informed of the progress of the single commissioning 

function and where it is required, formal consultation will be conducted.  

Health and Wellbeing 

BLMK gets people moving 

BLMK partner organisations are encouraging people of all ages to get moving this 

summer, with a host of activities and a free app from Public Health England.  

The campaign is part of a coordinated approach to improving the health and 

wellbeing of local people across Bedfordshire, Milton Keynes and Luton as part of 

the Sustainability Transformation Plan (STP). 

Page 250
Agenda Item 9



 
 

One initiative for families with children is the 10 Minute Shake Ups programme, 

which offers a host of Disney-themed activities online that encourages children to 

exercise 10 minutes at a time. The activities include both indoor and outdoor 

exercise and are designed to encourage children to get the required hour of exercise 

a day as helping them to build social skills, boost self-confidence and mental 

wellbeing, and improve bone and heart health. 

Children need 60 minutes of exercise a day, so each 10 minute burst of activity will 

help them reach the daily goal. As well as burning energy, being active helps 

children to build social skills, boost self-confidence and mental wellbeing, and 

improve bone and heart health. 

The shake up activities are available at www.nhs.uk/10-minute-shake-up/. 

For the adults, Public Health England has launched an app designed to help busy 

adults fit 10 to 30 minutes of exercise into their day. The free Active 10 app tracks 

how many minutes a day you walk at a brisk pace all you need is 10 minutes to get 

started. Brisk walking is simply walking faster than usual, at a pace that gets your 

heart pumping.   

The free app is available for both android and iPhone – search for ‘Active 10’ in your 

app store or alternatively you can find out more about the programme by searching 

for ‘Active 10’ online.  

Communications 

Getting our Communications and Engagement Right 

Nationally, STPs have been the focus of much media and public scrutiny and we’ve 

also had a lot of interest at a local level. 

This is a good thing and reflects how much local people and their representatives 

cherish the health and care services that are available to them. 

And, given the complexity of the health and care system that we are working in, it 

can be difficult to achieve clear and accessible communication with everyone who 

has an interest in the plans. 

That is why we are currently refreshing our approach to communications.  

 Earlier this month, Comms leads from each of the partner organisations gathered for 

a workshop during which they considered the strengths and weaknesses of what we 

have done so far and brainstormed a variety of ways in which we could be more 

effective in future. 

Page 251
Agenda Item 9

https://www.nhs.uk/10-minute-shake-up/


 
 

 There was a lot of discussion about channels and tactics with a strong sense that 

we need to move away from talking about our programme priorities and workstreams 

and move towards story telling about the changes we are wanting to achieve for 

local people. 

 This reflection is timely, given that our Chief Executives are currently undertaking a 

wider stock take of the BLMK STP and the priority outcomes we are seeking to 

achieve. 

 There was also a recognition that whilst we do have a wide diversity of audiences, in 

our communities and in our organisations, there would be real value in having a 

clearer and more consistent narrative about why change is important and what our 

plans are. 

Between now and September, the Comms and Engagement Network will be building 

on their ideas for change and plan to present a revised comms plan to the Chief 

Executives’ Group before launching a new approach in the early autumn. Supporting 

this work will be representatives from the Public Voice Partnership, which includes 

local Healthwatch, to ensure that the new approach and plans will have considered 

public feedback and be presented in a simple, easy to understand way that will help 

the many different audiences across BLMK to understand more about this important 

work to improve health and care for local populations. 

If you have ideas and suggestions on how our communications could be improved, 

please send them to us at communications@mkuh.nhs.uk  

Engagement  

What is an STP? 

Healthwatch organisations across BLMK are currently running a short survey to find 

out what local people know about STPs. The survey is trying to understand what 

awareness and understanding there currently is around STPs, and what level of 

involvement local people have had or would like to have in future. This feedback will 

be shared with BLMK STP through the Public Voice Partnership group and will help 

to inform developing plans. 

 

 

 

 

Page 252
Agenda Item 9

mailto:communications@mkuh.nhs.uk


 
 

Developing our public voice 

We are seeking representatives from across BLMK to become involved in reference 

groups to ensure the voice of local people is heard through the planning process. 

This approach has been successfully used in other areas and will see the following 

three reference groups established to cover different audiences: 

 Patient/public 

 Representative stakeholders/interest groups 

 Equalities organisations 

We would be delighted to hear from people who would be interested in being 

involved and will be encouraging widespread representation across BLMK. More 

details will be coming soon but if you would like to register an initial interest, please 

email ruth.adams@bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk 

 

Page 253
Agenda Item 9

mailto:ruth.adams@bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) 

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) 

Central Brief: August 2017 

Issue date: September 2017 

News 

Sir Bruce Keogh visits BLMK  

Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, Medical Director of NHS England, and Michael MacDonnell, 

NHS England’s Director of System Transformation, Operations and Information, brought a 

team to visit Milton Keynes and Bedfordshire in August as part of a series of visits the 

national regulators are making to STP footprints.  

The team started their visit at Milton Keynes University Hopsital, where they took a tour to 

see the substantial developments bringing together education, research and patient services 

-  including a new academic centre and Cancer Therapy Centre – and saw some of the 

innovative approaches the hospital is taking to rapid response, pathology and end of life 

care.  

Sir Bruce, Michael and the team then had a round table discussion over lunch with leaders 

from BLMK’s 16 partner organisations about the progress of BLMK STP and how NHS 

England can support the ongoing transformation of health and social care across the region.  

They ended the day with a visit to Central Bedfordshire Council’s Priory View, an award 

winning independent living facility, where they met with staff and residents and heard how 

the development helps those living there to enjoy healthier and more independent lives.  

The Guardian visit BLMK   

In case you missed it, The Guardian also visited the region in August to explore the 

opportunities for positive change that can be created by taking a whole system approach to 

health and social care. They spoke to Richard Carr, SRO form BLMK STP and Chief 

Executive of Central Bedfordshire Council, and Mark England, Chief of Staff of BLMK STP, 

to find out what the development of a Accountable Care System (ACS) could mean for local 

people and to see some of the good work already going on in the region. 

You can read the article here - https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/aug/02/new-

partnerships-joined-up-care-older-people-privatisation  

Developing an Accountable Care System (ACS) in BLMK 

Following the announcement in June that BLMK is one of eight ‘lead’ Accountable Care 

Systems in England, work is underway to progress the development of its ACS model. Three 

key elements of the ACS have been defined – Strategic Commissioning; Systems 

Page 255
Agenda Item 9

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/aug/02/new-partnerships-joined-up-care-older-people-privatisation
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/aug/02/new-partnerships-joined-up-care-older-people-privatisation
Griffs101_12
Text Box
Appendix 2



 
 

Integration and Accountable Care provision. These will look at how to remove organisational 

barriers and establish better systems across health and social care to provide quality, joined-

up care for almost one million people living in BLMK.  

The initial priority is to understand the current range of services and how they are 

commissioned in order to consider how this might work with the new ACS model. CCG and 

local authority staff from across BLMK will be taking part in a series of workshops between 

September and November as part of the design programme. These sessions will map 

current functions into the new model which looks at how we might plan and buy services at 

locality and Borough level or across the whole BLMK footprint. From this, recommendations 

for a future operating model will be developed. 

BLMK is operating as a ‘shadow’ ACS during 2017/18 and working towards a more formal 

arrangement in 2018/19. Read more here about Accountable Care Systems and NHS 

Commissioning or visit www.england.nhs.uk/new-business-models/  

Bedford Hospital and Luton and Dunstable University Hospital announce 

proposed merger 

This month, it was announced that Bedford Hospital and Luton and Dunstable 
University Hospital have decided to formally collaborate through a proposed merger. 
This will bring the two hospitals together to manage specialties as a single set of 
services, but delivered at both hospital sites. 

This important development is in line with the STP plans that were developed last 
year and which envisage all hospitals in the region coming together to design and 
deliver the best possible clinical and support services for local residents. As well as 
benefitting patients through better clinical models of care; bringing services together 
is also expected to deliver financial savings. 

The proposed merger could possibly take place as early as April 2018. However, this 
is subject to a formal approval process and there remains a great deal of work to do 
before any confirmed date can be given.  

Milton Keynes University Hospital will continue to operate as an independent NHS 
Foundation Trust, working closely with the other two hospitals and with health and 
care partners in Milton Keynes and the wider STP. A further formal collaboration 
involving all three hospitals is likely to be considered in the future. 

Health and Wellbeing 

Integrated Diabetes Service in Milton Keynes  

The Milton Keynes Integrated Diabetes Service (MK IDS) launched in June and is a new 
service that aims to deliver improved diabetes care to local people. 

Page 256
Agenda Item 9

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/1693_DraftMCP-6_A.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/1693_DraftMCP-6_A.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/new-business-models/


 
 

Milton Keynes University Hospital has worked in partnership with Milton Keynes Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) and 
Milton Keynes Diabetes Care (MKDC) to deliver this new integrated model which will be 
available to those people with diabetes requiring additional support and help with their 
diabetes management. 

The MK IDS service is delivered by a multi-disciplinary team (MDT) comprising of Diabetes 
Consultants and Diabetes Nurse Specialists (DNS) with administrative/reception support 
working alongside colleagues in primary and secondary care to provide high quality, local 
care for people living with diabetes.  

Investment 

Urgent and emergency care gets more funding 

A further £380,000 of investment in urgent and emergency care has been awarded to BLMK.  

The STP steering group and the programme team are currently working together to agree 

how the money will be used but all are agreed it is a welcome opportunity to accelerate 

BLMK’s ambitious plans to improve our population's ease of access to urgent and 

emergency care. 

Engagement  

Clinical Conversation  

We hosted over 70 BLMK clinicians, senior operational managers and leaders at the Clinical 

Conversation event at Wyboston Lakes in August. 

The focus of the event was mental health and out-of-hospital care, and the role it has to play 

in the transformation of the health and social care system in BLMK.   

After a short welcome from BLMK SRO Richard Carr, delegates listened to a talk from Sir 

Sam Everington, Chair of Tower Hamlets CCG and a trustee of the King’s Fund, about some 

of his award winning work in primary care. His talk focussed on the Bromley by Bow Centre 

in East London, a community organisation that runs more than 100 different projects and 

works with more than 2,000 people every month. Each project is based around the wider 

concept of health and is tailored to the needs of the whole community in one of the most 

deprived areas of London, including projects for families, young people, vulnerable adults 

and older people. The centre has used the social prescribing model, among many of their 

innovative and holistic approaches, to empower patients to take greater control of their lives. 

Alongside this, GPs at the centre have taken a more flexible approach in their relationship 

with patients, working in partnership with them to manage their own conditions and the area, 

Tower Hamlets, is currently getting the best result in the country for cholesterol and blood 

pressure control for patients with diabetes and heart disease. The lessons from the centre 

and their innovative model will help to inform the prevention, primary care and estates work 

being undertaken in BLMK.  

Page 257
Agenda Item 9



 
 

Following the presentation was Dr Navina Evans, Chief Executive of East London 

Foundation Trust (ELFT), who conducted a discussion with a patient on stage to talk about 

their own experience of mental health care from ELFT and how BLMK can learn from 

experts-by-experience to develop the services around the needs of the patient. Not only do 

the BLMK STP team want to take away insights from this talk, we are also looking at how we 

can hear more from patients about their experiences to help shape plans for the future.  

The night finished with 45 minutes of group work, where colleagues had the chance to sit on 

one of seven mental health-themed working groups to hear from expert clinicians about work 

being undertaken in their field and discuss how they might be involved in similar work. 

Attendees completed feedback forms to identify the support they need to help transform 

mental health care in BLMK. These, along with notes taken from the discussions, have been 

given to the STP programme team so they can continue the conversation and the 

development of these ideas with those in attendance. 

How can we shape the future of our digital transformation including a new 

shared care record? 

Back in March we held our first digital transformation stakeholder event where a number of 

suppliers gave an overview of what their products were capable of delivering in a 

transformed care system. On 14 September, at Wybsoton Lakes Training Centre, we will be 

holding our second event but this will be focussed on finding out what all our 16 partners 

want to see delivered to overcome some of the challenges that we face. 

The day will be an opportunity for all stakeholders to explore how we can work together to 

build a shared care record. We want attendees to imagine a world where information is at 

their fingertips to help them make better decisions for patients and service users.  

We will bring you news from the event in the next briefing document.  

UCLPartners Infection, Immunology and Inflammation (III) Symposium 2017 
 
Registration is now open for the annual UCLPartners Infection, Immunology and 

Inflammation Symposium on Tuesday 7 November 2017 at the UCL Institute of Education. 

This event, organised by UCLPartners, will bring together researchers from across UCL, 

Queen Mary University of London (QMUL) and beyond, enabling cross-disciplinary 

interaction and encouraging new collaborations between scientists and clinicians at the 

forefront of the III field.  

Speakers from UCL, QMUL and our partner organisations will present their ground-breaking 

work and answer your questions. An internationally leading external speaker will give the 

keynote lecture of the Symposium. 

There is no registration fee for this event, and food and drink will be provided free of charge. 

Due to space limitations timely registration and abstract submission is essential. Abstracts 

must be submitted using the Eventbrite registration link (below). 

Page 258
Agenda Item 9

https://uclpartners.com/


 
 

For more information and to register to attend, follow the link: 

http://UCLPartners-iii-symposium-2017.eventbrite.com  

The deadline for submitting abstracts is 5pm on Thursday 28 September.  

The abstract competition is open to early career researchers (ECRs), i.e. those in the early 

stages of their research career. We encourage you to use a self-defining definition of 

whether you identify as an ECR, but our general guidance is PhD candidates and post-doc 

researchers who do not have a permanent position. Note that there is no age limit here. 

Submitted abstracts will be scored by the III Symposium Organising Committee. The top-

scoring six applicants will be invited to present their research to the 300-strong Symposium 

audience. The other selected applicants will be invited to present a poster of their abstract to 

display during the day. The poster and presentation competition winners will then be 

announced and rewarded at the end of the Symposium, before the networking drinks 

reception. 

We very much hope to welcome you on Tuesday 7 November for a fascinating day of 

research excellence and networking opportunities. 

Page 259
Agenda Item 9

https://uclpartners-iii-symposium-2017.eventbrite.com/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Working towards a collaborative health and wellbeing system

What we are trying to achieve by having a Sustainable Transformation Partnership (STP)

As with many areas of the country, the BLMK health economy is facing a number of 
challenges. We have a growing population which is also getting older. More people are 
living with long term health challenges, such as diabetes and arthritis, which cannot be 
cured but can be effectively managed. The quality of care that people receive and also their 
general health and wellbeing vary across BLMK. We are also facing workforce challenges 
and significant financial pressures.

The BLMK plan has brought together 16 partners1 to look collectively at how we can break 
down the boundaries between our local health and social care systems, address problems 
that threaten our quality and financial viability; and develop ideas and priorities to 
transform local services.  This includes a shared vision for the future of local health and care 
services.  This vision is grounded in an honest assessment of the effectiveness, fitness for 
purpose and affordability of existing services.

The ‘triple aim’, as set out in NHS England’s Five Year 
Forward View (see diagram), highlights three key 
areas where we can focus our collective effort.  In 
developing our plans to work together and work 
differently, we will need to show how our plans 
improve the quality of care we provide, the health and 
wellbeing of local people and how we can afford to do 
this with the funds available to us. 

Realigning the system to help us achieve our aims

We need to develop a model which will help us achieve this aim, organising ourselves so 
that we are thinking more about health and quality of care. We need to evolve and improve 
existing arrangements to collaborate better across the health and care system.  To do this, 
we are seeking to create a single system that is designed around the needs of individuals, 
that removes organisational barriers and that works in partnership across the whole of 
Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes so that we provide the best possible health and 
wellbeing outcomes for our communities, with the resources available to us.

1The 16 BLMK STP partners are: Bedford Hospital NHS Trust; Luton and Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; Milton 
Keynes University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; NHS Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group ; NHS Luton Clinical Commissioning 
Group; NHS Milton Keynes Clinical Commissioning Group; Bedford Borough Council; Central Bedfordshire Council; Luton Council; Milton 
Keynes Council; Cambridgeshire Community Services NHS Trust; Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust; East London NHS 
Foundation Trust; South Essex Partnership; University NHS Foundation Trust; East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust; South Central 
Ambulance Service NHS Trust

Appendix 3

Page 261
Agenda Item 9



The ‘Triple Tier’ approach 

Discussions are still ongoing, however we believe that the model that would be best suited 
to BLMK would involve a ‘triple tier’ approach. This means looking at our population of 
around 1 million people at three different levels, and organising our services, and the way 
we plan and commission them, around these three levels. See the table below for how this 
might work:

By LOCALITY Hubs or Primary 
Care Home models 
(GP practices 
working together) 

Primary, community and social care working together 
based around families of GP practices serving localities of 
around 30,000-50,000 people. The blend of services will 
differ from locality to locality, depending on need.

For example, In Central Bedfordshire, Integrated Health 
and Social Care Hubs with integrated health and social 
care teams working with community and voluntarily 
groups to deliver integrated outcomes and reduce health 
inequalities. This includes empowering people to look after 
themselves better.

By PLACE i.e. 
Local Authority 
level

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire
Luton 
Milton Keynes

 Defining population health and well-being outcomes 
for local populations

 Strategic commissioning
 Accountability to our communities e.g. via H&WB
 Place-sensitised delivery of health and well-being 

services
 Empowering self-managed care

For example, multidisciplinary and integrated health and 
social care teams aligned to deliver place based care 
including support to care and residential homes to develop 
anticipatory care plans that promote health and wellbeing 
for people.   

At SCALE BLMK-wide  Specialised commissioning 
 Population health analysis and data sharing
 Supply chain assembly and management
 Inter-operable digital platforms
 Service quality and risk management

Page 262
Agenda Item 9



The benefits of a more collaborative approach

Following an invitation from NHS England, we recently submitted an expression of interest 
in becoming what NHSE is calling a “lead Accountable Care System (ACS)2”. The BLMK 
Partnership has been announced as one of eight STP footprints in England recognised as 
being sufficiently advanced in their collaboration and partnership working to be able to 
move forward at pace with integration plans.

There are several benefits associated with achieving lead status including greater local 
autonomy, particularly in relation to primary care, preferential access to capital, and greater 
local prioritisation of recurrent transformation funding (£18.8m in 17/18) to help ‘fast track’ 
system improvements.  In return, STPs that achieve lead status are expected to evidence 
system leadership commitment, shared performance plans and collective management of 
funding across CCGs and NHS providers for the defined population in 2017/18. There is also 
a requirement to demonstrate robust and effective collective decision making and 
governance.  

2 Accountable Care System (ACS) is the terminology being used by NHSE to describe systems in which NHS organisations 
(both commissioners and providers), often in partnership with local authorities, choose to take on clear collective 
responsibility for resources and population health to provide more joined up, better coordinated care. At its simplest, 
accountable care is a way of working that rewards those involved in keeping us healthy, and for planning and delivering 
health and social care services on the basis of the outcomes achieved.

Page 263
Agenda Item 9



How we are developing our collaborative model

Through 2017/18 partners in BLMK are exploring new ways of working with a view to 
formalising arrangements in 2018/19. In Central Bedfordshire, discussions have commenced 
between Bedfordshire CCG and the Council to develop a framework and an outline plan for 
an integrated approach to strategic commissioning. Proposals outlining this approach will be 
taken through respective governance forums, as well as the Transformation Board and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board later this year. 

What would be different?

Within BLMK, as with other parts of the country, there are challenges to overcome if we are 
to achieve our vision of communities and organisations working together to improve the 
health and wellbeing of our people. However, we are not starting with a blank sheet of 
paper.  Our local research already reveals several live examples where partners across BLMK 
are collaborating to achieve wider system goals, and indeed, partners have registered an 
aspiration to do much more of this in the coming months.  This also builds on integration 
work that CCGs and Councils have been undertaking in recent years.

Through our STP work, we have recognised some of these challenges – a fragmented system 
with different rules that results in inequality of service provision; a system based on 
incentives that drives competition between organisations rather than co-operation; multiple 
IT systems that prevent efficient information sharing; too much focus on treatment and not 
enough on prevention. We also know that our staff is a precious and scarce resource and 
that we won’t have enough money to do everything we want. 

Our goals will only be met through significant transformation of organisations, services and 
behaviours.  Collaboration needs to become the “new normal”.  The hallmarks of such 
behaviours include openness and transparency, knowledge sharing, joint learning, 
coordination and cooperation, collaboration, harmonisation and, as we move forward, 
integration.  

We believe we can achieve our goals more quickly by working together as a partnership, 
learning from each other as we progress.  Everything we do together will be tailored to 
meet the needs of our local communities in Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire, Luton 
and Milton Keynes.  We will work closely with local Health and Wellbeing Boards to make 
sure this happens. 

What impact will this have on the Council and on residents?

Partnership working across BLMK allows more joined up thinking and shared responsibility 
for health and wellbeing outcomes and associated health and care services, creating the 
best opportunity we must tackle growing challenges to provide high quality and sustainable 
health and social care services for the future.  By taking a more holistic view, we can 
consider how we collectively spend the funding we have to ensure we get the best 

Page 264
Agenda Item 9



outcomes. This will include helping people to actively manage their own health and 
wellbeing within an environment that is focused on the individual. People will enjoy 
improved health and wellbeing because the BLMK community, care organisations and 
environment enables this to happen in a seamless way. The easiest way to describe the 
impact of adopting a more collaborative system-wide approach is to consider a person’s 
experience today with what that might look like in the future if we are to realise our 
ambitions. 

Local case study: How working at ‘place’ level could improve patient access to services and 
help people to stay well at home for longer

George is 90 years old and is living independently in his own home. His daughter is worried 
he is becoming more frail, sleeps a lot, and is forgetting things more frequently. She 
telephones his GP practice which has a multidisciplinary team consisting of a range of health 
and social care professionals and they make arrangements for his GP to visit him. 

During the visit, the GP identifies a number of actions that can be progressed as part of a 
centrally coordinated personal care package. This includes a medication review by the 
pharmacist who ensures both George and his daughter understand what they are for and 
how to take them; blood tests and a referral to the memory assessment service. 
Arrangements are also made for a social care worker to meet with George and his daughter 
to agree extra support, as well as ongoing assessment and support from the community 
matron to get his health as good as it can be. 

This integrated approach across health and social care means that George has the support 
he needs at home and is less likely to end up in hospital because his conditions are being 
proactively managed: 

Local case study: How can a more joined up approach managed at locality level improve 
care for patients?

Let’s consider Mrs Jones’ story. She is 77 years old, lives at home alone (following the death 
of her husband a few years ago) and is generally well. Following a fall, she is admitted to 
hospital and diagnosed with a simple fracture to her lower leg, dehydration and possible 
early dementia.  While in hospital, Mrs Jones becomes confused, struggles with getting 
around and develops a urinary tract infection, which means she ends up spending almost 
two weeks in hospital. She is keen to return home as soon as possible and arrangements are 
made to assess her need for home support. However, Mrs Jones son, who lives and works in 
London, is worried that his mother shouldn’t remain at home alone and requests 
information from the social care team on local care homes.  Whilst waiting to be discharged 
from hospital, Mrs Jones is convinced by her doctors, son and daughter who is living abroad, 
that the safest place for her to be is a nursing home, so she reluctantly agrees. A place is 
found for her in North London, near to her son, but she never really adapts to life in a care 
home. Without the familiarity of her own surroundings and routines, she becomes lonely 

Page 265
Agenda Item 9



and depressed. Gradually her health deteriorates and 18 months after the initial fall, she 
passes away in her sleep.

Throughout, Mrs Jones has many people making decisions about her health and wellbeing 
and the care she receives. From the initial assessment by paramedics,  to the A&E/ ward 
consultants and doctors/ medical team at Lister Hospital (she moves wards three times), the 
hospital social work team, physiotherapist, Central Beds Council rehabilitation team, 
Occupational therapists (one to assess home equipment requirements and one to assess her 
need for home adaptations), her family and eventually the nursing home manager. 

What would be different if there was a more integrated approach to Mrs Jones health and 
social care?

Following her fall, Mrs Jones would be assessed through the ambulance call centre and her 
case would be passed to the Integrated Health and Care Hub. A clinical nurse lead would be 
assigned to liaise with her family and all other health and care workers regarding her care 
and treatment eg. fracture clinic technicians, rehabilitation and therapy team, GP, 
community assessment officers and physiotherapist. Working with a local charity they 
establish a Care at Home team that can support Mrs Jones rehabilitation at home and she is 
able to return home, fully supported, in 3 days.  10 years later, Mrs Jones is still at home and 
considering a move into Extra Care.

What are the benefits?

By evolving the way we plan, buy and deliver health and social care services and work in 
partnership across the entire BLMK footprint, there are many opportunities for 
improvement and some real benefits that can be achieved. This includes:

 A more joined up service across health and social care and between community and 
hospital settings, with the individual’s health and wellbeing at the core

 Better value for money, increasing the proportion of funding spent on front-line 
services

 Establishing a common approach, shared ‘rules’ and drivers (including financial) and 
improving information sharing to provide better patient experience and outcomes

 A real focus on prevention and wellness rather than just on treatment 
 Re-aligning the system and the way we work to ensure that people get the right care in 

the right place, first time
 More sustainable approach to delivering quality healthcare services within our means

What happens next?

As part of the development of the programme we would need to identify, review and 
mitigate any risks associated with implementing this approach. Following notification of 
BLMK’s ACS status, work will now progress to establish a work programme for designing and 
developing a framework for strategic commissioning.  

Page 266
Agenda Item 9



May 2017 June 2017 2017-2018 2018-19
Lead ACS EoI 
submitted

Lead ACS 
status 
confirmed

Design/ development
of BLMK collaborative 
health and wellbeing 
system model

Formal system realignment agreed 
and will go ‘live’
(System control total and 
performance agreements in place)

Page 267
Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Date of Meeting 29 November 2017

WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18

Responsible Officer: Richard Carr, Chief Executive
Email: richard.carr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

Public 

Purpose of this report 

1. To present an updated work programme of items for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for 2017/18.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Health and Wellbeing Board  is asked to:

1. consider and approve the work programme attached, subject 
to any further amendments it may wish to make.

2. Health and Wellbeing Boards are a requirement under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012.  The Board brings together key local 
commissioners for health, social care and public health. It provides 
strategic leadership and will promote integration across health and 
adult social care, children’s services, safeguarding and the wider local 
authority to secure high quality and equitable health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the population of Central Bedfordshire.

3. The work programme is designed to ensure the Health and Wellbeing 
Board is able to deliver its statutory responsibilities and key projects 
that have been identified as priorities by the Board.

Work Programme

4. Attached at Appendix A is the currently drafted work programme for the 
Board for 2017/18.

5. The work programme ensures that the Health and Wellbeing Board 
remains focused on key priority areas and activities to deliver improved 
outcomes for the people of Central Bedfordshire.

Page 269
Agenda Item 10

mailto:richard.carr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


Governance and Delivery Implications

6. The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible for the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.   The work programme contributes to the delivery 
of priorities of the strategy and includes key strategies of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

Equalities Implications

7. The PSED requires public bodies to consider all individuals when 
carrying out their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering 
services and in relation to their own employees.  It requires public 
bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations between in respect of nine protected 
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation.

Conclusion and next Steps

8. The Board is now requested to consider the work programme attached 
and amend or add to it as necessary. This will allow officers to plan 
accordingly but will not preclude further items being added during the 
course of the year if Members so wish and capacity exists.

Appendices

9. Appendix A – Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme

Background Papers

10. None.

Page 270
Agenda Item 10



Health and Wellbeing Board

Work Programme 2017/18

Issue for Decision Description Indicative Meeting Date Lead Director and contact officer(s)

Children and Young People’s Plan
To approve the Children and Young People's Plan 2017 - 

2019.
24 January 2018

Sue Harrison, Director of Children's Services, CBC                                         

Contact Officer:  Amanda Coleman, Partnerships and Performance Officer

Health and Wellbeing Scorecard

To receive the latest performance monitoring of the 

progress in delivering the priorities in the Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy

24 January 2018
Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                        

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report - 

2016/2017

To receive the annual report from the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board.
24 January 2018

Sue Harrison, Director of Children Services, CBC                                  

Contact Officer:  Phillipa Scott, Strategic Safeguarding Partnership Manager, 

CBC

Refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
To receive an update on the refresh of the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy.
24 January 2018

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                         

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Health and Wellbeing Scorecard

To receive the latest performance monitoring of the 

progress in delivering the priorities in the Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy

21 March 2018
Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                        

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Drugs and Alcohol and Mental Health Services
To receive an update on how the services are working 

together.
21 March 2018

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                               

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Improving Outcomes for Frail Older People
To receive an update on the outcomes for frail older 

people.
21 March 2018

Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing, CBC Contact 

Officer:  Patricia Coker, Head of Partnership and Performance, CBC

Reducing Excess Weight/Diabetes
To receive an update on reducing excess weight and 

diabetes.
21 March 2018

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                        

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

16/11/17

P
age 271

A
genda Item

 10



Health and Wellbeing Board

Work Programme 2017/18

Issue for Decision Description Indicative Meeting Date Lead Director and contact officer(s)

Enabling People to Stay Healthier Longer
To receive a report on premature mortality for 

cardiovascular disease.

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                        

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC)
To invite a representative from the LPC to give a 

presentation.

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                        

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

East of England Ambulance Service in Bedfordshire

To receive an update on the discussions between the 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and the 

EEAST.

Sarah Thompson, Chief Accountable Officer, BCCG      

Director of Public Health's Annual report

To consider the actions to deliver the improvements 

identified within the Director of Public Health's Annual 

report.

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                       

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Mental Health Street Triage – 6 month evaluation. 

To present the 6 month results of the new way of dealing 

with 999 calls where the primary concern is a mental 

health crisis.

Sarah Thompson, Chief Accountable Officer, BCCG                                   

Contact Officer: Claire Olliffe, Project Coordinate, Mental Health, Learning 

Disabilities, Childrens Services, BCCG

Bedfordshire and Luton Suicide Prevention, Draft Plan

Steering Group has been established, and we’d like to 

present the draft plan. Purpose is to gain buy in to the 7 

action areas that have been identified. Again involves 

working with a very wide range of organisations, and is 

gathering a lot of attention.

Sarah Thompson, Chief Accountable Officer, BCCG                                    

Contact Officer: Claire Olliffe, Project Coordinate, Mental Health, Learning 

Disabilities, Childrens Services, BCCG

Welfare Reform To receive an update on the impact of welfare reform.
Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing, CBC               

Contact Officer:  Sue Tyler, Head of Early Intervention/Prevention, CBC

Bedfordshire Wellbeing Services
To receive data performance on the Bedfordshire 

Wellbeing Services
Michelle Bradley, ELFT

Drug and Alcohol Service
To provide an update on Drug and Alcohol Service in 

Central Bedfordshire.

Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health, CBC                                                       

Contact Officer:  Celia Shohet, AD Public Health, CBC

Mental Health Services
To receive an update on Mental Health Services in 

Central Bedfordshire.

Sarah Thompson, Chief Accountable Officer, BCCG                                   

Contact Officer: Claire Olliffe, Project Coordinate, Mental Health, Learning 

Disabilities, Childrens Services, BCCG

Primary Care Service Development
To provide a progress update on Primary Care Service 

Development.

Sarah Thompson, Chief Accountable Officer, BCCG                                   

Contact Officer: 

To be Timetabled

16/11/17

P
age 272

A
genda Item

 10


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 Ensuring Good Mental Health and Wellbeing at Every Age - Children and Young People are Emotionally Resilient
	7. Appendix 1
	New Bookmark
	New Bookmark

	7. Appendix 2
	7. Appendix 2A FIM Engagement strategy Bedfordshire and Luton 2
	7. Appendix 2C (FIM)
	7. Appendix 2C (PMH Action Plan)
	7. Appendix 2C (Schools and Early Intervention)
	7. Appendix 2C (Draft EIP)
	7. Appendix 2C (CEDS LTP Plan)
	7. appendix 2D workforce strategy

	8 Integration and Better Care Fund
	8. Appendix 1 Central Bedfordshire Integration and BCF Narrative Plan 2017-19
	8. Appendix 1a BOSCARD Matrix Prevention and Early Intervention 201719
	8. Appendix 1b Delivering Integrated and Improved Outcomes through Out of Hospital Services
	8. Appendix 1c Integrated Health and Care Hubs BOSCARD
	8. Appendix 1d Enhanced Care in Care Home BOSCARD
	8. Appendix 1e High Impact Change Model BOSCARD
	8. Appendix 2A
	8.Appendix 2B
	Appendix 3 Strategic Fit
	Appendix 4 Draft ToR Central Bedfordshire Transformation Board
	Appendix 5 Proposed Governance Framework

	9 Moving Forward as an Accelerated Accountable Care System
	9. Appendix 1 August 17 monthly briefing
	9. Appendix 2 Sept 15 BLMK monthly briefing
	9. Appendix 3 Briefing on ACS

	10 Work Programme 2017/2018
	10. HWB Work Programme 2017-18


